
Lloyd White
Head of Democratic Services
London Borough of Hillingdon,
Phase II, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW

Putting our residents first

Pensions 
Committee
Date: WEDNESDAY, 30 

OCTOBER 2019

Time: 5.00 PM

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 3 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE

Meeting 
Details:

Members of the Public and 
Media are welcome to attend. 

To Members of the Committee:

Martin Goddard (Chairman)
Philip Corthorne (Vice-Chairman)
Teji Barnes
Tony Eginton
John Morse 

Published: Tuesday, 22 October 2019

This agenda is available online at:
www.hillingdon.gov.uk or use a smart 
phone camera and scan the code below:

Contact: Liz Penny
Tel: 01895 250636
Email: epenny@hillingdon.gov.uk

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Useful information for 
residents and visitors

Travel and parking

Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services. Please enter from the 
Council’s main reception where you will be 
directed to the Committee Room. 

Accessibility

For accessibility option regarding this agenda 
please contact Democratic Services.  For those 
hard of hearing an Induction Loop System is 
available for use in the various meeting rooms. 

Attending, reporting and filming of meetings

For the public part of this meeting, residents and the media are welcomed to attend, and if 
they wish, report on it, broadcast, record or film proceedings as long as it does not disrupt 
proceedings. It is recommended to give advance notice to ensure any particular 
requirements can be met. The Council will provide a seating area for residents/public, an 
area for the media and high speed WiFi access to all attending. The officer shown on the 
front of this agenda should be contacted for further information and will be available at the 
meeting to assist if required. Kindly ensure all mobile or similar devices on silent mode.

Please note that the Council may also record or film this meeting and publish this online.

Emergency procedures

If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest 
FIRE EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre forecourt. Lifts must not be used unless 
instructed by a Fire Marshal or Security Officer.

In the event of a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued via the tannoy, a Fire 
Marshal or a Security Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, should make their 
way to the signed refuge locations.



Agenda
CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Declarations of Interest in matters coming before this meeting

3 Minutes of the meeting dated 17 July 2019 1 - 8

4 To confirm that items marked Part I will be considered in public and 
those marked Part II will be considered in private

PART I - Members, Public and Press

5 Presentation from London CIV

6 2019 Actuarial Valuation and Funding Strategy Statement 9 - 12

7 Pension Fund Annual Report 13 - 108

8 Investment Strategy and Fund Manager Performance Part I 109 - 132

9 Administration Report 133 - 148

10 Risk Register Report 149 - 156

11 Draft Work Programme 157 - 158

PART II - Members Only

12 2019 Actuarial Valuation and Funding Strategy Statement Part II 159 - 218

13 Investment Strategy and Fund Manager Performance Part II 219 - 594





Minutes

PENSIONS COMMITTEE

17 July 2019

Meeting held at Committee Room 6 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge

Committee Members Present: 
Councillors Martin Goddard (Chairman)
Philip Corthorne (Vice-Chairman)
Teji Barnes
Tony Eginton
John Morse (Labour Lead)

LBH Officers Present: 
Tunde Adekoya, Pension Fund Accountant
Sian Kunert, Head of Pensions, Treasury and Statutory Accounts
James Lake, Lead Corporate Accountant
Liz Penny, Democratic Services Officer
Paul Whaymand, Corporate Director of Finance

Also Present:
Craig Alexander, Hymans Robertson
Adrian Balmer, Ernst & Young 
Roger Hackett, Pensions Board Member
Zak Muneer, Pensions Board Member
Tony Noakes, Pensions Board Member
Clare Scott, Independent Investment Advisor
Andrew Singh, KPMG Representative

3.    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  (Agenda Item 1)

Apologies were received from Hayley Seabrook, Pensions Board Member.

4.    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN MATTERS COMING BEFORE THIS MEETING  
(Agenda Item 2)

Councillor Philip Corthorne declared a Non-Pecuniary interest in all agenda items 
because he was a deferred member of the Local Government Pension Scheme. He 
remained in the room during discussion of the items. 

Councillor Teji Barnes declared a Non-Pecuniary interest in all agenda items because 
she was a deferred member of the Local Government Pension Scheme. She remained 
in the room during discussion of the items.

Councillor Tony Eginton declared a Non-Pecuniary interest in all agenda items as he 
was a retired member of the Local Government Pension Scheme. He remained in the 
room during discussion of the items. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



5.    MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS DATED 20 MARCH 2019 AND 9 MAY 2019  (Agenda 
Item 3)

RESOLVED That: the minutes of the meetings dated 20 March 2019 and 9 May 
2019 be agreed as an accurate record.

Roger Hackett, Pensions Board Member, requested an update regarding the breach 
reported within the Administration Report item in the minutes of the meeting dated 9 
May 2019. Members were informed that letters were to be sent out to all those who 
could potentially have been affected by said breach. No comments had been received 
from the regulator. 

Councillor Goddard extended his thanks to Councillor Corthorne for his invaluable 
contribution to the Pensions Committee which he had chaired for 21 years. Councillor 
Corthorne welcomed Councillor Goddard to his new role. 

6.    TO CONFIRM THAT ITEMS MARKED PART I WILL BE CONSIDERED IN PUBLIC 
AND THOSE MARKED PART II WILL BE CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE  (Agenda Item 
4)

It was confirmed that the items marked Part I (items 1 -13) would be considered in 
public and the item marked Part II (item 14) would be considered in private. 

7.    EXTERNAL AUDIT OF THE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS  (Agenda Item 5)

The Draft Pension Fund Accounts for 2018/19 as taken from the Council's financial 
statements were attached to the agenda for Committee review, prior to the Council's 
financial statements sign off at the forthcoming Audit Committee. The draft report 
provided to Members in the pack detailed the work of the External Auditor - EY - on the 
audit of the 2018/19 Pensions Fund Accounts. The audit was due to be completed by 
the end of July deadline. It was reported that, since the report had been prepared, an 
adjustment of £7m had been identified; this was based on information that had not 
been available at the time. Outstanding matters were listed in Appendix B of the report 
on page 45 of the agenda pack. Members were informed that all outstanding matters 
had now been completed with the exception of the annual report and accounts which 
had a later statutory deadline.  

In response to questions from the Committee, it was confirmed that the £7m 
adjustment was positive rather than negative. The accounts would be adjusted by a 
maximum of £7m to reflect this increase in asset value.  Whilst it was confirmed that 
the level of investment in level 3 assets was consistent year on year; it was 
acknowledged that the risk profile could potentially increase - the situation would be 
monitored. 

Members suggested that liquidity be added to the register as an additional risk factor. 
It was noted that, compared with the previous year's figures, the latest accounts 
indicated a cash neutral position. Councillors requested further clarification regarding 
prospects for the future and were advised that it was likely that there would be a slight 
negative position in future years in terms of cash flow. It was noted that, following the 
2016 valuation, Hillingdon Council had not seen an increase in contribution rates for 
the first two years but an increase had been applied in 2019/20 so income would be 
higher. 

Councillors commented that, given the current value of liabilities (1.695m), it seemed 
the Pensions Fund deficit position had increased. The Hymans Robertson 

Page 2



representative advised Members that the March 2016 and March 2019 figures were not 
dissimilar. Liabilities had grown but assets had grown strongly too. The deficit would 
have increased slightly but funding levels were broadly similar. The long term outlook 
was stable. 

RESOLVED That Pensions Committee:

1. noted EY's findings on the audit of the Pension Fund accounts for 2018/19.

8.    INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND FUND MANAGER PERFORMANCE PART I  
(Agenda Item 6)

This item was preceded by a training item from Hymans on The Trienniel Valuation. 
Key points highlighted included:

Pensions Landscape

 The Committee was informed that the LGPS (of which Hillingdon was a 
member) was a good scheme which differed from other public sector schemes 
as it was funded - investments helped to pay for the benefits;

 Investment returns, Member contributions and Employer contributions were paid 
into the Hillingdon Pension Fund and benefits to members and dependants were 
drawn from it. The Fund had to meet balance of cost over the longer term;

 The key decision was the balance between contributions and investment 
returns.

The Valuation

 An Actuarial valuation was required to comply with legislation and as part of a 
continual 'health check' on fund solvency - it was essential to ensure members 
benefits were paid;

 A valuation was completed for each individual member of the Pension Fund - 
this was a complex piece of work;

 Future cashflows were projected for every member to build up the picture for the 
whole fund. The valuation was based on financial and demographic 
assumptions - amounts paid and probability of payment;

 Postcode was a key indicator of longevity - there was no such thing as a 'typical' 
member;

Employer Funding Strategies

 A three-step approach was taken in terms of the Funding Strategy - this 
approach determined the parameters for the risk-based method;

 The end result was a balance between costs and returns.

The Road Ahead

 A lot of work was already underway and the final sign off would be in March 

Page 3



2020;

 Post 2020, LGPS funding valuations would be brought in line with other public 
sector cost sharing valuations and would be quadrennial - conducted every four 
years - rather than every three years. The next valuation would be due in 2024 
but it was possible that an interim valuation would be undertaken in 2022;

 The outlook for 2019 was similar to 2016 - investment was strong.

In response to questions from the Committee, it was confirmed that Hymans 
Robertson's reporting was typically more prudent than that of some other actuaries. 
The Government's rationale for opting to extend the period of valuation from three to 
four years was unclear. It was hoped that the interim valuations would be helpful. 
Members were advised that, if an employer were to become insolvent, the deficit would 
be low and would be shared between the other employers in the scheme. Members 
were reassured that such an occurrence was a rarity. 

Clare Scott introduced herself to the Committee as the new Independent Investment 
Advisor. Sian Kunert, Head of Pensions, Treasury and Statutory Accounts,  
commented that the fund had performed quite well - the total size of the fund was 
£1,062m at 31 March 2019 which was an increase of £51m from £1,011m at the end of 
the previous quarter. There was an overall investment return over the quarter of 5.10%, 
which was - 0.54% less than the benchmark. The estimated funding position at 31 
March 2019 was 74.06% (75% as at 31 December 2018).  

Members were informed that the fund had started to disinvest from the Ruffer portfolio. 
However, there was still some investment in Ruffer which was performing quite well 
currently. It was expected that the London CIV Infrastructure Fund would receive FCA 
approval by October 2019.

The Committee was advised that oversight of monitoring managers was important. 
Greater visibility and access to information was desirable from the LCIV.

With regards to UBS Equity, Members were informed that there were a number of staff 
changes at present but advisors would watch closely. It was confirmed that property 
was expensive to transact. It was suggested that UBS be put on an advisory mandate 
whereby they would have to approach the Fund for a decision rather than trading 
independently to aid reduced transaction costs with pooling on the horizon. 

Councillors commented that the Fund appeared to be heavily weighted to passive 
investment at present. Members enquired whether, in view of the current climate of 
political uncertainty, more active investment and contingency plans should be 
considered. It was confirmed that the Fund was largely invested globally therefore 
matters such as Brexit did not present a significant risk. Members were advised that 
larger companies were holding up well and it was difficult to find active managers who 
consistently outperformed. It was reported that the Fund had some active management 
in infrastructure and private credit. The preference was to have limited active 
management as it required more managing and more expense; passive fees were 
lower. 

RESOLVED That, following consideration of the Part II papers, Pensions 
Committee:

1. Considered and discussed issues raised in the training item; 
2. Discussed the Fund performance update and agreed any required 

Page 4



decisions in respect of mandates or Fund Managers;
3. Delegated the implementation of any decisions to the Officer and Advisor - 

Investment Strategy Group;
4. Agreed to suspend the UBS Property Fund performance target and change 

to an advisory mandate. 

9.    RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT AND ESG  (Agenda Item 7)

Sian Kunert presented the report which outlined the voting and engagement of ESG 
issues and provided an overview of climate change in the quarter ending 31 March 
2019. Members were informed that ESG, in particular climate change, had continued to 
increase in importance in policy and public interest. The UK government had declared 
a climate emergency in May 2019 and was committed to net zero emissions by 2050. 
In October 2018 the Pensions Committee had recognised climate change as a 
significant risk and requested that it be added to the risk register. 

It was noted that Hillingdon did not currently have its own responsible investment policy 
which was a cause for concern. It was agreed that a specialised training workshop (or 
series of workshops) on responsible investment be held outside of the Pensions 
Committee meetings - to be attended by a sub-set of the Committee. Any decisions or 
recommendations would be brought to the main Pensions Committee for approval. 

RESOLVED That: 

1. A specialised training workshop (or series of workshops) to discuss 
responsible investment be held outside of the Pensions Committee 
meetings - to be attended by a sub-set of the Committee;

2. Pensions Committee note the content of the report. 

10.    ADMINISTRATION REPORT  (Agenda Item 8)

Sian Kunert introduced the report which provided an update of the administration of the 
London Borough of Hillingdon Fund of the LGPS, both in relation to Surrey County 
Council (SCC) and internally at Hillingdon. 

Members were informed that the sign up to my-pension-online was currently 16%; it 
was envisaged that this would increase in August when annual benefit statements were 
dispatched. 

It was confirmed that Data Cleansing was taking place across four strands - the 
finalised data would be passed to Hymans at the end of July. 

The Committee was advised that KPIs were becoming more stable and positive; 
annual benefits statements were on track. 

In terms of the Internal Disputes Resolution Policy, it was confirmed that all authorities 
were required to have a two stage policy to hear appeals against decisions made in 
respect of benefits. It was requested that the Pensions Committee agree to change the 
Hillingdon policy to name the Head of Pensions, Treasury and Statutory Accounts as 
the nominated officer in all Stage 1 appeals and the Corporate Director of Finance or 
Head of HR as the appointed Officer for Stage 2 appeals. 

RESOLVED That Pensions Committee:

Page 5



1. Agreed the proposed changes to the Internal Disputes Resolution Policy 
as detailed in the Administration Report. 

11.    REGULATORY REPORT  (Agenda Item 9)

Committee Members were informed that this was a new report and was for information 
purposes only. 

RESOLVED That: Pensions Committee noted the report.

12.    TRAINING REPORT AND POLICY  (Agenda Item 10)

The report provided an update on the training and development of Pensions Committee 
members in line with the Training Policy approved in December 2015. It was confirmed 
that there was a requirement to review the Policy every three years. In respect of the 
completion of their training needs analysis, Councillors requested that links to relevant 
information be provided for the purposes of clarity. 

RESOLVED That Pensions Committee:

1. Approved the revised Training Policy;
2. Agreed priority training topics for the work plan;
3. Considered the addition of a separate training item on EGS issues prior to 

the October Committee.

13.    RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY  (Agenda Item 11)

The Risk Management Policy for the Pension Fund had been approved on 15 June 
2016. The Policy had now been revised and reviewed by Pensions Board in advance 
approval in April 2019. The changes to the Policy were minor. 

RESOLVED That Pensions Committee:

1. Approved the revised Risk Management Policy.

14.    RISK REGISTER REPORT  (Agenda Item 12)

The report aimed to identify to the Pensions Committee the main risks to the Pensions 
Fund to enable them to monitor and review going forward. There were no risks rated 
Red. 

Members were informed that there were currently 11 risks being reported on. Risk 
PEN04 on pay and price inflation had been amended to better define the risk as 
relating to the risk to employers in relation to contribution rates. A new risk PEN05 had 
been added for the risk of inflation, which was the Fund's greatest investment risk. An 
additional new risk PEN11 had been added to identify the risk of liquidity and cash flow 
as pensions funds were increasingly becoming cash flow negative on member 
activities. 

In relation to risk PEN09, Councillors were advised that the Pensions Board had an 
interest in the matter of cyber security. This topic would be considered at the next 
meeting of the Board in September at which the Council's IT department would be 
asked to present to Board Members as to what would happen in case of a breach. 

RESOLVED That Pensions Committee:
Page 6



1. Considered the Risk Register in terms of the approach, the specific risks 
identified and the measures being taken to mitigate those current risks. 

15.    DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME  (Agenda Item 13)

This report was to enable the Pensions Committee to review planned meeting dates 
and forward plans. 

RESOLVED That the Committee:

1. Confirmed the dates for Pensions Committee meetings, and;
2. Made suggestions for future agenda items, working practices and / or 

reviews.

16.    INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND FUND MANAGER PERFORMANCE PART II  
(Agenda Item 14)

This item was discussed as a Part II item without the press or public present as the 
information under discussion contained confidential or exempt information as defined 
by law in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985.  This was because it 
discussed ‘information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)’ (paragraph 3 of the schedule 
to the Act).

The Committee received confidential information on the current market update which 
covered details on the current market climate and performance of various investment 
vehicles and updates on Managers' reports

RESOLVED: That the information be noted, together with the performance of 
Fund Managers.

The meeting, which commenced at 5.00 pm, closed at 6.45 pm.

These are the minutes of the above meeting.  For more information on any of the 
resolutions please contact Liz Penny on 01895 250185.  Circulation of these minutes is 
to Councillors, Officers, the Press and Members of the Public.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



2019 ACTUARIAL VALUATION and FUNDING STRATEGY 
STATEMENT                                                                PART I 

Committee Pensions Committee

Officer Reporting Sian Kunert, Finance

Papers with this report

HEADLINES

The draft triennial valuation whole fund results have completed and this item will be led 
with a presentation from Hymans, the fund actuary, on the assumptions, results and 
funding position. 

In addition the Fund is required under the Local Government Pension Scheme regulations 
to maintain and publish a Funding Strategy Statement (FSS).  The purpose of the FSS is:

 to establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will identify how 
employers’ pension liabilities are best met going forward;

 to support the regulatory framework to maintain as nearly constant employer 
contribution rates as possible; and  

 to take a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities.

This report provides some background to the development of this FSS and seeks approval 
from Pension Committee to consult on the contents with Fund employers.

The draft FSS and the Initial Result report are provided in the Part II papers.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Pensions Committee :

1. Agree the draft Funding Strategy Statement for consultation with scheme 
employers

2. Note the whole fund triennial valuation results
3. Approve the assumptions used in the triennial valuation

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Triennial Valuation 

The triennial revaluation of the pension fund to value the fund as at 31 March 2019 is 
almost complete.   Membership, Cash flow and Investment data has been submitted to the 
Fund Actuary to enable completion of the valuation. In addition, the fund commissioned 
three papers to enhance the assumption setting specific to the Hillingdon Fund. The Fund 
Actuary has produced initial whole fund results. The initial fund results will be presented as 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



part of this item. Hyman’s will also participate in an employer forum during November, to 
enable scheme employers to ask questions on their individual results.  

The initial results show that the funding level has significantly improved from 75% at 31 
March 2016 to 87% at 31 March 2019. The funding level only provides a high level 
snapshot at a point in time and has limitations as set out in the Hymans paper. The initial 
results enable the fund to set its funding strategy and in turn set contribution rates for all 
employers. It is important to note the reported funding level does not directly drive 
contribution rates for employers, a funding plan is set which considers that the assets and 
liabilities will evolve over time in different economic situations.

  
Funding Strategy Statement (FSS)

The draft FSS has been prepared by the Administering Authority of the London Borough of 
Hillingdon Pension Fund in collaboration with the Fund's actuary, Hymans Robertson LLP.

The Fund needs a FSS as employees’ benefits are guaranteed by the LGPS Regulations, 
and do not change with market values or employer contributions. Investment returns help 
pay for some of the benefits, although there is volatility in investment returns.  Employees’ 
contributions are fixed within the Regulations, at a level which covers only part of the cost 
of the benefits.   Therefore, employers need to pay the balance of the cost of delivering the 
benefits to members and their dependants.  

The FSS focuses on how employer liabilities are measured, the pace at which these 
liabilities are funded, and how employers or pools of employers pay for their own liabilities.  
This statement sets out how the Administering Authority has balanced the conflicting aims 
of:

 prudence in the funding basis
 affordability and stability of employers contributions, and
 transparency of processes. 

There are also regulatory requirements for an FSS, which are detailed of the FSS.

The FSS is a summary of the Fund’s approach to funding its liabilities, and this includes 
reference to the Fund’s other policies; it is not an exhaustive statement of policy on all 
issues.  The FSS forms part of a framework which includes:

 the LGPS Regulations;
 the Rates and Adjustments Certificate (confirming employer contribution rates for 

the next three years) which can be found in an appendix to the formal valuation 
report;

 actuarial factors for valuing individual transfers, early retirement costs and the costs 
of buying added service; and

 the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement.

The FSS sets out the objectives of the Fund’s funding strategy, such as: 

 to ensure the long-term solvency of the Fund, using a prudent long term view.  This 
will ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet all members’/dependants’ 
benefits as they fall due for payment;

 to ensure that employer contribution rates are reasonably stable where appropriate;

Page 10



 to minimise the long-term cash contributions which employers need to pay to the 
Fund, by recognising the link between assets and liabilities and adopting an 
investment strategy which balances risk and return (NB this will also minimise the 
costs to be borne by Council Tax payers);

 to reflect the different characteristics of different employers in determining 
contribution rates.  This involves the Fund having a clear and transparent funding 
strategy to demonstrate how each employer can best meet its own liabilities over 
future years; and

 to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and ultimately to 
the Council Tax payer from an employer defaulting on its pension obligations.

As a result of the McCloud ruling there is an expectation that the benefits to members will 
change increasing liabilities, however the specifics are unknown at this time. The actuary 
has taken this into account in setting the FSS by increasing the likelihood of achieving the 
funding target when setting contribution rates. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



PENSION FUND ANNUAL REPORT

Committee Pensions Committee

Officer Reporting Babatunde Adekoya, Finance
Sian Kunert, Finance

Papers with this report Pension Fund Annual Report 2018/19

HEADLINES

The Draft Pension Fund Annual Report for 2018/19 is attached to this report for Committee 
approval; which includes the Pension Fund Accounts which were approved in July as part 
of the statutory accounts process.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Pensions Committee

1. Approve the Fund Annual Report for publication, subject to external audit 
sign off on consistency.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

The Pension Fund is required to produce an Annual Report and publish by 1 December 
each year.  The annual report includes the Pension Fund annual accounts which were 
approved at Pensions Committee in July alongside the report from the external auditor EY. 

In 2019 CIPFA published guidance “preparing the annual report” to assist funds in 
producing the annual report in line with the current regulatory framework. The guidance 
has been adopted by MHCLG as statutory guidance, so the fund has made major changes 
to the report from prior years, to comply with the new disclosure requirements. 

The report is awaiting an external audit report to confirm that it is consistent with the 
audited annual accounts. The draft report for 2018/19, attached, contains information on 
the Fund's activities over the last year. The report has been brought to Committee for 
consideration and approval to publish prior to the December statutory deadline, subject to 
audit sign off on consistency.

For the purposes of this report the policies for inclusion in the Annual report which were 
approved at previous Pensions Committees have been stripped out. The final version 
published on the Pension Fund website will include these policies in full. The policies are 
published individually at https://archive.hillingdon.gov.uk/article/6492/Pension-fund

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The financial implications are contained within the body of the report

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The legal implications are mentioned within the report.

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



London Borough of Hillingdon 
Pension Fund Annual Report 
2018/19

Page 15



CONTENTS 

Section Page 
Chairman’s Foreword 3 
Introduction To The Fund 5 
A: Overall Fund Management 7 
B: Financial Performance 15 
C: Investment Policy and Performance Report 18 
D. Scheme Administration 29 
E. Report Of The Fund Actuary 36 
F: Governance 39 
G: Fund Account, Net Asset Statement and Notes 46 
H. Asset Pools  72 
I: Pensions Administration Strategy 79 
J: Funding Strategy Statement 102 
K: Investment Strategy Statement 142 
L: Communications Policy 151 
M: External Audit Opinion 162 
Glossary 163
Appendix 1 – Governance Policy 169 
Appendix 1 – Stewardship Code 186 

2Page 16



CHAIRMAN’S FOREWORD 

By the end of 2018/19 the Fund had grown to just under £1,067 million, up from 
£1,012 million in 2017/18. The fund value increased by 5.02% compared to the 
benchmark of 6.05%, but above the long-term investment returns required for the 
funding strategy.  

Membership of the scheme also continued to increase over the previous year in all 
membership categories. The Fund is borderline cash neutral on member 
transactions; as the scheme matures, with new contributions equivalent to monies 
paid out in benefits. As a result, cash flow is an ongoing discussion point for the 
Committee. The future trend will see cash flow from members becoming consistently 
negative, however the fund has income generating asset classes that will support the 
fund when this becomes the norm in activity. 

Monitoring the Fund's specific investments and its strategy has kept the Committee 
busy over the last 12 months, particularly looking at further opportunities to invest via 
the London Collective Investment Vehicle (LCIV) and keeping abreast of governance 
issues within the pool to ensure assets are securely managed on the fund’s behalf. 
As of 31 March 2019, 56% of the Fund's assets were held with the LCIV compared 
to 52% at the end of 2017/18. Hillingdon Pension Fund has actively participated in 
pooling of the fund assets and is keen to support the development of more sub-fund 
opportunities. It intends to increase its investment within the pool, as suitable 
offerings open which meet the strategic investment strategy of the Fund.  

During the financial year, we have seen further work carried out by the Pension’s 
Board who have been able to focus on key governance issues as well as update and 
create policy documentation. The board continues to ensure compliance with the 
Pension Regulator's code of practice with quarterly in-depth analysis into sections of 
the code. Both the Pensions Committee and Pensions Board have taken a strong 
interest in improving knowledge and skills and have an active training programme, 
training log and needs analysis for all members.  

Further improvements have been seen with the administration of the fund, with a 
solid data score achieved in 2018 and data improvement projects in place to improve 
the score for 2019. KPI’s for the Orbis administration team at Surrey County Council 
have also improved now the function has become more embedded, and Pensions 
Committee and Board review the administration functions quarterly to ensure this 
continues to improve and be well managed.  

The Committee and Fund have many challenges coming up, including transition 
further towards a fully pooled position over the longer-term, whilst also reducing 
overall fees. In addition, the fund has recognised that ESG issues are increasing 
challenging and the Fund needs to ensure it has robust processes in place so that it 
can hold fund managers to account, and ensure investments are in line with Fund 
policies. In 2018/19 the Fund recognised climate change as a financial risk and 

3Page 17



added this to the risk register. In addition cyber security was also included as a new 
risk.  

Other challenges will arise out of the 2019 triennial valuation process as well as 
known and unknown political and economic challenges - including changing 
worldviews and priorities. 

Cllr Philip Corthorne 
Chairman Pensions Committee 2018/19

4Page 18



INTRODUCTION TO THE FUND 

The London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund is part of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) and is governed by statute. The scheme moved to a career 
average revalued earning (CARE) scheme, from a final salary scheme in 2014 as a 
result of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. In 2016/17, the 
regulations surrounding investments were amended with the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016. 

Hillingdon is the Administering Authority for the Fund. Pensions and entitlement to 
benefits are fully protected in law. Membership of the Scheme is open to all 
employees of the Council including school employees with the exception of teachers 
(who have their own pension scheme). Other employers are admitted to the Pension 
Fund and depending on their status; their employees may also be able to participate 
in the LGPS. Employee contributions are determined by central government and are 
between 5.5% and 12.5% of pensionable pay. Employer rates are set by the Fund 
actuary every 3 years following a valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Fund, 
with the next valuation due to take place as at 31 March 2019.  

The conditions of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations set 
out in clear terms the benefits that are payable to Scheme members. The benefits 
are guaranteed for those members and therefore members are not reliant on 
investment performance for their pension benefits. Contributions payable by Scheme 
members are also defined in the regulations. Employing Authorities are required to 
pay contributions into the Scheme in order to meet the cost of funding employee 
benefits and are required to meet any shortfall in funding the pension liabilities of 
Scheme members.  

The Pension Scheme during the financial year 2018/19 was a defined benefit career 
average revalued earnings scheme, which aligns LGPS retirement age with an 
individual’s state pension age. The key benefits of the scheme are outlined below:  

 Pension benefits based on a 1/49th accrual basis for each year of
pensionable service with benefits calculated on the career average pay
revalued annually in line with inflation.

 Pre-2014 benefits guaranteed with a final salary link for any benefits earned
prior to 1 April 2014.

 Option to pay 50% of the contribution rate to accrue 50% of the benefits.
 Option to convert some pension to lump sum on retirement on a 1:12 ratio.
 Life assurance cover 3x member final pay applicable from the day of joining

scheme.
 Pensions for dependents: - spouses, civil partners and eligible co-habiting

partners and eligible children.
 An entitlement to have pension paid early on medical grounds.
 Pensions increase annually in line with the cost of living (CPI).

It should be noted that the foregoing is not an exhaustive list and that certain 
conditions have to be met for an individual to be entitled to the benefits outlined.  The 

5Page 19



foregoing benefit structure came into effect on 1 April 2014 and saw the start of 
significant changes to the public sector pension schemes, with most other schemes 
introducing their changes a year later on 1 April 2015. The previous LGPS 
introduced in 2008 was a defined benefit final salary scheme and was in operation 
until 31 March 2014. It should be recognised that a large number of scheme 
members will have benefits accrued under both schemes and indeed some under 
the pre-2008 scheme. The key benefits under the 2008 scheme are outlined below:  

 A guaranteed pension based on final pay and length of time in the scheme
and an accrual rate of 1/60th per annum.

 Tax-free lump sum on benefit accumulated prior to 1 April 2008 and option to
convert some of the pension into tax-free lump sum on post 1 April 2008
service.

 Life assurance cover 3x member final pay applicable from the day of joining
Scheme.

 Pensions for dependents: - spouses, civil partners and eligible co-habiting
partners and eligible children.

 An entitlement to have pension paid early on medical grounds.
 Pensions increase annually in line with the cost of living (CPI).

Contracting Out Status (with effect from 1 April 2002 until 5 April 2016) 
The LGPS was contracted-out of the State Second Pension Scheme (S2P), up to 5 
April 2016 when contracting-out ceased. This meant that members paid reduced 
National Insurance contributions and they did not earn a pension under S2P. 
Instead, the LGPS must guarantee to pay a pension that in general is as high as the 
pension that would have been earned in the State Earnings Related Pension 
Scheme (SERPS) / S2P. For contracted-out membership between 6 April 1978 and 
5 April 1997, HMRC calculates a Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP), which is the 
minimum pension, which must be paid from the London Borough of Hillingdon 
Pension Fund to the member. For membership after 5 April 1997, the LGPS has 
guaranteed that the benefits it provides will generally be no less favourable than 
those provided under a Reference Scheme prescribed under the Pensions Act 1995. 

Additional Voluntary Contributions 
A facility is available for scheme members to make Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (AVCs). The Pension Fund Committee has appointed Prudential as the 
nominated provider for this purpose. This is run separately to the Hillingdon Pension 
Fund. Further details are available from the Prudential Pensions Connection Team 
on 0800 032 6674. 

Regulations 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and 
Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as amended) 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016  

6Page 20



A: OVERALL FUND MANAGEMENT 

SCHEME MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS 

The London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund ('the Fund') is part of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  The benefits paid out and the regulations 
are set nationally, but the Fund is administered locally. As the Administering 
Authority, the London Borough of Hillingdon has legal responsibility for the effective 
management of the Fund.  The Council delegates this responsibility to the Pensions 
Committee ('the Committee'), which is the formal decision making body for the Fund. 
The Corporate Director of Finance has delegated authority for the day-to-day running 
of the Fund.  The local Pension Board ('the Board') was established in 2015 to assist 
the scheme manager in securing compliance with regulations relating to the 
governance and administration within the requirements set by the Pension 
Regulator. 

Corporate Director of Finance  
Paul Whaymand in his role of Corporate Director of Finance has delegated 
responsibility for the day-to-day running of the Pension Fund.  

Officers Responsible for the Fund 
The Pensions, Treasury and Statutory Accounts team ensures that both the 
Committee and Board receive relevant advice on investment strategy, monitoring of 
the performance of the fund and on administration matters, in addition to undertaking 
the accounting duties of the Fund. 

Sian Kunert   Head of Pensions Treasury and Statutory Accounts 
Tunde Adekoya Pension Fund Accountant 
James Lake  Lead Corporate Accountant 
Seby Carvalho Pensions Technical Officer 

Scheme Administration  
Administration of the scheme was contracted out to Surrey County Council (SCC) to 
provide the pensions administration under delegated authority for the London 
Borough of Hillingdon. SCC maintains pension scheme membership records and 
calculates benefits.  

Email:        myhelpdeskpensions@surreycc.gov.uk 
Telephone: 020 8213 2802 
Address: Pension Services, Surrey County Council, Room 243, County Hall, 
Penrhyn Road, Kingston upon Thames, KT1 2DN 

Fund Custodian and Performance Monitoring 
The Northern Trust Company acts as the global custodian of the Fund's assets. As 
part of its normal procedures Northern Trust holds all assets in safe custody, settles 
trades, collects dividend income, provides data for corporate actions, liaises closely 

7Page 21



with all of the investment managers and reports on all activity on a monthly and 
quarterly basis. Where holdings are in pooled funds, the underlying assets held by 
the relevant funds' custodian are reported to Northern Trust. Regular service reviews 
take place with Northern Trust to ensure continuous monitoring of the Funds 
requirements.  Additionally Northern Trust provide performance analytics, comparing 
the performance of the Fund and individual managers to agreed benchmarks and 
market indices on a monthly, quarterly and annual basis. 

Northern Trust 
50 Bank Street 
Canary Wharf 
LONDON 
E14 5NT 

Fund Actuary 
The Fund's actuary is Hymans Robertson 

Catherine McFadyen FFA 
Hymans Robertson LLP 
20 Waterloo Street 
GLASGOW 
G2 6DB 

Fund Managers 
Day-to-day investment management of the Fund's assets is delegated to specialist 
managers in accordance with the LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016. During 2018/19, the following managers managed the Fund’s 
investments externally:  

Fund Manager Asset Class 
Adam Street Partners Private Equity 
AEW UK     UK Core Property 
JP Morgan Asset Management Multi Asset Credit 
Legal & General Investment Management Listed Equities & Bonds (Passive) - Pooled 
London CIV - Epoch Global Equity Income - Pooled 
London CIV - Ruffer  Absolute Return Fund - Pooled 
LGT Capital Partners Private Equity 
M&G Investments (Direct Investment) Private Credit 
Macquarie Investment Infrastructure 
Permira LLP Direct Lending 
UBS Global Asset Management UK Equities & UK Pooled Property Fund of 

Funds 

Fund Pool and Pool Operator  
The London Borough of Hillingdon is a member of the London CIV Pool. The London 
CIV Pool is run and managed by the London LGPS CIV Ltd, an FCA authorised and 
regulated company. 

8Page 22



Advisors to the Fund 
The Fund's Investment Advisor is KPMG who was appointed July 2014.  They advise 
the Committee on the Fund's strategic asset allocation and assist in the monitoring of 
fund managers.   
 
David O'Hara 
Director 
Investment Advisory 
Tax & Pensions 
KPMG LLP (UK) 
191 West George Street 
GLASGOW 
G2 2LJ 
 
In addition, the Fund had an Independent Advisor for 2018/19 - Scott Jamieson.  
 
The Fund has also appointed AON Hewitt to provide support on governance 
arrangements to the Board. 
 
Aon Hewitt 
25 Marsh Street 
BRISTOL 
BS1 4AQ 
 

Legal Services 
Legal support to the Fund is provided in-house by the Council. The Council's 
Borough Solicitor is Raj Alagh. 
 

Auditor 
The Fund's external auditor, appointed by the Public Sector Audit Appointments 
(PSAA), is Ernst & Young. 
 
Ernst & Young LLP 
Wessex House 
19 Threefield lane 
SOUTHAMPTON 
SO14 3QB 
 

Banker 
Banking services are provided to the Fund by the Council's banker Lloyds. 
 
Lloyds Bank plc 
25 Gresham Street 
LONDON 
EC2V 7HN 
 

9Page 23



AVC Provider 
The Fund's provider for additional voluntary contributions is Prudential. 

Prudential AVC Customer Services 
Prudential 
CRAIGFORTH 
FK9 9UE 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk Management within the Governance Structure 
The Administering Authority recognises that effective risk management is an 
essential element of good governance in the LGPS and is part of the ongoing 
decision making process of Committee. By identifying and managing risks, the 
Administering Authority can: 

 demonstrate best practice in governance
 improve financial management
 minimise the risk and effect of adverse conditions
 identify and maximise opportunities that might arise
 minimise threats

The Administering Authority adopts best practice risk management, which supports a 
structured and focused approach to managing risks, and ensures risk management 
is an integral part in the governance of the Fund at a strategic and operational level. 

In relation to understanding and monitoring risk, the Administering Authority aims to: 

 integrate risk management into the culture and day-to-day activities of the Fund
 raise awareness of the need for risk management by all those connected with

the management of the Fund (including advisers, employers and other
partners)

 anticipate and respond positively to change
 minimise the probability of negative outcomes for the Fund and its stakeholders
 establish and maintain a robust framework and procedures for identification,

analysis, assessment and management of risk, and the reporting and recording
of events, based on best practice

 ensure consistent application of the risk management methodology across all
Fund activities, including projects and partnerships.

Responsibility 
The Administering Authority must be satisfied that risks are appropriately managed. 
For this purpose, the Head of Pensions Treasury and Statutory Accounts is the 
designated individual for ensuring the process outlined below is carried out, subject 
to the oversight of the Pension Committee.  

However, it is the responsibility of each individual covered by this Policy to identify 
any potential risks for the Fund and ensure that they are fed into the risk 
management process. 

10Page 24



Risk Identification 

The risk identification process is both proactive and reactive: looking forward i.e. 
horizon scanning for potential risks, and looking back, by learning lessons from 
reviewing how previous decisions and existing processes have manifested in risks to 
the organisation. 

Risks are identified by a number of means including, but not limited to: 
 formal risk assessment exercises managed by the Pension Committee
 performance measurement against agreed objectives
 findings of internal and external audit and other adviser reports
 feedback from the local Pension Board, employers and other stakeholders
 informal meetings of senior officers or other staff involved in the management

of the Fund
 liaison with other organisations, regional and national associations,

professional groups, etc.

Once identified, risks will be documented on the Fund's risk register, which is the 
primary control document for the subsequent analysis, control and monitoring of 
those risks.  

Risk Management 

The Head of Pensions Treasury and Statutory Accounts will review the extent to 
which the identified risks are covered by existing internal controls and determine 
whether any further action is required to control the risk, including reducing the 
likelihood of a risk event occurring or reducing the severity of the consequences 
should it occur.  Before any such action can be taken, Pension Committee approval 
may be required where appropriate officer delegations are not in place.  The result of 
any change to the internal controls could result in any of the following:  

 Tolerate – the exposure of a risk may be tolerable without any further action being
taken; this is partially driven by the Administering Authority's risk 'appetite' in relation 
to the Pension Fund;  

 Treat – action is taken to constrain the risk to an acceptable level;
 Terminate – some risks will only be treatable, or containable to acceptable levels, by

terminating the activity;
 Transfer - for example, transferring the risk to another party either by insurance or

through a contractual arrangement.

The Fund's risk register details all further action in relation to a risk and the owner for 
that action.   

The Fund has a cautious risk appetite, particularly in relation to investment, reflecting 
the Fund's preference for safe delivery options that have a low degree of residual 
risk with a strong control framework in place for investment operations.  The Fund 
will take risks that have been carefully considered and where controls have been 
implemented to reduce the likelihood of a risk materialising or the impact if one did 
materialise.  This means that the Fund puts processes and systems in place that 

11Page 25



ensure achievement of planned outcomes, although controls would not be put in 
place where the cost of these exceeds the value of the expected benefits. 

A risk report, including the latest risk register showing the status and direction of 
each risk, is maintained and updated regularly and reported to Pension Committee 
on a quarterly basis.  The key types of risk facing the Fund are explained briefly 
below.  Further detail on the risks and the mitigating actions are included in the 
Funding Strategy Statement.  

Key Risk 1 – Financial Risks - a team of experienced officers and advisors support 
the Pension Committee who ensure the monitoring of all financial risks for impact. 
The financial risks cover all aspects of the Fund's investment strategy, the impact of 
changes on the returns on investments, the impact of active manager performance, 
and the impact of pay and price inflation.   Currently only the risk of the Fund’s 
investment returns failing to match arising liabilities is reported corporately to the 
Council. 

Key Risk 2 – Demographic Risks - The risk of pensioners living longer is the key 
risk in this area.  Active monitoring of retirement patterns allow additional employer 
contributions to be requested if required. 

Key Risk 3 – Regulatory Risks - Changing regulations remain a long-term risk to 
the fund; however, Hillingdon fully participates in consultation exercises where their 
influence can impact on this risk. 

Key Risk 4 – Governance Risks - These risks relate mainly to an employer failing 
to notify the administering authority of changes to their structure or operation.  Good 
employer communication is vital to keep this risk under control and officer support to 
the Fund helps to further mitigate these risks. 

The specific risks identified within the Pension Fund risk register as at March 2019 
were: 

1. Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the anticipated returns
underpinning valuation of liabilities over the long-term

2. Inappropriate long-term investment strategy
3. Active investment manager under-performance relative to benchmark
4. Pay and price inflation significantly more than anticipated
5. Pensioners living longer
6. Poor Performance of Outsourced Administrator leading to poor quality

information supplied to both members and the Fund Actuary
7. Failure to invest in appropriate investment vehicles as a result of MiFID II

regulations in place from 3 January 2018
8. Cyber Security - Pension schemes hold large amounts of personal data and

assets which can make them a target for fraudsters and criminals
9. Climate Change - Risk of financial loss through climate change impacts

12Page 26



Management of investment risk 
Investments risk is the risk that investments assets underperform the assumed level 
in the triennial actuarial valuation. This can occur due to poor economic/market 
conditions, the wrong investment strategy or poor selection of investment managers. 

The fund’s investments risk is managed in line with the risk budget specified in the 
triennial actuarial valuation by the Fund’s actuaries, Hymans Robertson. The 
valuation specifies the required rate of return on assets employed to ensure the main 
objective of the fund, meeting its obligation of paying Pensioners when due, is met. 
The officers of the Fund implement Pensions Committee decisions based on 
professional advice provided by engaged investment advisers, by constantly 
monitoring the Fund’s asset allocation on a risk return basis. An asset allocation 
review is undertaken annually to ensure the required rate of returns are being met 
and adjustments made to the asset allocation if necessary to de-risk after 
consultation between the Fund’s actuaries and investment advisers and such 
decisions are then presented to the Pensions Committee for consideration and 
ratification. 

Third Party risk such as late payment of contributions 
Contribution payments are monitored closely for accuracy and timeliness. A 
reporting process is in place to escalate any late/inaccurate payments to ensure all 
payments are received on 19th of the subsequent month of payment due date as 
prescribed by the regulations. 

In respect of Investment Managers, internal control reports (AAF 01/06 and SSAE16) 
are received and reviewed regularly for any non-compliance issues. If management 
response to non-compliant issues are unsatisfactory, the matter is then addressed 
directly with the fund manager for further assurance. 

Controls assurance reports  

Fund manager Type of report  Assurance obtained Reporting 
accountant  

Adams Street 
Partners 

SSAE 16 SOC 1 Reasonable 
Assurance  

KPMG LLP 

AEW UK Ltd ISAE 3402 Reasonable 
Assurance 

KPMG LLP 

JP Morgan Asset 
management 

SOC 1 Reasonable 
Assurance 

PWC LLP 

Legal & General 
Investments 
Management 

AAF 01/06/ ISAE 
3402 

Reasonable 
Assurance 

KPMG LLP 

London CIV - 
Epoch 

SOC 1 Reasonable 
Assurance 

Ashland Partners & 
Company LLP 

London CIV – 
Ruffer LLp 

AAF 01/06/ ISAE 
3402 

Reasonable 
Assurance 

Ernst & Young LLP 

13Page 27



M&G SOC 1 (Custodian 
Report by State 
Street) 

Reasonable 
Assurance 

Ernst & Young LLP 

Macquarie 
Infrastructure Real 
Assets 

Internal Controls 
Report 

Reasonable 
Assurance 

RMG Internal Audit 
(Macquarie Risk 
Management 
Group)  

Northern Trust 
Company 

SOC 1 Reasonable 
Assurance 

KPMG LLP 

Permira LLP SOC 1 Reasonable 
Assurance 

Ernst & Young LLP 

UBS Asset 
Management 

SOC 1 Qualified Opinion  Ernst & Young LLP 

 
The risk management policy was introduced during 2016 as part of the work 
undertaken by the local Pension Board.  While Committee regularly review Fund 
risks through the risk register, it was identified that a formal risk management policy 
had not been drafted.  The policy is available at:  
http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/article/6492/Pension-fund 
 

14Page 28



B: FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
     
The London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund is open to employees of the 
Council, non-teaching staff of local authority schools and certain other bodies eligible 
to join the Fund.  Membership of the LGPS is not compulsory, although employees 
are automatically admitted to the fund unless they elect otherwise. Over the last few 
years, total membership of the fund has continued to grow, as have the number of 
employers participating in the Fund.  
 
General Scheme membership 
 
Membership of the scheme is split between  

 Active members - those still contributing to the scheme;  
 Deferred members - those who are no longer active but have accrued benefits 

to be held until retirement or transfer to a new employer's scheme; and 
 Pensioner members - comprise former active members now drawing their 

benefits and dependents of former active members.  
The membership of the scheme analysed over the relevant membership profile is 
shown below: 
 
Membership Summary 

2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 

Active Members 9,015 8,591 8,684 8,267 

Pensioners/Dependants 6,881 6,453 6,194 6,244 

Deferred 9,643 8,510 7,225 6,658 

Total Membership 25,539 23,554 22,103 21,169 

CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
Total Employee contributions (including transfers) into the Fund during 2018/19 
amounted to £44.6m compared to £77.2m for the previous year. The 42% decrease 
from previous year is attributable to the receipt of Bulk transfer sum of £31.1m from 
Harrow College in March 2018, because of its merger with Uxbridge College. 
Employee contributions ranged from 5.5% to 12.5% dependent on pensionable pay.  
The Fund actuary sets employer contribution rates and the rates that applied during 
2018/19 were set from the 2016 valuation. 
 
Analytical Review of Performance 

2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 

Pension Fund Account £' 000 £' 000 £' 000 £' 000 

Dealings With Members 

Contributions 44,663 77,191 42,707 42,012 

Pensions -46,642 -45,300 -41,596 -42,476 

Net Additions/(Withdrawals) 
from Dealings with members -1,979 31,891 1,111 -464 

15Page 29



Management Expense -8,833 -7,332 -8,385 -6,353 

Net Investment Returns 22,649 15,203 16,004 15,511 

Change In Market Value 35,501 15,834 137,690 -707 

Net Increase/(Decrease) In 
Fund 47,338 55,596 146,420 7,987 

 
 
 
Analysis of dealings with members 
 
 

2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

£' 000 £' 000 £' 000 £' 000

Contributions Receivable 

Employees 9,486 9,920 9,356 9,382

Employers 33,330 32,909 32,110 29,886

Transfers In - Individual Transfers In 1,489 3,313 1,241 2,744

Transfers In - Bulk Transfer In 0 31,049 0 0

Total Contributions 44,305 77,191 42,707 42,012

    

2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

£' 000 £' 000 £' 000 £' 000

Benefits and Other payments 

Pensions -36,423 -33,721 -32,435 -31,597
Lump Sum Retirements and Death 
Benefits -7,593 -8,282 -6,918 -8,179

Transfers Out -2,547 -3,235 -2,162 -2,603

Refunds -79 -62 -81 -97

Total Payments -46,642 -45,300 -41,596 -42,476

The Key variances in members dealings were due to the following: 
 

 Lump Sum Paid in 2018/19 reduced due to fewer retirements compared to 
2017/18. 

 
 Transfers In and Out for 2018/19 were lower as fewer members transferred 

their pensions both ways under the freedom of choice legislation compared to 
2017/18. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16Page 30



Analysis of Operational Expenses 
 
Analysis of Operational Expenses 

2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

£' 000 £' 000 £' 000 £' 000

Administration 

Employees -355 -301 -272 -224

Outsourced Administration Costs -433 -400 -588 -305

Support Services Charges -52 -52 -42 -41

-840 -753 -902 -570

Governance and Oversight 

Investment Advisory Services -55 -81 -103 -103

Governance & Compliance -12 -50 -484 -172

External Audit -22 -20 -21 -21

Actuarial Fees -7 -36 -114 -42

-96 -187 -722 -338

Investment Management 

Management Fees -5,934 -5,291 -5,359 -4,807

Performance Fees -1,405 -525 -917 -279

Transaction Costs -492 -520 -389 -251

Custodian fees -66 -56 -96 -108

-7,897 -6,392 -6,761 -5,445

Total Operational Expenses -8,833 -7,332 -8,385 -6,353

 
The Key points to note from the operational expenses are as follows: 

 Governance and oversight costs reduced by about 49% due to reduced 
investment and actuarial advice activities, with most actuarial charges 
recharged to the various employing bodies as per requested services. 

 Investment management expenses increased mainly due to increased 
performance related fees paid, because of the maturity profile of the Fund’s 
alternative assets, which are coming to the end of their investment cycles.  

 Ad-hoc data cleansing and GMP reconciliation projects by the Fund’s 
administrators resulted in increased administration charges.  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

17Page 31



C: INVESTMENT POLCIY AND PERFORMANCE 

Investment Policy 

The Pension Fund Committee sets out a broad statement of the principles it has 
employed in establishing its investment and funding strategy in the Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS).  

The ISS sets out responsibilities relating to the overall investment policy of the Fund 
including:  

 asset allocations

 restrictions on investment types

 methods of investment management

 performance monitoring.

The ISS also sets out the Fund’s approach to Environmental Social Governance 
issues, and how the Fund demonstrates compliance with the ‘Myners Principles’. 
These principles are a set of recommendations relating to the investment of pension 
funds originally prepared by Lord Myners in 2001 and subsequently endorsed by 
Government. The current version of the Myners Principles covers the following 
areas:  

 Effective decision making;

 Clear objectives;

 Risk & liabilities;

 Performance Measurement;

 Responsible ownership;

 Transparency and reporting.

The Fund’s SIP can be found on the Fund’s web page. For 2017/18, the LGPS 
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016, requires the Fund to 
publish an Investment Strategy Statement (ISS), which replaces the Statement of 
Investment Principles.  

The ISS addresses each of the objectives included in the 2016 Regulations, namely:  

 The administering requirement to invest fund money in a wide range of
instruments

 The administering authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular
investments and types of investment

18Page 32



 The administering authority’s approach to risk, including the ways in which
risks are to be measured and managed

 The administering authority’s approach to pooling investments, including the
use of collective investment vehicles

 The administering authority’s policy on how social, environmental or corporate
governance considerations are taken into account in the selection, non-
selection, retention and realisation of investments.

Fund Value and Asset allocation 

The strategic asset allocation is agreed by the Pension Fund Committee based on 
the risk appetite and return on investments required to fulfil its paramount obligation 
of paying Pensions to members. The strategy benefits from input by both officers 
and the Fund’s investment advisors. 

Whilst managers are able to use their discretion to make minor variations in the 
allocation of investments between markets, the major movements are a combination 
of market gains, revised asset allocation and maturation of Private Equity and 
alternative investments during the year.    

Cash movement is incidental as the fund has a zero cash policy but cash returns 
from alternative investments during the year are received in the custody account 
pending reinvestment. 

19Page 33



 
 
The asset allocation as at 31 March 2019 is as follows: 

Asset Category 

Opening 
Value 01 April 

2018 

Strategic 
Weighting 

Actual 
Weighting 

Closing Value 
31 March 2019 

Strategic 
Weighting 

Actual 
Weighting 

  £'000 %  % £'000 %  %

Equities 460,554 47 46 492,526 44 46
DGF 103,270 12 10 102,701 10 10
Bonds 154,480 12 15 211,512 14 20
Property 129,553 12 13 135,448 12 13
Alternatives:       
Private Equity 20,091 4 2 17,329 2 2
Infrastructure 28,307 3 3 29,133 3 3
Private Credit 66,387 10 7 69,390 10 7
Long Lease 
Property 0 0 0 0 5 0

Cash 47,460 0 5 8,086 0 1

Total 1,010,102 100 100 1,066,125 100 100

20

P
age 34



Asset Allocation Variances 

The table above shows a 6% variances between bond strategic and actual weightings 
compared to its strategic allocation due to the bond portfolio at LGIM being used to 
temporarily hold earmarked commitments for long lease property which currently 
shows a zero actual weighting and awaiting draw-down by the appointed manager, 
LGIM. 

Weighting difference in Private Credit is mainly due to the winding down and return of 
investments in M&G as the investments in the fund are close to being completely 
liquidated. 

Fund Value 

The value of the fund has undergone significant increase over the last few years. Most 
of the gains has been attributable to buoyant world economies and financial markets. 
The biggest increase in fund value was in the last three years from 2016 – 2019 which 
saw the fund gain about £110 million.  

Overall, the fund has more than doubled in value over the last ten years going from 
£417 million in 2008/09 to £1.067 Billion at the end of the 2018/19 financial year. 

21Page 35



Funding Strategy Statement 

The Funding Strategy Statement sets out the aims and purpose of the pension fund 
and the responsibilities of the administering authority as regards funding the scheme.  
Its purpose is:  

 To establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy to identify how
employers’ pension liabilities are best met going forward;

 To support the regulatory requirement to maintain as nearly constant
employer contribution rates as possible;

 To take a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities

The latest Funding Strategy Statement can accessed via the Pension Fund Web 
page. file:///C:/Users/Babatundea/Downloads/Funding_Strategy_Statement.pdf 

Investment Performance 

Overall relative performance of the fund for the year 2018/19 was 0.96% below the 
overall benchmark. Across all performance measurement intervals of one, three and 
five years, the annualised returns were behind the respective benchmarks as shown in 
the chart below.  

However, the since inception relative performance was positive at 0.06 ahead of the 
benchmark 

22Page 36



Performance of the Fund is measured against an overall strategic benchmark. Below 
this, each Fund Manager is given individual performance targets, which are linked to 
index returns for the assets they manage. Details of these targets can be found in the 
ISS.  
 
Performance of Fund Managers is reviewed quarterly by the Pension Fund 
Committee, which is supported by officers and the Fund’s independent investment 
advisor, KPMG 
 
Investment Managers Performance 
 
The overall performance of each manager is measured over rolling three-year periods, 
as inevitably there will be short-term fluctuations in performance. 
 

 
 

Fund Manager Performance 2018/19 
  
  

  One Year Benchmark 

 % % 

Adams Street  14.77 15.5 

AEW UK  -0.32 4.88 

Epoch - LCIV 13.42 11.98 

JP Morgan  1.54 4.05 

LGIM 1 - LCIV (Passive) 6.53 6.79 

LGIM 2 - LCIV (Passive) 5.40 6.13 

LGT Capital Partners 18.62 15.5 

M&G Investments -3.84 5.05 

Macquarie Infrastructure 14.97 4.05 

Permira  5.18 5.05 

Ruffer LLP - LCIV -0.55 1.05 

23Page 37



UBS Equities 2.30 6.36 

UBS Property 4.43 4.88 

The portfolio is a mixture of active and passively managed asset classes: 

 Targets for active fund mandates are set to out-perform the benchmark by a
set percentage through active stock selection and asset allocation. Fund
managers with active fund mandates are Adams Street, AEW UK, Epoch, JP
Morgan (LCIV), LGT Capital, M&G, Macquarie, Permira, Ruffer (LCIV) UBS
Equities and UBS Property

 Targets for passive funds are set to achieve the benchmark through
investment in a stable portfolio. Both LGIM mandates are passive.

24Page 38



Historical Fund Managers Performance and Benchmarks 

Benchmark One Year
Three 
Years

Five 
Years Benchmark  

% % %   
Adams Street  14.77 12.68 15.54 MSCI All Countries World Index
AEW UK  -0.32 6.41 0 IPD UK PPFI All Balanced Funds Index
Epoch – LCIV* 13.42 0 0 MSCI World ND 
JP Morgan  1.54 4.22 3.14 LIBOR +3%pa 

LGIM 1 - LCIV 
(Passive)* 6.53 0 0

FTSE World Developed Equity index 
Currency Hedged, FTSE World 
Developed Equity index  unHedged, 
FTSE Emerging Markets

LGIM 2 - LCIV 
(Passive)* 5.4 0 0

Markit iBoxx £ Non-Gilt, FTSE A Govt 
Index-Linked (All Stocks), FTSE A Govt 
Index-Linked (Over 15 Year) 

LGT Capital Partners 18.62 18.84 17.64 MSCI All Countries World Index
M&G Investments -3.84 7.93 7.15 LIBOR +4%pa 
Macquarie Infrastructure 14.97 15.45 15.78 LIBOR +3%pa 
Permira  5.18 7.51 0 LIBOR +4%pa 
Ruffer LLP - LCIV -0.55 3.42 3.98 LIBOR 
UBS Equities 2.3 12.35 6.45 FTSE All Share Ex-Tobacco
UBS Property 4.43 5.06 9.81 IPD UK PPFI All Balanced Funds Index

*Pooled Investments with London CIV. Three and five year returns unavailable

25

P
age 39



The above tables provide information on those managers that manage fund assets 
and performance return over three different periods and their respective 
measurement benchmarks.   
 
Comparative Performance 
 

 
The graph above shows the fund’s investment returns in comparison with Uk Local 
Authorities average over one, three and five year periods. The performance 
difference is mainly attributable to the cautious investment philosophy and risk 
averse asset allocation strategy adopted by the Fund. 
 

26Page 40



46

20

11

10

13

1

55

19

11

3

9

3

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Equities

Bonds

Alternatives

Diversified Growth

Property

Cash

LB Hillingdon Comparitive Asset Allocation

Asset Allocation Comparison Local Authority Universe % Asset Allocation Comparison LB Hillingdon %

Note: Local Authority Universe information courtesy of PIRC 

Responsible Investing 

The Fund is committed to being a long-term steward of the assets in which it invests 
and expects this approach to protect and enhance the value of the Fund in the long 
term. External investment managers are expected to undertake appropriate 
monitoring of underlying investments with regard to their policies and practices on all 
issues that could present a material financial risk to the long-term performance of the 
Fund such as corporate governance and environmental factors, integrating material 
ESG factors within its investment analysis and decision-making. 

Where the Fund invests on a segregated basis, it requests the exclusion of 
investment within the Tobacco sector as part of the mandate. The Fund will not 
pursue policies that are contrary to UK foreign policy or UK defence policy.  

The Fund’s approach to engagement recognises the importance of working in 
partnership to magnify the voice and maximise the influence of investors as owners. 
The Fund expects its investment managers to work collaboratively with others if this 
will lead to greater influence and deliver improved outcomes for shareholders and 
more broadly.  

We as a fund appreciates that to gain the attention of companies in addressing 
governance concerns; collaborating with other investors sharing similar concerns 
may be an effective tool available to us.  

27Page 41



Exercise of voting rights 

To ensure effective and consistent use of the voting rights, investment managers are 
tasked with exercising the voting rights accruing to the Fund. If important issues 
affecting local residents do emanate from actions of invested companies, the 
Pensions Committee will contact investment managers in charge of assets of such a 
company to make their opinion known and ask for such to be presented at meetings 
with the company or reflected in their voting pattern. 
 
The Fund complies with the UK Stewardship Code and a statement of compliance 
that explains the arrangements supporting its commitment to each of the seven 
Myners principles.  

 
Custody 
 
The Northern Trust Company acts as the global custodian of the Fund's assets. As 
part of its normal procedures Northern Trust holds all assets in safe custody, settles 
trades, securities lending, collects dividend income, provides data for corporate 
actions, liaises closely with all of the investment managers and reports on all activity 
on a monthly and quarterly basis. Where holdings are in pooled funds, the underlying 
assets held by the relevant funds' custodian are reported to Northern Trust. Regular 
service reviews take place with Northern Trust to ensure continuous monitoring of 
the Funds requirements.  

 
Separation of Responsibilities  
 
The Fund employs a global custodian (Northern Trust), independent to the investment 
managers, to be responsible for the safekeeping of all of the Fund’s investments. 
Northern Trust is responsible for the settlement of all investment transactions and the 
collection of income. 
  
The Fund’s bank accounts are held with Lloyd’s Bank. Funds not immediately required 
to pay benefits are held as interest bearing operational cash with Lloyds Bank and the 
custodian, Northern Trust.  
 
The actuary, Hymans Robertson is responsible for assessing the long-term financial 
position of the pension fund and issues a Rates and Adjustments statement following 
their triennial valuation of the Pension Fund, which sets out the minimum contributions 
which each employer in the Scheme is obliged to pay over the following three years. 
 
 
 

 

28Page 42



D. SCHEME ADMINISTRATION 

Service Delivery 

Administration of the scheme is undertaken under delegated authority by the 
Pensions Team at Surrey County Council.  Surrey are responsible for: 

 Administering the LGPS on behalf of London Borough of Hillingdon as an
Employing Authority in accordance with relevant legislation and Committee
decisions;

 Administering the Council's early retirement arrangements in accordance with
relevant legislation and Committee decisions;

 Providing advice to scheme members and external scheme Employers on
options available under the Council's Pension Scheme; and

 Exploiting information technology to improve service standards and efficiency.

Surrey and LB Hillingdon are working closely together to provide a full administration 
service covering the collecting, and reconciling of pension contributions, transfers of 
pension rights in to and out of the LGPS and deferred benefits, payment of pensions, 
calculations for retirements, re-employment, and death benefits. 

The agreement with Surrey details agreed performance targets and key performance 
indicators are reviewed quarterly at Pensions Committee and Pensions Board.   

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
The contract with Surrey County Council includes a number of key performance 
indicators included to ensure that service to members of the pension fund is 
effective. The targets are set out below, along with actual performance. 

Performance Indicators Target Performance 

2017/18 2018/19
Death notification 
acknowledged, recorded and 
documentation sent  

5 working 
days 90% 83%

Payment of death grant made  
10 working 
days 93% 86%

Retirement notification 
acknowledged, recorded and 
documentation sent  

10 working 
days 75% 94%

Payment of lump sum made 
10 working 
days 84% 91%

Calculation of spouses benefits 
10 working 
days 65% 84%

Transfers In - Quotes 
20 working 
days 100% 92%

Transfers In - Payments 
20 working 
days 100% 100%

Transfers Out - Quote 
20 working 
days 55% 87%

29Page 43



Transfers Out - Payments 
20 working 
days 77% 89%

Employer estimates provided 
10 working 
days 84% 94%

Employee projections provided 
10 working 
days 69% 84%

Refunds 
20 working 
days 91% 96%

Deferred benefit notifications  
20 working 
days  68% 88%

Staff shortages and legacy data integrity issues had a negative impact on the 
performance indicators shown above. However, there have been no delays in 
processing pension payments and no impact on the accuracy of final calculations 
made.  

During 2018/19, staffing issues have been addressed with new appointments made 
to complement the existing work force ensuring improved efficiency and 
improvement in all areas of performance indicators above. 

STAFFING COSTS ANALYSIS 

The administration of the fund is outsourced to Surrey County Council run 
consortium, Orbis, under a Service Level Agreement. Agreed monthly charges are 
invoiced to cover the administration charges along with any added costs for software 
licences incurred by Orbis. 

2.75 FTE staff are employed by Hillingdon to deal with the internal administration of 
fund and liaise with Surrey CC on issues or concerns raised by members. 

1.50 FTE staff are employed by the Finance Directorate to oversee the governance 
and accounting side of the fund.  

The staffing costs for the fund has increased with membership numbers over the 
years and the spike in 2016/17 coincided with the change in outsourced 

30Page 44



administration contract from CAPITA to Surrey County Council run Orbis and the 
accompanying initial set up and data migration costs contributed largely to the high 
administration costs recorded during that year. 
 
An increase in membership numbers of around 1,985 between 2017/18 to 2018/19 
was largely responsible for the decrease in costs per member from £40 per head in 
2017/18 to £37 per head in 2018/19. 
 
The cost comparison chart below is the latest comparative figure available from the 
ONS. At time of publishing this report 2018/19 figures were yet to be released. 
 
Membership costs comparison 2017/18 

202.80

278.60

311.28

29.33

52.08

39.93

0.00 50.00 100.00 150.00 200.00 250.00 300.00 350.00

English Pension Funds

London LGPS Funds

Hillingdon

Unit Cost Per Member Comparison

Unit Cost Per Member Excluding Investment Expenses £

Unit Cost Per member Including Invesment Expenses £

 
For the year 2017/18, the unit cost per member excluding investment expenses is 
about 25% higher than the average for Pension Funds in England but less than 
London Funds’ average at £40 per member. The cost per member including 
Investment management expenses is about £311 per member and comes out higher 
than most English and London Pension Funds in comparison. 
 
Comparative Figures obtained from ONS SF3 published information for 2017/18. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31Page 45



MEMBERSHIP 

Active and deferred membership continued to grow over the last four financial years. 
The most significant movement year-on-year is the increase in deferred membership 
by 1,133 and overall scheme membership increased year-on-year by 7.8% to 25,539 
from 23,554 in 2017/18. The membership profile over the last four years is shown 
below: 

Overall membership has increased by almost 21% in the last five years from 20,164 
to 25,539. 

The biggest jump has been deferred membership which has increased from 6,051 to 
9,643 in five years, representing an increase of 37%. Auto enrolment, introduced in 
April 2013 has been a contributory factor to the increase in active membership over 
the same five year period by 11%. 

The total number of pensioners in receipt of enhanced benefits due to ill-health or 
early retirement on the grounds of redundancy or efficiency of the service on 31 
March over a five year period is shown in the table below. 

Reasons for leaving 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Ill-Health Retirement 8 6 3 8 8
Redundancy 23 19 34 58 39

Total 31 25 37 66 47

32Page 46



COMPLAINTS 

The Council’s complaints procedure is available to any person who wishes to make a 
suggestion or complaint about the service. Number of complaints are reported as 
part of the administration KPI monitoring quarterly to Pensions Committee.  

There is also a two stage statutory Independent Dispute Resolution Procedure 
(IDRP) within the LGPS regulations. Details of this procedure are available on the 
Pensions web pages at www.hillingdon.gov.uk  or on request. An application at 
stage one of the process is to the Head of Pensions Treasury and Statutory 
Accounts, London Borough of Hillingdon. 

CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYERS AND CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED 

Below is a list of the current active contributing employers and the contributions 
received for 2018/19 (Figures include early retirement and deficit funding 
contributions). 

Employer Type Total 
Contributions

Contribution 
Rate %

London Borough of Hillingdon Administering 
Authority

23,181,784.39 23.1

Barnhill Academy Scheduled Body 276,954.62 24.9
Belmore Academy Scheduled Body 194,720.02 24.1
Bishop Ramsey Academy Scheduled Body 281,012.66 25.2
Bishopshalt Academy Scheduled Body 310,362.98 28.8
Charville Academy Scheduled Body 179,362.88 24.3
Coteford Academy Scheduled Body 125,415.99 27.1
Cowley St. Laurence School Scheduled Body 121,512.33 24.9
Cranford Park Academy Scheduled Body 272,686.26 24.8
Douay Martyrs Academy Scheduled Body 237,246.02 26.9
Eden Academy Scheduled Body 199,153.93 21.7
Global Academy Scheduled Body 97,034.71 17.3
Grangewood School Scheduled body 248,114.09 21.7
Guru Nanak Academy Scheduled Body 292,368.92 22.4
Harefield Academy Scheduled Body 207,689.42 22.3
Haydon Academy Scheduled Body 360,641.88 25.1
Heathrow Aviation Scheduled Body 26,650.89 18.8
Hillingdon Primary School Scheduled Body 177,542.92 23.5
John Locke Academy Scheduled Body 74,282.33 19.1
Lake Farm School Scheduled Body 131,576.02 18.9
Laurel Lane Academy Scheduled Body 121,990.92 24.9
LBDS Frays Academy Trust     Scheduled Body 48,558.88 24.9
London Housing Consortium Scheduled Body 364,794.09 23.1
Moorcroft School Scheduled Body 172,423.38 21.7
Nanaksar Primary School Scheduled Body 46,297.10 20.4
Northwood Academy Scheduled Body 128,093.12 23.8
Park Federation Scheduled Body 60,638.80 24.8

33Page 47



Park West Academy Scheduled Body 121,592.53 21.0
Pentland Field School Scheduled Body 259,936.85 21.7
Pinkwell School Scheduled Body 276,362.03 26.6
Queensmead Academy Scheduled Body 262,270.53 21.8
Rosedale Hewens Academy Scheduled Body 312,818.55 23.9
Ruislip Academy Scheduled Body 200,669.30 25.9
Ryefield Academy Scheduled Body 131,551.34 28.9
Skills HUB – Orchard Hill College Scheduled Body 89,614.20 29.6
St. Matthews Primary School Scheduled Body 85,833.60 24.9
St. Martins primary School Scheduled Body 84,855.30 24.9
Swakeleys Academy Scheduled Body 194,796.89 23.9
Uxbridge College Scheduled Body 1,845,451.77 23.8
Uxbridge Academy Scheduled Body 289,343.61 21.5
Vyners Academy Scheduled Body 233,359.93 25.7
West Primary School Scheduled Body 157,212.92 25.5
William Byrd Primary School Scheduled Body 174,902.34 26.6
Willows Academy Scheduled Body 72,528.86 32.5
Wood End Academy Scheduled Body 224,135.49 23.0
Young Peoples Academy Scheduled Body 83,250.17 29.6
Braybourne Facilities Admitted Body 11,198.21 29.3
Busy Bee Admitted Body 1,273.84 32.3
Caterlink – Frays Academy Admitted Body 16,615.54 28.3
Caterplus – Genuine Dining Admitted Body 16,128.26 22.1
Churchill (was Mitie Cleaning) Admitted Body 15,189.56 42.1
Cucina - Haydon Academy Admitted Body 8,743.15 34.4
Cucina – Ruislip Academy Admitted Body 3,421.65 28.0
Greenwich Leisure Admitted Body 65,321.54 0.0
Hayward Services – Ruislip  Admitted Body 1,626.61 34.2
Hayward Services - Highfield Admitted Body 7,200.94 32.4
Hayward Services - Hillingdon Admitted Body 7,039.75 33.4
Heathrow Travel Care Admitted Body 43,041.83 18.9
Hillingdon & Ealing Citizens Advice Admitted Body 49,658.18 25.2
Kingdom Security Admitted Body 11,969.66 23.1
NHS – Michael Sobell House Admitted Body 10,484.20 31.5
Taylor Shaw Admitted Body 7,926.25 34.5
Pantry – Whiteheath School  Admitted Body 1,997.84 32.9
Pantry – Frithwood & Hillside 
Schools 

Admitted Body 2,011.28 31.8

Pantry – Yeading School Admitted Body 2,375.28 32.6
Pabulum – West Drayton Primary 
School 

Admitted Body 8,270.33 34.4

Total 33,330,889.66   

 

 

 

 

 

 

34Page 48



Analysis of Fund Membership Data 

The following table summarises the number of employers in the fund analysed by 
scheduled bodies and admitted bodies which are active (with active members) and 
ceased (no active members but with some outstanding liabilities). 

2018/19 
Active Ceased Total 

Administering Authority  1 0 1 

Scheduled Bodies  45 0 45 

Admitted Bodies  20 0 20 

66 0 66 

35Page 49



E. REPORT OF THE FUND ACTUARY 
 

London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund (“the Fund”) Actuarial Statement 
for 2018/19 
 
This statement has been prepared in accordance with Regulation 57(1) (d) of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013.   It has been prepared at the 
request of the Administering Authority of the Fund for the purpose of complying with 
the aforementioned regulation.  
 
Description of Funding Policy 
 
The funding policy is set out in the Administering Authority’s Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS), dated March 2017.  In summary, the key funding principles are as 
follows: 

 to ensure the long-term solvency of the Fund using a prudent long-term view.  
This will ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet all 
members’/dependants’ benefits as they fall due for payment; 

 to ensure that employer contribution rates are reasonably stable where 
appropriate; 

 to minimise the long-term cash contributions which employers need to pay to 
the Fund by recognising the link between assets and liabilities and adopting an 
investment strategy which balances risk and return (this will also minimise the 
costs to be borne by Council Tax payers); 

 to reflect the different characteristics of different employers in determining 
contribution rates.  This involves the Fund having a clear and transparent 
funding strategy to demonstrate how each employer can best meet its own 
liabilities over future years; and 

 to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and 
ultimately to the Council Tax payer from an employer defaulting on its pension 
obligations. 

The FSS sets out how the Administering Authority seeks to balance the conflicting 
aims of securing the solvency of the Fund and keeping employer contributions 
stable.  For employers whose covenant was considered by the Administering 
Authority to be sufficiently strong, contributions have been stabilised to return their 
portion of the Fund to full funding over 25 years if the valuation assumptions are 
borne out.  Asset-liability modelling has been carried out which demonstrate that if 
these contribution rates are paid and future contribution changes are constrained as 
set out in the FSS, there is a better than 70% chance that the Fund will return to full 
funding over 25 years. 
 
Funding Position as at the last formal funding valuation 
 
The most recent actuarial valuation carried out under Regulation 62 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 was as at 31 March 2016. This 

36Page 50



valuation revealed that the Fund’s assets, which at 31 March 2016 were valued at 
£810 million, were sufficient to meet 75% of the liabilities (i.e. the present value of 
promised retirement benefits) accrued up to that date. The resulting deficit at the 
2016 valuation was £269 million. 
Each employer had contribution requirements set at the valuation, with the aim of 
achieving full funding within a time horizon and probability measure as per the FSS. 
Individual employers’ contributions for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 were 
set in accordance with the Fund’s funding policy as set out in its FSS.   

Principal Actuarial Assumptions and Method used to value the liabilities 

Full details of the methods and assumptions used are described in the 2016 
valuation report. 

Method 

The liabilities were assessed using an accrued benefits method, which takes into 
account pensionable membership up to the valuation date, and makes an allowance 
for expected future salary growth to retirement or expected earlier date of leaving 
pensionable membership. 

Assumptions 

A market-related approach was taken to valuing the liabilities, for consistency with 
the valuation of the Fund assets at their market value.  
The key financial assumptions adopted for the 2016 valuation were as follows: 
Financial assumptions 31 March 2016 

Discount rate 4.0%
Salary increase assumption 2.6%
Benefit increase assumption (CPI) 2.1% 

The key demographic assumption was the allowance made for longevity. The life 
expectancy assumptions are based on the Fund's VitaCurves with improvements in 
line with the CMI 2013 model, assuming the current rate of improvements has 
reached a peak and will converge to long-term rate of 1.25% p.a.  Based on these 
assumptions, the average future life expectancies at age 65 are as follows:  

Males Females 

Current Pensioners 22.6 years 24.6 years
Future Pensioners*  24.0 years  26.5 years 

*Aged 45 at the 2016 Valuation.

Copies of the 2016 valuation report and Funding Strategy Statement are available on 
request from the Administering Authority to the Fund.  

37Page 51



Experience over the period since 31 March 2016 

Since the last formal valuation, real bond yields have fallen placing a higher value on 
the liabilities but there have been strong asset returns over the 3 years. Both events 
are of broadly similar magnitude with regards to the impact on the funding level. 

Craig Alexander FFA 
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 
12 April 2019 

Hymans Robertson LLP 
20 Waterloo Street, Glasgow, G2 6DB 

38Page 52



F: GOVERNANCE 

Pension Committee 

The Pensions Committee is the formal decision making body for the Fund. The 
Committee consists of five Councillor Members, all with voting rights.  During 
2018/19 these were: 

Councillor  Councillor Councillor 
Philip Corthorne Martin Goddard Teji Barnes 
(Chairman)  (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor   Councillor 
Tony Eginton  John Morse 
(Labour Lead) 

The Committee meets quarterly to discuss investment strategy, legislative changes 
and developments that may affect the Fund, and to review the performance of the 
Fund Managers and the Fund Administrators. Committee training has been 
incorporated into these quarterly meetings to ensure that Committee Members 
maintain their knowledge and skills at a sufficient level to enable them to discharge 
their duties in relation to the Fund. 

Record of Attendance 
Name Meetings attended 
Cllr Philip Corthorne 4/4 
Cllr Martin Goddard 4/4 
Cllr Teji Barnes 4/4 
Cllr Tony Eginton 4/4
Cllr John Morse 4/4

39Page 53



Local Pension Board 

The London Borough of Hillingdon local Pension Board was established in 2015 and 
like the Committee met on a quarterly basis. The Board was reconfigured in 
November 2017 with a change to membership and terms of reference.   

The members of the Board meetings during 2018/19 were: 

Employer Representatives: 
Zak Muneer (from July 2018) 
Hayley Seabrook (from July 2018) 

Scheme Member Representatives: 
Roger Hackett 
Venetia Rogers (to December 2018) 
Tony Noakes (from January 2019) 

Record of Attendance 
Four Meetings were held in 2018/19; April 2018, September 2018, November 2018 
and February 2019 

Name Meetings attended
Zak Muneer 3/3
Hayley Seabrook 3/3 
Roger Hackett 4/4 
Venetia Rogers 3/3 
Tony Noakes 1/1 

Note: For the April 2018 meeting the employer representative positions were vacant, 
under active recruitment 

The Board is not a decision making body, rather it has a compliance and scrutiny 
role to ensure the Pensions Committee complies effectively and efficiently with the 
code of practice on the governance and administration of public service pension 
schemes issued by the Pension Regulator. Additionally the Pension Board will help 
ensure that the London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund is managed and 
administered effectively and efficiently and complies with the code of practice. 

Knowledge and Skills 

The CIPFA Knowledge and Skills framework has been utilised to track training needs 
of both Pensions Committee and Pensions Board with some addition categories on 
asset classes and investment topics for Pension Committee members to ensure 
investment decisions are supported with knowledge in those areas. All members 

40Page 54



have been asked to complete a review scoring themselves against each topic from 
1-5 of knowledge with 5 being highly skilled and 1 being no knowledge.  

The fund has a training policy in place which is reviewed every 3 years and members 
are invited on relevant training when courses arise. In addition training is provided at 
the start of Pension Committee and Pension Board meetings. 

New Pension Committee members were enrolled on a comprehensive 2 day training 
programme covering all areas of the knowledge and skills framework including asset 
pooling to start to build their knowledge from the outset of their commitment to the 
committee. New Employer representative Board members were enrolled on an 
introduction to the LGPS when joining the Board.  

Internal training provision has been focused on topics where members have 
highlighted they have low knowledge and skills from their training needs analysis or 
where complex areas of investment decision making are taking place and the fund 
want to ensure the Committee are skilled in making those decisions.  

Training Received in 2018/19 

Cllr 
Corthorne 
(Chair)

Cllr 
Goddard

Cllr 
Eginton 

Cllr 
Morse

Cllr 
Barnes

The Legislative Framework and Structure 
of the LGPS, Key Governance 
Requirements and the Pensions 
Regulator’s Code of Practice, 
Contributions and Benefits, Current 'Hot 
Topics' in the LGPS N Y N  Y Y
Introduction to the Hillingdon fund and 
strategy Y Y Y Y Y
Understanding Funding – Actuarial 
Methods, Standards and Practices, 
Investment Strategy, Financial Markets, 
Monitoring Investment Performance, 
Asset Pooling N  Y N Y Y 
Infrastructure Equity and Debt Y Y Y Y Y
Introduction to Infrastructure N Y N  N N
Roles and Responsibilities & Regulation Y Y Y Y Y 
Inflation and UK I/L Bonds Vs US TIPS Y Y Y Y Y 

Hayley 
Seabrook 

Zak 
Muneer 

Venetia 
Rogers 

Roger 
Hackett 

Tony 
Noakes 

Introduction to the Hillingdon 
fund and strategy Y Y N Y 

Introduction to the LGPS Y Y N

CIPFA LGPS Local Pension Y Y N Y 

41Page 55



Board Members’ Autumn 
Seminar 

Introduction to Infrastructure Y Y N Y 
Roles and Responsibilities & 
Regulation Y Y Y 

Cyber Security Y Y Y Y
CIPFA LGPS Local Pension 
Board Members’ Spring 
Seminar Y Y Y Y
Inflation and UK I/L Bonds Vs 
US TIPS Y N  N  N  

Further Information can found in Appendix 1 with the full governance and compliance 
policy for the fund. 

In January 2019 the Pensions Board reported to pensions Committee to explain 
work completed between  September 2017 and December 2019. The report to 
Committee has been included here.  

42Page 56



ANNUAL REPORT TO PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

Committee Local Pension Board

Officer Reporting Sian Kunert

Papers with report None

REASON FOR ITEM 

The report is compiled to provide feedback to Pensions Committee on the work 
undertaken by the Local Pension Board since the last report presented in Pensions 
Committee in September 2017 and to meet the legislative requirement for producing 
an annual report.   

INFORMATION 

1. The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 introduced the requirement to have a
Local Pensions Board to assist in the good governance of the scheme.

2. The purpose of the Board is to assist the Administering Authority in its role as
a Scheme Manager of the Scheme.  Such assistance is to:

 Secure compliance with the regulations and any other legislation
relating to the governance and administration of the Scheme, and
requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to the
Scheme; and

 To ensure the effective and efficient administration of the Scheme.

3. London Borough of Hillingdon Council ratified the establishment of the Board
on 6th November 2014 to commence with effect from 1st April 2015. Council at
its meeting 02 November 2017 agreed to change the structure of the Board
and its membership to improve the overall effectiveness of the Board. The
Board meets four times a year and consists of two Employer representatives,
and two scheme member representatives.

Membership and Attendance at Meetings 

4. The membership of the local Pension Board is:

Employer Representatives:
 Hayley Seabrook (Hillingdon Council)
 Zak Muneer (LHC)

Scheme Member Representatives: 

43Page 57



 Venetia Rogers
 Roger Hackett

5. Attendance at meetings has been high with all members in attendance where
positions have been filled.

6. AON Hewitt is appointed as Governance advisers to support the development
and work of the local Pension Board and attend meetings as necessary.

Training 

7. Relevant external training opportunities are made available to Board Members
and have been well supported, in particular with regular attendance at
quarterly local board specific training sessions held by CIPFA. Pension Board
members also utilise internal training opportunities by attending Pension
Committee where a training item starts each meeting.

8. Using CIPFA's Training Needs analysis, specific training needs have been
identified, and will continue to be identified, and will be built into future
training. The new members plan to complete their frameworks within the next
quarter.

Work of the Local Pension Board 

9. Meetings are held shortly after each Pensions Committee. Since the annual
report in September 2017, there was one meeting held under the old board
structure in October 2017 and  three since the structural changes in
November 18; April 18, September 18 and November 18.

10. Each meeting undertakes a review of the most recent Pensions Committee
reports and decisions, raising any issues for clarification with officers.  To date
there have been no issues referred back to Pensions Committee.  All
committee papers are shared with Board Members who are encouraged to
attend committee meetings to fully understand the reports.

11. Terms of Reference for the Board:

i. The Pensions Board will be chaired by a member chosen by the
group

ii. The frequency of the Pensions Board will be determined by the
Board.

iii. Reports to the Board will either reflect decisions taken by
Pensions Committee or be reports for noting already seen by
Pensions Committee.

iv. The role of the Board will be to assist London Borough of
Hillingdon Administering Authority as Scheme Manager: to
secure compliance with the LGPS regulations and any other
legislation relating to the governance and administration of the
LGPS;

44Page 58



v. To secure compliance with requirements imposed in relation to
the LGPS by the Pensions Regulator; and in such other matters
as the LGPS regulations may specify.

vi. To secure the effective and efficient governance and
administration of the LGPS for the London Borough of Hillingdon
Pension Fund.

vii. To provide the Scheme Manager with such information as it
requires to ensure that any member of the Pension Board or
person to be appointed to the Pension Board does not have a
conflict of interest. (NB: Being a member of the LGPS is not
seen as a conflict of interest.)

12. The key work of the Pension Board in the past year have related to
understanding changes in regulation, reviewing performance of the
administration of the fund and  to improve Fund governance and in ensuring
compliance with the Pension Regulator's code of practice by carrying out a
refresh to monitor improvements.  Pension Board have undertaken some
significant pieces over the past year including:

 Reviewed publications to fund members
 Carried out a refresh against Pension regulator's compliance checklist

and agreement of actions for improvement; and
 Monitoring the performance of the Pensions Administration by Surrey

County Council.

13. In understanding governance of the Fund the Pension Board have challenged
officers in specific areas of administration and governance arrangements
including:


a. Whether the fund has sufficient resources available,
b. Implementation and publicity of self service module for pensioners,

actives and deferred members
c. Data quality and improvement
d. GMP
e. GDPR
f. Cyber Security
g. ABS production
h. Member training
i. Review of Pension Committee papers and decision making process

45Page 59



G: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS and INDEPENDENT AUDIT 
REPORT 
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Pension Fund Statement of Accounts 
 
1. Council’s Responsibilities 
 

The Council is required to: 
 

 Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to 
ensure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of 
those affairs.  In this Council that officer is the Corporate Director of Finance;  

 Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources 
and safeguard its assets; and 

 Approve the Pension Fund of Accounts 
 

2. Corporate Director of Finance Responsibilities 
 

The Corporate Director of Finance is responsible for the preparation of the 
Pension Fund accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2018/19 ('the Code'). 

 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Corporate Director of Finance has: 

 
 Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
 Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and 
 Complied with the Local Authority Code. 

 
The Corporate Director of Finance has also: 

 
 Kept proper accounting records that were up to date; and 
 Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities. 
 
3. Corporate Director of Finance Approval of Pension Fund Accounts 
 

I certify that these accounts present a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund, in terms of the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in United Kingdom (‘the Code’), 
as at 31st March 2019 and its income and expenditure for the year then ended. 

 
 
 
 
Paul Whaymand 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
30 October 2019 
 

46Page 60



Pension Committee Certificate for the Approval of the Pension Fund Accounts 

I confirm that the Pension Fund accounts were considered by Pensions Committee 
at the meeting held on 17 July 2019. 

I confirm that this Annual Report was considered and approved for publications by 
Pensions Committee at the meeting held on 30 October 2019. 

Cllr Martin Goddard 
On behalf of London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund 
CHAIRMAN (PENSION COMMITTEE) 
30 October 2019 

47Page 61



Pension Fund Account 

105 

PENSION FUND ACCOUNT 

Note 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Contributions 4 43,176 42,829

Transfers In from other pension funds 5 1,487 34,362

44,663 77,191

Less: Benefits 6 (44,016) (42,003)

Less: Payments to and on account of 

leavers 7
(2,626) (3,297)

(46,642) (45,300)

Net additions/(withdrawals) from 

dealings with members (1,979) 31,891

Less: Management expenses 8 (8,833) (7,332)

Net additions/(withdrawals) including 

fund management expenses (10,812) 24,559

Return on investments

Investment income 9 22,732 15,289
Profit and losses on disposal of investments 

and changes in market value of investments 10A
42,843 15,834

Taxes On Income (83) (86)

Net return on investments 65,492 31,037

Net Increase in the fund during the year 54,680 55,596

Net Assets at start of year 1,012,303 956,707

Net Assets at end of year 1,066,983 1,012,303

NET ASSETS STATEMENT 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Investment Assets 10 1,066,215 1,010,428

Investment Liabilities 10 (89) (326)

Total net investments 1,066,126 1,010,102

Current Assets 11 1,424 2,480

Current Liabilities 12 (567) (279)

Net assets of the fund available to fund 

benefits at the end of the reporting 1,066,983 1,012,303

The Pension Fund Accounts summarise the transactions of the scheme and show the net assets at the disposal of 
members. They do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the period end. The actuarial 
present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed at note 18. 

Andrew Evans  
Deputy Director Corporate Finance 
31 July 2019 

48Page 62



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

106 

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE FUND

a. General

The London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund ("the fund") is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) and is administered by the London Borough of Hillingdon ("the administering body"). The Council is the 
reporting entity for this pension fund. The fund is a contributory defined benefits scheme established in accordance 
with statute to provide benefits to members and retired members of the London Borough of Hillingdon and Admitted 
and Scheduled bodies in the fund.  Benefits in respect of service from 1 April 2014 are based on career average 
revalued earnings (CARE) scheme.  Benefits in respect of past service up to 31 March 2014 are based on final salary. 
Pensions move in line with the Consumer Price index (CPI) annually. Benefits paid out include a pension payable to 
former members and their dependants, lump sum retirement benefits, payment of death benefits where death occurs 
in service or retirement, and early payment of benefits on medical grounds.    

The fund is governed by the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and administered in accordance with the following 
secondary legislation:     

 - Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended)  
 - Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 

(as amended) 
 - Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 

b. Membership

Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and employees are free to choose whether to join the scheme, remain in the 
scheme or make their own personal arrangements outside of the scheme. 

Organisations participating in the London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund include the following: 
 -  Scheduled bodies, which are automatically entitled to be members of the fund. 

   -  Admitted bodies, which participate in the fund under the terms of an admission agreement between the fund and 
the employer. Admitted bodies include voluntary, charitable and similar not-for-profit organisations, or private 
contractors undertaking a local authority function following outsourcing to the private sector.  

Employers who contribute to the fund in addition to London Borough of Hillingdon are: 

Admitted Bodies: 

Braybourne Facilities Pabulum – West Drayton Academy (Start date April 2018) 

 Bishop Ramsey Cleaners Busy Bee Cleaning – Skills Hub (Start date August 2018) 

Caterlink Heathrow Travel Care 

 Frays Academy Hillingdon & Ealing Citizens Advice 

Caterplus Kingdom Security 

Churchill Services - Mitie & McMillan Cleaning Mitie Facilities Management 

Cucina NHS - Michael Sobel House 

 Haydon Academy The Pantry 

 Ruislip High School  Whiteheath Infant 

Greenwich Leisure  Warrender School 

Hayward Services  Frithwood School 

 Ruislip Academy  Hillside School 

 Highfield Primary Taylor Shaw 

 Hillingdon Primary  Haydon Academy 

Scheduled Bodies: 

Middlesex Partnership Trust London Housing Consortium 

 Barnhill Academy Orchard Hill College Academy Trust 

 Belmore Academy  Skills HUB (formerly Hillingdon Tuition Centre) 

49Page 63



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

107 

 

Bishop Ramsey Academy   Central Payroll 

Bishopshalt Academy   Young Peoples Academy 

Charville Academy Park Federation Trust 

Douay Martyrs Academy   Central Payroll 

Eden Academy Trust   Cranford Park Academy 

  Moorcroft School   Lake Farm Park Federation 

  Pentland Field School   Wood End Academy 

  Grangewood School   West Drayton Academy 

Elliot Foundation Trust QED Academy Trust 

  Hillingdon Primary School   Coteford Academy 

  John Locke Academy   Queensmead Academy 

  Pinkwell School   Northwood Academy 

Guru Nanak Academy Trust Rosedale Hewens Academy Trust 

  Nanak Sar Primary School    Rosedale Primary & College 

  Guru Nanak Sikh Academy   Hewens Primary & College 

Global Academy   Brookside Primary School 

Harefield Academy Vanguard Learning Trust 

Harrow & Uxbridge College   Ruislip High School 

Haydon Academy   Ryefield Primary School 

Heathrow Aviation Engineering   Vyners Academy 

LBDS Frays Academy Trust Stockley Academy 

  Cowley St. Lawrence Academy Swakeleys Academy 

  Laurel Lane Academy Uxbridge Academy 

  St. Matthews Primary School William Byrd School 

  St. Martins Primary School Willows Academy 

 
As at 31 March 2019, there were 9,015 active members contributing to the fund, with 6,881 members in receipt of 
benefit and 9,643 members entitled to deferred benefits. 
 

London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

Number of employers with active members 65 62

Number of employees in scheme

London Borough of Hillingdon 5,613 5,401

Other employers 3,402 3,190

Total 9,015 8,591

Number of Pensioners

London Borough of Hillingdon 6,294 6,106

Other employers 587 347

Total 6,881 6,453

Deferred Pensioners

London Borough of Hillingdon 7,483 7,135

Other employers 2,160 1,375

Total 9,643 8,510  
 
c. Funding 
 
The fund is financed by contributions from the employers, pension fund members and by income from the fund's 
investments. The pension fund accounts do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits in the 
future. The contributions from the London Borough of Hillingdon and other participating employers are set through the 
triennial actuarial valuation at a rate sufficient to meet the long-term liabilities of the fund. 
 
 

50Page 64



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

108 

d. Investments

The pension fund investments are managed externally by fund managers: Adams Street Partners, AEW UK, JP 
Morgan Asset Management, Legal & General Investment Management, LGT Capital Partners, London CIV, 
Macquarie Investments, Permira LLP, and UBS Global Asset Management. In addition, there are two direct 
investments into pooled funds with M&G Investments. 

e. Governance

The fund is overseen by the Pensions Committee (comprised of Councillors) and the Pensions Board (comprised of 
an even number of employer and member representatives). The performance of the fund managers is monitored by 
the Pensions Committee and governance is overseen by the Pensions Board. Pensions Committee and Pensions 
Board consisted of the following members in 2018/19: 

Pensions Committee 

Cllr Phillip Corthorne (Chairman)  Cllr Tony Eginton 
Cllr Martin Goddard (Vice-Chairman) Cllr John Morse 
Cllr Teji Barnes 

Pensions Board 

Roger Hackett (Employee Representative) Zak Muneer (Employer Representative) 
Tony Noakes (Employee Representative) Hayley Seabrook (Employer Representative) 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The accounts have been compiled in accordance to the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2018/19, which is based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as amended for the 
public sector and underpinned by the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations. The accounts have been 
prepared on an accruals basis, except for transfer values which are accounted for on a cash basis, and summarise 
the fund transactions and report on the net assets available to pay pension benefits as at 31 March 2019. 

The accounts do not take into account obligations to pay benefits and pensions that fall due after the reporting date 
(31 March 2019). 

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Valuation of assets

- Market quoted investments: Equities are valued at bid market prices available on the final day of the accounting
period.

- Fixed income securities including short-term instruments are priced based on evaluated prices provided by
independent pricing services.

- For pooled funds, if bid prices are provided by the fund administrators then these are used, otherwise the Net
Asset Value is used.

- Private Equity is valued using the latest audited valuation from the Limited Partner/General Partner. This is
adjusted for any capital calls/distributions that have taken place since the date of the statement. Unquoted
investments for Private Placements and Infrastructure are priced using discounted cash flow methodology.

b. Foreign currency translation of assets and liabilities and forward foreign exchange contracts are converted into
sterling at the closing middle rates of exchange in the Net Assets Statement. Overseas income is converted at
rates of exchange ruling when remitted.

c. Acquisition costs of investments occur as brokerage commission when investments are purchased. They are
recorded in the cost figure on an accruals basis.

51Page 65



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

109 

d. Investment management expenses are recorded at cost when the fund managers/custodian invoice the fund on a
quarterly basis or provide a fee schedule deducted at source. Expenses are recorded on an accruals basis.

e. Administration expenses are paid when invoiced by third party providers through the administrating authority's
payment system and recharged to the Pension fund.

f. Interest on property developments - property is held in unit trusts for the pension fund, the return received is
calculated in accordance with the unit price at the Net Assets Statement date.

g. Contributions are accounted for in the period in which they fall due. Normal contributions received during the year
are in accordance with the rates and adjustments certificate.

h. Benefits are accounted for in the period in which they fall due. All benefits are calculated in accordance with the
statutory regulations in force at the relevant benefit date.

i. Transfers are accounted for on a cash basis, as the amount payable or receivable by the scheme is not
determined until payment is actually made and accepted by the recipient.  Group transfers are accounted for
under the agreement which they are made.

j. Cash and cash equivalents are held in the custody accounts by fund managers as agreed in the individual
Investment Management Agreements (IMA). Cash held is at the discretion of the manager but must not exceed
the stipulated permitted range in the IMA.

k. Investment Income - dividends from quoted securities are accrued when the securities are quoted ex-dividend.
Interest on cash deposits are accrued on daily basis.

Critical Judgements and Uncertainties 

l. Unquoted Alternative Investments - Fair values of alternative investments are highly subjective in nature. They are
inherently based on forward-looking estimates and judgements involving many factors. Unquoted alternative
investments are valued by investment managers using methods such as IFRS fair value principles, discounted
cash flow method and guidelines set out by the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Association
(IPEV), of which the British Venture Capital Association is a founding member. The value of alternative
investments as at 31 March 2019 was £115,893k (£114,879k at 31 March 2018).

m. Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty - The pension fund
accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the fund about the future or that are
otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other
relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be
materially different from the assumptions and estimates.

52Page 66



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

110 

Items where there is a significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 

Item Uncertainties

Private equity

Private equity investments are valued at fair value

in accordance with British Venture Capital

Association guidelines or commensurate

overseas equivalent. These investments are not

publicly listed and as such there is a degree of

estimation involved in the valuation.

Item Uncertainties

Infrastructure - 

Macquarie 

Infrastructure Real 

Assets

Infrastructure Valuation represents the fair value of 

investments held at 31 March 2018. The

valuations have been completed by MIRA

(Macquarie Infrastructure Real Assets) in

accordance with ASC 820-10 (Fair Value

Measurements), under which the fair value is

determined to be the price that would be received

upon sale of the investments in an orderly

transaction between market participants. These

investments are not publicly listed and as such

there is a degree of estimation involved in the

valuation.

Item Uncertainties

Private Finance - 

M&G

Private Finance investments are valued at par as

they are mostly floating rate notes tied to LIBOR.

Final valuation is undertaken by the analysts

employed by the fund manager as they are not

traded on the open market.

Item Uncertainties

Direct Lending - 

Permira Credit 

Solutions

Private Debt Investments are valued on a

quarterly basis and in accordance with

International Private Equity and Venture Capital

valuation guidelines. These investments are not

publicly listed and as such there is a degree of

estimation involved in the valuation.

Item Uncertainties

Actuarial present 

value of promised 

retirement benefits

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions

depends on a number of complex judgements

relating to the discount rates used, the rates at

which salaries are projected to increase, changes

in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected

returns on pension fund assets. A firm of

actuaries, Hymans Robertson, are engaged to

provide the fund with expert advice about the

assumptions to be applied.

The total private finance investments in the financial

statements are £7,956k. There is a risk that this

investment may be under or overstated in the

accounts. There are no openly traded market prices

available for this asset category.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions

The total Private Debt investments in the financial

statements are £61,434k. There is a risk that this

investment may be under or overstated in the

accounts. There are no openly traded market prices

available for this asset category.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions

The effects on the net pension liability of changes in

individual assumptions can be measured. For

instance, an increase in the discount rate

assumption would result in a decrease in pension

liability. An increase in assumed earnings would

increase the value of liabilities and an increase in

assumed life expectancy would increase the liability.

This would not effect the Fund Account or Net Asset

Statement, but would impact the Council Accounts.

Below are the details of the sensitivty analysis to the

method of assumptions used for year ended 31

March 2019 by the fund's actuaries.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions

The total private equity investments in the financial

statements are £17,329k. There is a risk that this

investment may be under or overstated in the

accounts.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions

The total infrastructure alternative investments in the

financial statements are £29,133k. There is a risk

that this investment may be under or overstated in

the accounts. There are no openly traded market

prices available for this asset category.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions

53Page 67



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

111 

 

Sensitivity to Unquoted Alternative Assets valuation and Pricing: Information on sensitivities of the valuation and 
pricing methodologies of these asset classes are disclosed in notes 14 and 16. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 

Sensitivity to the assumptions for 

the year ended 31 March 2019

Approximate % 

increase to 

liabilities

Approximate 

monetary amount 

(£m)

0.5% p.a. increase in the Pension 

Increase Rate
8% 137

0.5% p.a. increase in the Salary 

Increase Rate
1% 22

0.5% p.a. decrease in the Real 

Discount Rate
10% 169

 
 
The principal demographic assumption is the longevity assumption. For sensitivity purposes, it is estimated that a year 
increase in life expectancy would approximately increase the liabilities by around 3-5%. 
 
 
4. CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

By category £'000 £'000

Employees 9,846 9,920

Employers Contributions:

Normal 27,465 27,356

Deficit Funding 5,865 5,553

43,176 42,829  
 
Deficit Funding: At the actuarial valuation on 31 March 2016 the fund was 75% funded, with the remaining 25% deficit 
to be recovered over a period of 25 years. The new actuarial valuation results are due to be released in Q3, 2019. 
 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

By authority £'000 £'000

LB Hillingdon 30,267 30,938

Scheduled Bodies 12,509 11,484

Admitted Bodies 400 407

43,176 42,829  
 
 
5. TRANSFERS IN 
 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Individual transfers in from other 

schemes
1,487 3,313

Bulk Transfers In 0 31,049

1,487 34,362  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

54Page 68



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

112 

6. BENEFITS

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

By category £'000 £'000

Pensions (36,423) (33,721)

Commutations and Lump Sum 

Retirement Benefits
(6,750) (7,607)

Lump Sum Death Benefits (843) (675)

(44,016) (42,003)

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

By authority £'000 £'000

LB Hillingdon (40,973) (40,220)

Scheduled Bodies (2,579) (1,428)

Admitted Bodies (464) (355)

(44,016) (42,003)

7. PAYMENTS TO AND ON ACCOUNT OF LEAVERS

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Refunds to members leaving service (79) (62)

Individual transfers out to other 

schemes
(2,547) (3,235)

(2,626) (3,297)

8. MANAGEMENT EXPENSES

The administering authority incurred costs in managing the fund for the period ending 31 March 2019 as follows: 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Administrative Costs (840) (753)

Investment Management Expenses (7,897) (6,392)

Oversight and Governance (96) (187)

(8,833) (7,332)

8A. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT EXPENSES BREAKDOWN 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Management Fees (5,934) (5,291)

Performance Related Fees (1,405) (525)

Custody Fees (66) (56)

Transaction Costs (492) (520)

(7,897) (6,392)

55Page 69



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

113 

8B. TRANSACTION COSTS ANALYSIS BY ASSET CLASS 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Equities (28) (14)

Pooled Investments (464) (506)

(492) (520)

8C. EXTERNAL AUDIT COSTS 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Payable in Respect of External Audit (22) (20)

(22) (20)

External Audit costs are included in Oversight and Governance within Management Expenses 

9. INVESTMENT INCOME

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Income from Equities 6,254 5,294

Private Equity Income 0 11

Pooled Property Investments 4,713 4,838

Pooled Investments- Unit trusts and 

other managed funds
11,266 5,496

Interest on cash deposits 110 55

Other (for example from stock lending 

or underwriting)
389 (405)

22,732 15,289

56Page 70



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

114 

 

10. INVESTMENTS 
 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Investment Assets

Equities 128,054 128,306

Pooled investments 774,128 679,908

Pooled property investments 135,049 127,808

Private equity 17,329 20,091

Other Investment balances

Cash deposits 10,472 53,558

Investment income due 1,183 757

Total investment assets 1,066,215 1,010,428

Investment liabilities

Derivative contracts:

Purchase Settlements Outstanding (89) (326)

Total investment liabilities (89) (326)

Net investment assets 1,066,126 1,010,102  
 
 
10A. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES 
 

2018/19

Value 1 April 

2018

£'000

Purchases at 

cost 

£'000

Sales 

proceeds 

£'000

Change in 

market value 

£'000

Value 31 

March 2019

£'000

Equities 128,306 14,362 (11,745) (2,869) 128,054

Pooled Investments 679,908 490,071 (428,161) 32,310 774,128

Pooled Property Investments 127,808 5,109 (1,288) 3,421 135,049

Private Equity 20,091 201 (6,512) 3,549 17,329

956,113 509,743 (447,707) 36,411 1,054,560

Forward Foreign Exchange 0 0 0 0 0

956,113 509,743 (447,707) 36,411 1,054,560

Other investment balances

Cash Deposits 53,558 323 10,472

Investment Income Due 757 1,183

Adjustments to Market Value Changes 6,109

Total Investment Assets 1,010,428 42,843 1,066,215

2017/18

Value

1 April 2017 

£'000

Purchases at 

cost 

£'000

Sales 

proceeds 

£'000

Change in 

market value 

£'000

Value

31 March 

2018

£'000

Equities 123,992 257,437 (254,089) 966 128,306

Pooled Investments 672,256 197,317 (188,869) (796) 679,908

Pooled Property Investments 114,894 4,006 0 8,908 127,808

Private Equity 27,128 370 (9,669) 2,262 20,091

938,270 459,130 (452,627) 11,340 956,113

Forward Foreign Exchange 0 12 (19) 7 (0)

938,270 459,142 (452,646) 11,347 956,113

Other investment balances

Cash Deposits 16,276 (575) 53,558

Investment Income Due 644 757

Adjustments to Market Value Changes 5,062

Total Investment Assets 955,190 15,834 1,010,428  
 
 
 
 
 

57Page 71



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

115 

10B. ANALYSIS OF INVESTMENTS 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Equities

UK

Quoted 128,054 128,306

128,054 128,306

Pooled funds - additional analysis

UK

Fixed income unit trust - Quoted 82,707 56,312

Other Unit trusts - Quoted 249,858 233,063

Unitised insurance policies - Quoted 343,000 295,839

Limited liability partnerships - Unquoted 98,564 94,694

774,129 679,908

Pooled property Investments - Unquoted 135,049 127,808

Private equity - Unquoted 17,329 20,091

Cash deposits 10,472 53,558

Investment income due 1,183 757

164,032 202,214

Total investment assets 1,066,215 1,010,428

Investment liabilities

Purchase Settlements Outstanding (89) (326)

Total investment liabilities (89) (326)

Net investment assets 1,066,126 1,010,102

10C. INVESTMENTS ANALYSED BY FUND MANAGER 

Investment Assets and Liabilities by Fund Manager

Market Value Market Value

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Investments Managed by London CIV Pool

Legal & General Investment Management 343,000 32 295,839 29

London CIV  Asset Pool 249,858 24 233,020 23

592,858 56 528,859 52

Investments Managed Outside of London 

Adams Street Partners 12,654 1 13,565 1

AEW UK 58,927 6 54,361 5

JP Morgan Asset Management 82,707 8 56,312 6

LGT Capital Partners 4,675 0 6,526 1

M&G Investments 7,956 1 12,419 1

Macquarie Infrastructure 29,133 3 28,307 3

Permira Credit Solutions 61,434 6 53,968 5

UBS Global Asset Management (Equities) 131,174 12 133,133 13

UBS Global Asset Management (Property) 76,521 7 75,192 7

Other* 8,086 1 47,460 5

473,268 44 481,243 48

Total 1,066,126 100 1,010,102 100

Fund Manager % %

* Other includes pending trades, accrued income and cash held in custody accounts, independent of fund managers
not mandated to hold cash. 

There are no fund investments which constitute more than 5% of net assets of the scheme. 

58Page 72



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

116 

10D. STOCK LENDING 

The fund’s investment strategy sets the parameters for the fund’s stock-lending programme. At the year-end, the 
value of quoted equities on loan was £17,125k (31 March 2018: £31,377k). These equities continue to be recognised 
in the fund’s financial statements. 

Counterparty risk is managed through holding collateral at the fund’s custodian bank. At the year-end the fund held 
collateral (via the custodian) at fair value of £18,428k (31 March 2018: £34,288k) representing 108% of stock lent. 
Collateral consists of acceptable securities and government debt. 

Stock-lending commissions are remitted to the fund via the custodian. During the period the stock is on loan, the 
voting rights of the loaned stock pass to the borrower. There are no liabilities associated with the loaned assets. 

11. CURRENT ASSETS

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Debtors

  Employers' contributions due 68 50

     Employees' contributions due 17 16
Cash balances 1,339 2,414

1,424 2,480

12. CURRENT LIABILITIES

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Creditors

  Other local authorities (LB Hillingdon) (223) (8)

  Other entities (344) (271)

(567) (279)  

Note: Other entities balance is due to the pension fund from bodies external to the government e.g. fund managers. 

13. ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS

Market Value

31 March 2019 

Market Value

31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Prudential Assurance Company 5,086 5,546

5,086 5,546

Additional Voluntary Contributions paid by scheme members are not included in the accounts. The additional 
voluntary contributions are paid by scheme members directly to Prudential Assurance Company, who manage these 
monies independently of the fund and, as determined by the fund actuary, do not form part of the fund valuation.   

According to information provided by Prudential, £180k was received in additional voluntary contributions by 
members. Any transfer of additional contributions into the fund during the year are included in the employee 
contributions value as detailed in note 4. 

59Page 73



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

117 

 

14. FAIR VALUE - BASIS OF VALUATION 
 
The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is set out below. There has been no change in the 
valuation techniques used during the year. All assets have been valued using fair value techniques which represent 
the highest and best price available at the reporting date. 
 

Description of 

asset

Valuation 

hierarchy

Basis of 

valuation

Observable and 

unobservable 

inputs

Key sensitivities affecting the 

valuations provided

Market quoted 

investments
Level 1

Published bid 

market price ruling 

on the final day of 

accounting period.

Not required Not required

Quoted bonds Level 1

Fixed interest 

securities are 

valued at market 

value based on 

current yields.

Not required Not required

Pooled 

investments - 

overseas unit trusts 

and property funds

Level 2

Closing bid price 

where bid and offer 

prices are 

published. Closing 

single price where 

single price is 

published.

NAV-based pricing 

set on a forward 

pricing basis

Not required

Unquoted equity Level 3

Comparable 

valuation of similar 

companies in 

accordance with 

International 

Private Equity and 

Venture Capital 

Valuation 

Guidelines (2012)

EBITDA multiple 

Revenue multiple 

Discount for lack of 

marketability  

Control premium

Valuations could be affected by 

material events occurring 

between the date of the financial 

statements provided and the 

pension fund’s own reporting 

date, by changes to expected 

cashflows, and by any differences 

between audited and unaudited 

accounts.
 

 
Sensitivity of assets valued at level 3 
Having analysed historical data and current market trends, and consulted with fund managers, the fund has 
determined that the valuation methods described above are likely to be accurate to within the following ranges, and 
has set out below the consequent potential impact on the closing value of investments held at 31 March 2019. It is 
worth noting the sensitivity analysis below is just one of the possible changes to assets value due to the impact of 
factors affecting valuation methodology employed by the fund managers. Sensitivity being measured in this note 
differs from those in note 16 (other price risks). 
 

Valuation range

(+/-)

Market Value

31 March 2019

£'000

Value on 

Increase £'000

Value on 

Decrease £'000

Pooled investments - Limited Liability 

Partnerships (Infrastructure)
10% 29,133 30,839 25,232

Pooled investments - Limited Liability 

Partnerships (Private Credit)
10% 69,390 75,372 61,668

Private Equity 5% 17,329 17,528 15,858

Venture Capital 5% 41 43 39

Total 115,893 123,782 102,797  
 
 
 
 

60Page 74



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

118 

14A. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 

Asset and liability valuations have been classified into three levels, according to the quality and reliability of 
information used to determine fair values. Transfers between levels are recognised in the year in which they occur. 

Level 1 
Assets and liabilities at level 1 are those where the fair values are derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. Products classified as level 1 comprise quoted equities, quoted fixed 
securities, quoted index linked securities and unit trusts. 

Level 2 
Assets and liabilities at level 2 are those where quoted market prices are not available; for example, where an 
instrument is traded in a market that is not considered to be active, or where valuation techniques are used to 
determine fair value. 

Level 3  
Assets and liabilities at level 3 are those where at least one input that could have a significant effect on the 
instrument’s valuation is not based on observable market data. 

The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the pension fund grouped into levels 1 
to 3, based on the level at which the fair value is observable. 

Values as at 31 March 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial Assets at Fair Value through 

Profit and Loss
128,054 810,613 115,893 1,054,560

Loans and Receivables 11,655 0 0 11,655

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through 

Profit and Loss
(89) 0 0 (89)

Net investment Assets 139,620 810,613 115,893 1,066,126

Values as at 31 March 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial Assets at Fair Value through 

Profit and Loss
128,307 712,927 114,879 956,113

Loans and Receivables 54,315 0 0 54,315

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through 

Profit and Loss
(326) 0 0 (326)

Net investment Assets 182,296 712,927 114,879 1,010,102

Quoted Market 

Price

Using 

Observable 

Inputs

With 

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs

Quoted Market 

Price

Using 

Observable 

Inputs

With 

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs

14B. RESTATEMENT OF VALUATION HIERARCHIES 

There were no restatements of valuations between hierarchies in 2018/19. 

61Page 75



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

119 

14C. RECONCILIATION OF FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS WITHIN LEVEL 3 

Level 3 Assets Reconciliation 

Value 

1 April 2018

Purchases at 

cost

Sales 

proceeds

Unrealised 

gains/(losses)

Realised 

gains/(losses)

Value

31 March 2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Private Equity - Adams Street Partners, 

LGT Capital Partners & UBS
20,091 201 (6,509) 196 3,350 17,329

Private Finance - M&G 12,472 0 (3,886) (1,646) 1,016 7,956

Infrastructure - Maquarie 28,307 1,493 (4,193) 2,065 1,461 29,133

Venture Capital - UBS 41 0 0 0 0 41

Direct Lending - Permira 53,968 12,063 (5,568) (201) 1,172 61,434

114,879 13,757 (20,156) 414 6,999 115,893

Other investment balances 0 0 0

Total Investment Assets 114,879 6,999 115,893

There were no transfers in or out of level 3 assets in 2018/19. 

14D. LEVEL 3 PRICING HIERARCHY DISCLOSURES 

Quantitative Information on Significant unobservable inputs 

Private Equity: Adams Street & LGT capital 
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of privately held securities are: Revenue 
multiples, EBITDA multiple, net income multiple and discount for lack of marketability and potential bids. 

Private Finance: M&G 
The assets are mostly floating rate notes and held at par value. 

Infrastructure: Macquarie 
The following quantitative information are considered for significant unobservable inputs, in valuation of infrastructure 
assets. 

- The acquisition financial model is used as a base case. 
- Update for any material changes in economic, operational and financial assumptions. 
- Discount equity cash flows at the sum of the risk free rate and the appropriate risk premium (as determined 
by the implied risk premium at acquisition unless there is an inherent change in the riskiness of the underlying 
investments which may necessitate a change in the risk premium). 

Direct Lending: Permira 
The following key terms are confirmed as inputs for each yield analysis calculation: 

- Cash / PIK (Payment In Kind) margin 
- Frequency of interest payments 
- Commitment and settlement date 
- Contracted and expected maturity date 

Description of Valuation Process 

Private Equity 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using valuation 
techniques. Private equity investments for which market quotations are not readily available are valued at their fair 
values by the Board of Directors. Private equity valuations are usually generated by the managers of the underlying 
portfolio of investments on a quarterly basis and are actually received with a delay of at least one-to-two months after 
the quarter end date. As a result, the year-end net asset value predominantly consists of portfolio valuations provided 
by the investment managers of the underlying funds at a specific date, adjusted for subsequent capital calls and 
distributions. If the Board of Directors comes to the conclusion upon recommendation of the Investment Manager 
(after applying the above mentioned valuation methods), that the most recent valuation reported by the 
manager/administrator of a fund investment is materially misstated, it will make the necessary adjustments using the 
results of its own review and analysis. The valuation adjustments relate to events subsequent to the last capital 
account valuation statement received but based upon information provided by the investment manager and all other 

62Page 76



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

120 

available unobservable inputs. In estimating the fair value of fund investments, the Investment Manager in its valuation 
recommendation to the Board of Directors considers all appropriate and applicable factors. 

Private Finance: M&G 
These assets are floating rate and are held to maturity they are valued at par unless suffering from impairment. 
Impairments may be applied if an asset's credit rating deteriorates. 

Direct Lending: Permira 
- In each case, valuations are prepared in accordance with International Private Equity & Venture Capital 

Valuation (“IPEV”) Guidelines 
- All direct lending investments are valued on a mark-to-market basis at the date of valuation 
- Where an investment is considered illiquid (level 3), a yield analysis is performed to infer a fair market value 

for that investment. 
- Each valuation is reviewed to ensure: 

• Third party evidence to support pricing (such as Market data, broker quotes or Bloomberg pricing, 
as well as latest financials and capital structure; and any other adjustments to value) was 
evidenced; 

• That the valuations are prepared in a consistent manner with previous valuations and that any 
changes in methodology or valuation are clearly explained; and valuations are derived using 
methodology consistent with the IPEV guidelines. 

Infrastructure: Macquarie 
Valuations are calculated by the individual asset teams on a quarterly basis. The valuation process follows the British 
Venture Capital Association (BVCA) guidelines, and is compliant with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). The most generally accepted methodology of valuing infrastructure assets is by way of a discounted cash flow 
(DCF) analysis. 

DCF-Based Market Valuation Process 
Financial Model 
The acquisition financial models of all of the Fund’s underlying investments will be externally audited prior to financial 
close. They will be used as the initial base financial models for the DCF analysis. 

Update for Economic, Operational and Financial Assumptions 
The economic assumptions in the financial models are adjusted every three months in order to reflect current market 
conditions. The main economic variables relate to interest rates, exchange rates and inflation. 

The initial operational assumptions in each of the financial models are the acquisition forecasts. Any historical 
information (e.g. distributions received in an intervening period and year to date performance) will be updated within 
the model. In relation to forward-looking assumptions, the acquisition assumptions will continue to be used unless 
there is a material inconsistency between these assumptions and: 

- The actual operational results to date 
- The revised forecasts provided by management or approved by the board. 

The financial assumptions in the model (e.g. cost of debt and capital structure) are also updated to reflect the actual 
debt put into place, current base rates and any material change in outlook with regards to future leverage. 

Discount Rate 
Equity cash flows are discounted at the acquisition internal rate of return, which is adjusted for changes in the relevant 
risk free rate. The acquisition internal rate of return is the return which is forecast under the acquisition case and price, 
reflecting the risks inherent in each of the investments. The difference between the acquisition internal rate of return 
and the risk free rate at the date of acquisition equates to the risk premium, which is the risk compensation to equity 
holders. 

Most of the Fund’s assets are likely to see some decrease in the risk premium as assets are de-risked following 
acquisition. Such projects may have a changing risk “life-cycle”, whereby the risk changes as the asset matures. In 
addition, if there is a change in the inherent risk of an investment, then the risk premium may need to be reconsidered. 

63Page 77



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

121 

Narrative and Quantitative description of sensitivity to changes in valuation methods and market conditions: 

Private Equity 
Market valuation method applied to investments is sensitive to four main components: 
i) changes in actual market prices; 
ii) interest rate risk;
iii) foreign currency movements; and
iv) other price risks

Private Finance (M&G) 
The only possible sensitivity associated with private finance valuations and methodology is credit rating. This may 
result in an analyst impairing an asset if there is a change in the asset's credit rating. 

Infrastructure: Macquarie 
The economic assumptions in the financial models are adjusted every three months in order to reflect current market 
conditions. The main economic variables relate to interest rates, exchange rates and inflation. 

Direct Lending: Permira 
The yield analysis methodology used to value the level 3 assets are sensitive to the following inputs: 

- EURIBOR swap rates (up to 7 years) 
- LIBOR swap rates (up to 7 years) 
- ELLI (3 year discounted spread data) 

These inputs are sourced directly from Bloomberg feeds or independently from Duff & Phelps (ELLI data) relevant to 
each period end date. 

These inputs impact on: (1) the implied IRR calculations at the period end valuation date; (2) the forecast cash and/or 
PIK yields that track LIBOR or EURIBOR; and (3) ultimately the implied asset price calculated from these inputs as the 
period end to determine the valuation price. 

15. CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table analyses the carrying amounts of financial instruments by category and net assets statement 
heading. No financial instruments were reclassified during the accounting period. 

Designated 

as fair value 

through 

P&L

Loans & 

Receivables

Financial 

Liabilities at 

Amortised 

Cost

Total

Designated 

as fair value 

through 

P&L

Loans & 

Receivables

Financial 

Liabilities at 

Amortised 

Cost

Total

31 March

2019

31 March

2019

31 March

2019

31 March

2019

31 March

2018

31 March

2018

31 March

2018

31 March

2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial Assets

Equities 128,054 0 0 128,054 128,306 0 0 128,306

Pooled Investments 774,128 0 0 774,128 679,908 0 0 679,908

Pooled property investments 135,049 0 0 135,049 127,808 0 0 127,808

Private Equity 17,329 0 0 17,329 20,091 0 0 20,091

Cash 0 10,472 0 10,472 0 53,558 0 53,558

Other Investment balances 0 1,183 0 1,183 0 757 0 757

1,054,560 11,655 0 1,066,215 956,112 54,315 0 1,010,428

Financial Liabilities

Purchase Settlements 

Outstanding
0 0 (89) (89) 0 0 (326) (326)

0 0 (89) (89) 0 0 (326) (326)

Total 1,054,560 11,655 (89) 1,066,126 956,112 54,315 (326) 1,010,102

64Page 78



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

122 

 

16. NATURE & EXTENT OF EXPOSURE TO RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Risk and Risk Management 
The fund's primary long-term risk is that the fund's assets will fall short of its liabilities. Therefore the aim of investment 
risk management is to minimise the risk of an overall reduction in the value of the fund and to maximise the 
opportunity for gains across the whole fund portfolio. The fund achieves this through asset diversification to reduce 
exposure to market risk (price risk, currency and interest rate risks) and credit risk to an acceptable level. In addition, 
the fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet the fund's forecast cash flows. 
 
Responsibility for the fund's risk management strategy rests with the Pensions Committee. Risk management policies 
are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Council's pensions operations. Policies are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in activity and in market conditions. 
 
Market risk 
The risk that the fair value of cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices. Market 
risk reflects interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risks. To mitigate against market risk the pension fund 
invests in a diversified pool of assets to ensure a reasonable balance between different categories. The management 
of the assets are placed with a number of fund managers with different performance targets and investment 
strategies. Each fund manager is expected to maintain a diversified portfolio in each asset class. Risks associated 
with the strategy and investment returns are included as part of the quarterly reporting to Pensions Committee where 
they are monitored and reviewed. 
 
Other price risk 
Other price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk), whether those changes are 
caused by factors specific to the individual instruments or its issuer, or factors affecting all such instruments in the 
market. The fund is exposed to share and derivative price risk. This arises from investments held by the fund for which 
the future price is uncertain. All securities investments present a risk of loss of capital. Except for shares sold short, 
the maximum risk resulting from financial instruments is determined by the fair value of the financial instruments. The 
potential losses from shares sold short are unlimited. The fund's investment managers mitigate this price risk through 
diversification and the selection of securities and other financial instruments is monitored by the Council to ensure it is 
within limits specified in the fund Investment Strategy Statement. 
 
Other price risk - Sensitivity Analysis 
Following analysis of historical data and expected investment return movement during the financial year, the fund has 
determined that the following potential change in market price risk are reasonably possible for the relevant reporting 
periods. 
 
Potential price changes are determined based on the observed historical volatility of asset class returns. 'Riskier' 
assets such as equities will display greater potential volatility than bonds as an example, so the overall outcome will 
depend largely on fund asset allocations. The potential volatilities are consistent with one standard deviation 
movement of the change in value of assets over the last three years. This can then be applied to period end asset 
mix. 
 
Had the market price of the fund investments increased or decreased in line with the percentage change below, the 
change in the net assets available to pay benefits in the market price would have been as follows (the prior year 
comparator is shown below). 
 

Asset Type Value as at               

31 March 2019
Percentage Change Value on Increase Value on Decrease

£'000 % £'000 £'000

Global Equity 464,052 9.60% 508,601 419,503 

UK Equity 128,054 9.60% 140,347 115,760 

Bonds 211,512 6.70% 225,683 197,341 

Alternatives 115,893 3.70% 120,181 111,605 

Property 135,049 5.20% 142,072 128,026 

Total 1,054,560 1,136,884 972,236  
 
Note: Bonds valuation in the table above includes pooled fund held bonds. 
 

65Page 79



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

123 

Asset Type Value as at

31 March 2018
Percentage Change Value on Increase Value on Decrease

£'000 % £'000 £'000

Global Equity 344,271 8.40% 373,190 315,352

UK Equity 214,794 10.00% 236,273 193,315

Bonds 154,478 4.30% 161,121 147,835

Alternatives 114,879 5.10% 120,738 109,020

Property 127,785 5.40% 134,685 120,885

Total 956,207 1,026,007 886,407
Note: changes in asset values as at 31 March 2018 restated by asset type for comparative reason based on the current analysis 
provided by PIRC, our fund’s analytics information provider. 

Interest Rate Risk - The risk to which the pension fund is exposed to changes in interest rates and relates to its 
holdings in bonds and cash. Based on interest received on fixed interest securities, cash balances and cash and cash 
equivalents. 

The fund's direct exposure to interest rate movements as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 is set out below. 
These disclosures present interest rate risk based on the underlying financial assets at fair value. 

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis 
The fund recognises that interest rates can vary and can affect both income to the fund and the value of net assets 
available to pay benefits. A 100 basis points (1%) movement in interest rates is consistent with the level of sensitivity 
applied as part of the fund's risk management strategy. 

The analysis that follows assumes that all other variables, in particular exchange rates remain constant, and shows 
the effect in the year on the net assets available to pay benefits of a +/- 1% change in interest rates. 

Value as at     

31 March 2019

Potential 

movement on 

1% change in 

interest rates

Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

Assets exposed to income rate risks £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash balances 10,472 105 10,577 10,367

Bonds - pooled funds 211,512 2,115 213,627 209,397

Total change in assets available 221,984 2,220 224,204 219,764

Value as at     

31 March 2018

Potential 

movement on 

1% change in 

interest rates

Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

Assets exposed to income rate risks £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash balances 53,558 535 54,093 53,023

Bonds - pooled funds 154,478 1,545 156,023 152,933

Total change in assets available 208,036 2,080 210,116 205,956

Currency Risk - The risk to which the pension fund is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. 
The Pension Fund has the ability to set up a passive currency hedge where these risks are perceived to be adverse. 
As at 31 March 2019 the Fund had no currency hedge in place for those managers who do not hedge their own 
portfolios. The following table summarises the fund's currency exposure as at 31 March 2019 and as at the previous 
period ending 31 March 2018. 

Currency exposure by asset type 
Asset Value

31 March 2019

Asset Value

31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Overseas Managed Funds 214,196 111,250

Private Equity/Infrastructure 46,462 48,398

260,658 159,648

66Page 80



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

124 

Currency risk sensitivity analysis 
Following analysis of historical data in consultation with PIRC Ltd, the funds data provider, the fund considers the 
likely volatility associated with foreign exchange rate movements to be 7.30%, based on the data provided by PIRC. A 
7.30% fluctuation in the currency is considered reasonable based on PIRC's analysis of historical movements in 
month end exchange rates over a rolling twelve month period. This analysis assumes that all variables, in particular 
interest rates, remain constant. Mangers that hedge against currency risk are not included in this sensitivity analysis. 
An 7.30% strengthening/weakening of the pound against various currencies in which the fund holds investments 
would increase/decrease the net assets available to pay benefits as follows: 

Assets exposed to currency risk Asset Value 

31 March 2019

Potential market 

movement
Value on increase

Value on 

decrease

7.30%

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Overseas Managed Funds 214,196 15,636 229,832 198,560

Private Equity/Infrastructure 46,462 3,392 49,854 43,070

260,658 19,028 279,686 241,631

Assets exposed to currency risk Asset Value 

31 March 2018

Potential market 

movement
Value on increase

Value on 

decrease

8.70%

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Overseas Managed Funds 111,250 9,679 120,929 101,571

Private Equity/Infrastructure 48,398 4,211 52,609 44,187

159,648 13,890 173,538 145,758

Credit Risk - Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction or a financial instrument will fail to 
discharge an obligation and cause the fund to incur a financial loss. The market values of investments generally reflect 
an assessment of credit in their pricing and consequently the risk of loss is implicitly provided for in the carrying value 
of the fund’s financial assets and liabilities. 

The pension fund's entire investment portfolio is exposed to some form of credit risk, with the exception of the 
derivative position, where the risk equates to the net market value of a positive derivative position. Credit risk can be 
minimised through careful selection of high quality counterparties, brokers and financial institutions.  The pension fund 
is also exposed to credit risk through Securities Lending, Forward Currency Contracts and its daily treasury activities. 
The Securities Lending programme is run by the fund's custodian Northern Trust who assign four different risk 
management oversight committees to control counterparty risk, collateral risk and the overall securities lending 
programme. The minimum level of collateral for securities on loan is 102%, however more collateral may be required 
depending on the type of transaction. To further mitigate risks, the collateral held on behalf of the pension fund is ring 
fenced from Northern Trust. Securities lending is capped by investment regulations and statutory limits are in place to 
ensure no more than 25% of eligible assets can be on loan at any one time. 

The prime objective of the pension fund treasury management activity is the security of principal sums invested. As 
such it will take a prudent approach to organisations employed as the banker and deposit taker. The pension fund will 
ensure it has adequate but not excessive cash resources in order to meet its objectives. The bank accounts are held 
with Lloyds Plc, which holds an S&P long-term credit rating of A.  Deposits are placed in the AAAf rated Northern 
Trust Money Market Fund which is ring fenced from the administering company. Credit ratings, market indicators and 
media coverage are monitored to ensure credit worthiness is maintained. The fund's cash holding under its treasury 
management arrangements at 31 March 2019 was £11,811k (31 March 2018: £55,972k) and this was held with the 
following institutions 

Summary
Rating

Balances as at 

31 March 2019
Rating

Balances as at 

31 March 2018

S&P £'000 S&P £'000

Money market funds

Northern Trust AAAf S1+ 10,672 AAAf S1+ 53,758

Bank current accounts

Lloyds A+ 1,139 A 2,214

Total 11,811 55,972

67Page 81



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

125 

Liquidity Risk - The risk the pension fund will have difficulties in paying its financial obligations when they fall due. 

The pension fund holds a working cash balance in its own bank accounts with Lloyds as well as Money Market Funds 
to which it has instant access to cover the payment of benefits and other lump sum payments (£1,339k). At an 
investment level the fund holds a large proportion of assets in instruments which can be liquidated at short notice, 
normally three working days. As at the 31 March 2019 these assets totalled £805,876k, with a further £10,672k held in 
cash in the Custody accounts at Northern Trust. 

Refinancing risk 

The key risk is that the fund will be bound to replenish a significant proportion of its financial instruments at a time of 
unfavourable interest rates. The fund does not have any financial instruments that have a refinancing risk as part of its 
investment strategy. 

17. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

In line with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, the fund’s actuary undertakes a revaluation 
every three years for the purpose of setting employer contribution rates for the forthcoming triennial period. The last 
valuation took place as at 31 March 2016 setting rates for the period April 2017 to March 2020. The next triennial 
valuation will take place as at 31 March 2019. 

In line with the triennial valuation the fund updates it Funding Strategy Statement every three years.  The key 
elements of the funding strategy are: 

1. to ensure the long-term solvency of the fund, i.e. that sufficient funds are available to meet all pension
liabilities as they fall due for payment

2. to ensure that employer contribution rates are as stable as possible
3. to minimise the long-term cost of the scheme by recognising the link between assets and liabilities and

adopting an investment strategy that balances risk and return
4. to reflect the different characteristics of employing bodies in determining contribution rates where it is

reasonable to do so
5. to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and ultimately to the Council Tax payer

from an employer defaulting on its pension obligations

The funding level is the ratio of assets to liabilities at the valuation date. A funding level of less/more than 100% 
implies that there is a deficit/surplus in the Fund at the valuation date against the funding target. Funding plans are set 
to eliminate any deficit (or surplus) over the set time horizon and therefore get back to a funding level of 100%. To do 
so, additional contributions may be required to be paid into the Fund; these contributions are known as the “secondary 
rate”. 

At the 2016 actuarial valuation, the fund was assessed as 75% funded (72% at the March 2013 valuation). This 
corresponded to a deficit of £269m (2013 valuation: £266m) at that time. The slight improvement in funding position 
between 2013 and 2016 is mainly due to investment performance over the inter-valuation period. The liabilities have 
also increased due to a reduction in the future expected investment return, although this has been partially been offset 
by lower than expected pay and benefit growth (both over the inter-valuation period and forecast to continue into the 
long term). 

Contribution rates 

The table below summarises the whole fund Primary and Secondary Contribution rates at this triennial valuation. 
These rates are the payroll weighted average of the underlying individual employer primary and the total of employer 
secondary rates expressed as a monetary amount, calculated in accordance with the Regulations and CIPFA 
guidance. 

Primary Rate (%)

1 April 2017 - 31 March 2020 2019/20

19.50% £6,938,000

2017/18 2018/19

£5,296,000 £5,537,000

Secondary Rate (£)

The Primary rate above includes an allowance for administration expenses of 0.7% of pay. The employee average 
contribution rate is 6.4% of pay. 

68Page 82



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

126 

 

At the previous formal valuation at 31 March 2016, a different regulatory regime was in force. Therefore a contribution 
rate that is directly comparable to the rates above is not provided. 
 
The valuation of the fund has been undertaken using a risk based approach and this approach adopted recognises 
the uncertainties and risks posed to funding and follows the process outlined below. 
 
Step 1: The Fund sets a funding target (or funding basis) which defines the target amount of assets to be held to meet 
the future cash flows. The assumptions underlying the funding target are discussed further in the next section. A 
measurement is made at the valuation date to compare the assets held with the funding target. 
 
Step 2: The Fund sets the time horizon over which the funding target is to be reached. 
 
Step 3: The Fund sets contributions that give a sufficiently high likelihood of meeting the funding target over the set 
time horizon. 
 
Assumptions 
 
Due to the long term nature of the Fund, assumptions about the future are required to place a value of the benefits 
earned to date (past service) and the cost of benefits that will be earned in the future (future service). Assumptions fall 
into two categories when projecting and placing a value on the future benefit payments and accrual – financial and 
demographic. 
 
Financial Assumptions 
 
A summary of the financial assumptions underpinning the target funding basis and adopted during the assessment of 
the liabilities of the Fund as at 31 March 2016 (alongside those adopted at the previous valuation for comparison) are 
shown below. 
 

Description 31 March 2016 31 March 2013

Funding Basis Discount Rate 4.0% 4.6%

Benefit Increases (CPI) 2.1% 2.5%

Salaries Increases 2.6% 3.3%  
 
Demographic Assumptions 
 
The main demographic assumption to which the valuation results are most sensitive is that relating to the longevity of 
the Fund’s members. For this valuation, the Fund has adopted assumptions which give the following sample average 
future life expectancies for members: 
 

Description 31 March 2016 31 March 2013

Male

Pensioners 22.6 years 22.7 years

Non- Pensioners 24.0 years 24.3 years

Female

Pensioners 24.6 years 24.7 years

Non- Pensioners 26.5 years 26.9 years  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

69Page 83



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

127 

18. ACTUARIAL PRESENT VALUE OF PROMISED RETIREMENT BENEFITS

In addition to the triennial funding valuation, the fund’s actuary also undertakes a valuation of the pension fund 
liabilities, on an IAS 19 basis, every year using the same base data as the funding valuation rolled forward to the 
current financial year taking account of changes in membership numbers and updating assumptions to the current 
year. This valuation is not carried out on the same basis as that used for setting fund contribution rates and the fund 
accounts do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits in the future. 

Description 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

% per annum % per annum

Inflation /Pensions Increase Rate 2.5% 2.4%

Salary Increase Rate 2.9% 2.8%

Discount Rate 2.4% 2.6%

An IAS 26 valuation was carried out for the fund as at 31 March 2019 by Hymans Robertson with the following results: 

Description 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£m £m

Present Value of Promised 

Retirement Benefits
1,703* 1,548

Active Members 753 624

Deferred Members 380 350

Pensioners 570 574
*Incorporates an allowance for the potential increase in liabilities arising from the McCloud judgement and GMP indexation 

These figures are presented for the purposes of IAS 26 only. They are not relevant for the calculations undertaken for
funding purposes or other statutory purposes under UK pension legislation. This item is not recognised in the Net
Asset Statement, hence is considered not to be in opposition to the assertion included in the Net Asset Statement
surrounding future liabilities of the fund.

The promised retirement benefits at 31 March 2019 have been projected using a roll forward approximation from the
latest formal funding valuation as at 31 March 2016. The above figures include both vested and non-vested benefits,
although the latter is assumed to have a negligible value.

Following pension fund related legal rulings, the Fund’s actuary has assessed the likely impact to pension liabilities
which reveals an increase in the present value of promised retirement benefits. There is no impact to the Pension
Fund financial statements, however the actuarial present value above has been amended with the revised amount.

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

It is required under IAS 24 "Related Party Disclosures" that material transactions with related parties which are not 
disclosed elsewhere should be included in a note to the financial statements. The London Borough of Hillingdon is a 
related party to the pension fund. The revenue contributions the Council has made into the pension fund are set out in 
note 4 to the Pension Fund accounts. No senior officer or Pension Committee member had any interest with any 
related parties to the pension fund. 

Governance 
There are three members of the Pension Fund Committee who are deferred or retired members of the pension fund. 
Cllr Philip Corthorne (Chairman), a deferred member; Cllr Tony Eginton, a retired member and Cllr Teji Barnes, a 
deferred member. Each member is required to declare their interest at each meeting. 

70Page 84



Notes to the Pension Fund Account 

128 

Key Management Personnel 

Two employees of the London Borough of Hillingdon held key positions in the financial management of the London 
Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund. These employees are the Section 151 officer and the Head of Pensions, 
Treasury & Statutory Accounts. This note highlights the funding by the pension fund for key officers and pension 
benefits of those staff accrued in year. 

Short term benefits 74 82

Post employment benefits 49 84

123 166

31 March 2019

£'000

31 March 2018

£'000

The Pensions Committee of the London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund ("the Fund") has prepared an Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS) in accordance with the DCLG Guidance on Preparing and Maintaining an Investment 
Strategy Statement. 

As set out in the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016, the 
Pensions Committee will review this Statement from time to time, but at least every three years, and revise it as 
necessary. Also, in the event of a significant change, changes will be reflected within three months of the change 
occurring. The current version of the ISS is available on the pension fund pages of the Council's website: 
www.hillingdon.gov.uk and included in the Annual Report. 

20. BULK TRANSFER

There were no bulk transfers in 2018-19. There was a bulk transfer of £31,049k into the fund from Harrow College as 
a result of a merger with Uxbridge College during the 2018-19 financial year. 

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

Outstanding capital commitments (investments) as at 31 March 2019 totalled £10,305k (£23,859k at 31 March 2018). 

These commitments relate to outstanding call payments due on unquoted limited partnership funds held in the Private 
Equity, Infrastructure and Credit Solutions (Permira) parts of the portfolio. The amounts called by these funds vary 
both in size and timing over a period of up to six years from the date of each original commitment. It is anticipated all 
outstanding commitments will be called by December 2019. 

There were no contingent liabilities outstanding for the fund at the end of the financial year 2018/19. 

22. CONTINGENT ASSETS

Two admitted body employers in the London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund hold insurance bonds to guard 
against the possibility of being unable to meet their pension obligations. These bonds are drawn in favour of the 
pension fund and payment will only be triggered in event of employer default. 

23. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Following a legal ruling regarding age discrimination arising from pension scheme transition arrangements; court of 

appeal judgements were made affecting judges and firefighters pensions. The UK Government requested leave to 

appeal to the Supreme Court but this was denied at the end of June 2019. On the 15th July 2019, the UK Government 

issued a statement confirming that the ruling would apply to public sector pensions. The Fund’s actuary has assessed 

the likely impact to pension liabilities which reveal an increase in the present value of promised retirement benefits. 

There is no impact to the Pension Fund financial statements as a result of this judgement, however the actuarial 

present value in note 18 has been amended to the revised higher figure. 

71Page 85



H. ASSET POOLS (LCIV) 

In 2015 the Department of Housing Communities and Local Government (now 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government) issued the LGPS: 
Investment Reform Criteria and Guidance which set out how the government 
expected the LGPS to establish a number of pools to deliver: 

 Benefits of scale;
 Strong governance and decision making;
 Reduced costs and excellent value for money; and
 Improved capacity to invest in infrastructure.

All administering authorities were invited to submit proposals for pooling of their 
investments by February 2016 including a commitment to pooling and a description 
of their progress towards formalising their arrangements with other authorities.    

Hillingdon made the decision at Council in February 2016 to join the London CIV 
(LCIV), to provide the Fund with a mechanism to pool investments with other London 
Boroughs.   

Initial share capital investment of £150k was made on joining the pool in February 
2016 as well as £50k for Hillingdon's share of set up costs.  In addition to set up 
costs the fund pay an annual charge to support the work of the LCIV which is 
currently £25k.   

Hillingdon Council delegated functions necessary for the proper functioning of the 
London CIV company, including the effective oversight of the ACS Operator to the 
Joint Committee (now the Shareholder Committee). The Chairman of Pensions 
Committee was appointed to have power to act for the Council in exercising its rights 
as a shareholder at any general meetings of the LCIV Company. 

Delegated authority was given to the Chairman of Pensions Committee to make 
urgent investment decisions. This delegated authority was to enable the transition of 
existing mandates into the LCIV once the Fund’s existing managers have reached a 
stage to be included in the LCIV pool.  This power was approved to include signing 
contracts, transferring funds to ensure the relevant sub funds within the LCIV pool 
would be launched on time. This power was delegated purely to transition existing 
mandates with existing fund managers to the equivalent with the LCIV and not for 
any wider investment decision which remains with the Pensions Committee. 

In creation of the pools, the individual fund through the Pension Committee remain 
responsible for the Fund's Investment Strategy and for asset allocation; however, 
manager selection to meet the strategic asset allocation is managed by the pool. In 
December 2015 the London CIV opened its first sub-fund.  

At the start of 2018/19 the London CIV had the following sub funds available for 
Hillingdon to invest.  

72Page 86



Fund Name Manager Launch Date 

UK Equities 

LCIV MJ UK Equity Fund Majedie Asset Management 18-May-17 

Global Equities 

LCIV EP Income Equity Fund  Epoch Investment Partners 08-Nov-17 

LCIV Global Alpha Growth Fund Baillie Gifford & Co 11-Apr-16 

LCIV Global Equity Alpha Fund  
Allianz Global Investors 
GMBH

02-Dec-15 

LCIV LV Global Equity Fund  Longview Partners 17-Jul-17 

LCIV NW Global Equity Fund  
Newton Investment 
Management 

22-May-17 

Emerging Market Equities 

LCIV HN Emerging Market Equity 
Fund  

Henderson Global Investors 
Limited 

11-Jan-18 

Multi-Asset 

LCIV Diversified Growth Fund Baillie Gifford & Co 15-Feb-16 

LCIV NW Real Return Fund 
Newton Investment 
Management 

16-Dec-16 

LCIV PY Global Total Return 
Fund  

Pyrford International Limited 
17-Jun-16 

LCIV RF Absolute Return Fund Ruffer LLP 21-Jun-16 

In addition, the pool enabled access to Legal and General Investment Management 
and Blackrock passive investment products, under negotiated fees, to sit alongside 
the ACS structure with governance of the assets from the pool.  

The Fund had total LCIV holdings of £529m at 31 March 2018 accounting for 52.3% 
of total assets of the Pension Fund. Holdings within the pool were within Ruffer (Multi 
Asset, Absolute Return Fund) and Epoch (Global Equity Income Fund) on the LCIV 
platform and LGIM Passive mandate. 

As at the 31 March 2019 the London CIV had the following sub funds available for 
Hillingdon to invest 

Fund Name Manager Launch Date 

UK Equities 

LCIV MJ UK Equity Fund Majedie Asset Management 18-May-17 

Global Equities 

73Page 87



LCIV EP Income Equity Fund  Epoch Investment Partners 08-Nov-17 

LCIV Global Alpha Growth Fund Baillie Gifford & Co 11-Apr-16 

LCIV Global Equity Alpha Fund  
Allianz Global Investors 
GMBH

02-Dec-15 

LCIV LV Global Equity Fund  Longview Partners 17-Jul-17 

LCIV NW Global Equity Fund  
Newton Investment 
Management 

22-May-17 

LCIV RBC Sustainable Equity 
Fund  

RBC Global Asset 
Management (UK) Limited 

18-Apr-18 

Emerging Market Equities 

LCIV HN Emerging Market Equity 
Fund  

Henderson Global Investors 
Limited 

11-Jan-18 

Multi-Asset 

LCIV Diversified Growth Fund Baillie Gifford & Co 15-Feb-16 

LCIV NW Real Return Fund 
Newton Investment 
Management 

16-Dec-16 

LCIV PY Global Total Return 
Fund  

Pyrford International Limited 
17-Jun-16 

LCIV RF Absolute Return Fund Ruffer LLP 21-Jun-16 

Fixed Income 

LCIV Global Bonds Fund London CIV 30-Nov-18 
LCIV MAC Fund CQS 31-May-18 

In addition, the pool enabled access to Legal and General Investment Management 
and Blackrock passive investment products, under negotiated fees, to sit alongside 
the ACS structure with governance of the assets from the pool.  

The Fund had total LCIV holdings of £593m at 31 March 2019, accounting for almost 
56% of total assets of the Pension Fund. This was invested in Ruffer (Multi Asset) 
and Epoch (Global Equity) on the LCIV platform and LGIM Passive. 

Pooled assets 
Sub Fund Value 

£’000 
31/03/2018 

Opening 
Proportion 

% 

Value 
£’000 

31/03/2019 

Closing 
Proportion 

% 
LCIV EP Income Equity 
Fund 

129,750 12.8 147,156 13.85

LCIV RF Absolute Return 
Fund 

103,270 10.2 102,701 9.67

LGIM Passive Equities 197,671 19.6 214,196 20.16
LGIM Passive Bonds 98,168 9.7 128,805 12.13

528,859 52 592,858 56

74Page 88



Post pool reporting  

The costs set out in the table below represents the initial costs of creating the 
London CIV (LCIV) pool as advised by the LCIV, which the Hillingdon fund is a 
member. 

LONDON CIV WHOLE POOL 
SET UP COSTS 

Total Direct 
Costs 

£000s

Set Up Costs:  

Recruitment 200

Legal 700

Procurement 200

Other support costs eg IT, 
accommodation 

200 

Staff costs 400 

TOTAL SET UP COSTS 1,700 

LB Hillingdon Annual Pool Set up Costs Breakdown and Fee Savings 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Cumulative 
to date

 Set Up Costs £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Development Charge 75 65 140

Annual Service 
Charge including 
establishment of pool 

50 25 25 25 125

Share Capital Costs 150 0 0 0 150

Transition Costs 0 32 132 0 164

Fee Savings 0 -84 -167 -181 -432

Net (Savings)/Cost 
Realised 

200 -27 65 -91 147

75Page 89



The figures in the table above represents the service and development costs 
charges levied on the fund as a member of the London CIV pool. Transition costs 
refer to costs incurred in transfer of assets currently managed directly by the London 
CIV and passive portfolios negotiated by the CIV with LGIM. Fee savings represents 
the current costs of investments managed within the pool and LGIM compared with 
pre-pooling charges based on current asset valuations. 

As at the end of 2018/19 the fund shows a net cost overall from pooling, however if 
share capital is excluded as it is still a fund asset then the fund has made a minor 
saving. As fund manager fees of the sub funds Hillingdon invests currently, are lower 
than before pooling, over time, the fund should show a cumulative saving in the long 
term. 

Ongoing Investment Management Fees 

The table below shows the fees paid to managers alongside the combined returns of 
those managers and the net impact (i.e. taking into account both fees and 
performance) on the value of Fund assets. 

Asset Pool Non-Asset Pool Fund 
Total

Direct Indirect Total Direct Indirect Total
£'00 £'000s £'000 £'000 £'000s £'000 £'000 

Management Fees 
Ad Valorem 60 1,332 1,392 4,404 0 4,404 5,796
Performance 0 0 0 1,405 0 1,405 1,405
Transaction Costs 
Commissions 0 122 122 492 0 492 614
Custody 10 0 10 0 0 0 10
Other 72 0 72 0 0 0 72
Total £'000 142 1,454 1,596 6,301 0 6,301 7,897

In addition to the above ongoing investment management fees the Fund has also 
been charged £90k for costs associated with the London CIV managing assets on 
top of the fee rate. These costs were in respect of product development, governance 
costs and operator costs. These costs have been included within the Fund’s 
Statement of Accounts under the category of oversight and governance costs. 

In response to the Scheme Advisory Board Transparency Code the Fund contacted 
all managers regardless of whether they have signed up to the Code and requested 
that they complete the Transparency Code template for 2018/19 and future years to 
allow more transparent reporting. London CIV Ltd, in selecting Managers for the 
pool, also set this as a requirement that Fund Managers they select are signed up to 
the Transparency Code. Information from the completed templates were utilised to 
compile the overall Investment management costs for 2018/19. 

76Page 90



Asset Allocation and Performance 

Asset 
Category 

Opening 
Value 

Closing 
Value 

Performance 
1 Year 

Passive 
Index 

Local 
Target 

Gross Net
£'000 % £'000 % % % % %

Asset Pool 
Managed 
Investments 
Active listed 
Equity 

129,750 13 147,156 14 13.4 13.4 12.0 12.0

Passive listed 
Equity 

197,671 20 214,196 20 6.5 6.5 6.8 6.8

Passive Listed 
Fixed Income 

98,168 10 128,805 12 5.4 5.4 6.1 6.1

Multi-asset 
funds/diversified 
growth funds 

103,270 10 102,701 10 -0.6 -0.6 N/A 1.1

Total 528,859 52 592,858 56
Non-asset pool 
managed 
investments 
Active listed 
Equity 

133,133 13 131,174 12 2.3 2.3 3.4 6.4

Active listed 
Fixed Income 

56,312 6 82,707 8 1.5 1.5 5.6 4.1

Private Debt 12,419 1 7,956 1 -3.8 -3.8 N/A 5.1
Private Debt 53,968 5 61,434 6 5.2 5.2 N/A 5.1
Property 54,361 5 58,927 6 -0.3 -0.3 N/A 4.8
Property 75,192 7 76,521 7 4.4 4.4 N/A 4.9
Unlisted Equity 13,565 1 12,654 1 14.8 14.8 N/A 15.5
Unlisted Equity 6,526 1 4,675 0 18.6 18.6 N/A 15.5
Infrastructure 28,307 3 29,133 3 15.0 15.0 N/A 5.1
Cash 47,460 5 8,086 1 3.5 3.5 N/A 0.0
Total 481,243 48 473,267 44

77Page 91



Savings  

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
£ £ £

Price Variance 83,609 167,422 181,063

The price variance in the table measures the extent to which fee rates have 
generated savings based on the year end value of the assets under management by 
holding the assets in a sub fund run by the pool. In each case for Hillingdon’s pooled 
assets the fee rate is lower than the fee rate before pooling, this is in part due to a 
direct transfer of asset class and economies of scale achieved through the pool on 
negotiating power.  

Where assets transfer into different classes this would result in a different fee 
structure that would not be comparable.  

The increase in fee savings in 2017/18 from 2016/17 is due to the transfer of the 
global equity income portfolio to the pool. The increased saving in 2018/19 is due to 
the fund value increasing as a result of investment returns. The above savings do 
not take into account additional charges serviced on the fund as a result of 
investment in the pool sub funds which are direct costs of us investing in the pool, for 
example auditing, FCA regulation and depositary costs. Total additional charges 
amount to £90k. 

78Page 92



London Borough of Hillingdon 

Pension Fund 

Administration Strategy 

1 November 2016 

79Page 93



Lo
nd

on
 B

or
ou

gh
 o

f 
H

ill
in

gd
on

 P
en

si
on

 F
un

d 
Fu

nd
in

g 
S

tra
te

gy
 S

ta
te

m
en

t 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
7

102Page 94



London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund 

Investment Strategy Statement 

April 2017

142Page 95



London Borough of Hillingdon 

Administering Authority for the  
London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund 

 COMMUNICATIONS STRATEGY 

July 2017

150Page 96



M: EXTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S STATEMENT TO THE MEMBERS OF LONDON 
BOROUGH OF HILLINGDON ON THE PENSION FUND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

162Page 97



GLOSSARY 

Active Management 
A style of management where the fund manager aims to outperform a benchmark 
by superior asset allocation, market timing or stock selection (or a combination of 
these).  

Actuary 
An independent consultant who advises the Council on the financial position of the 
Fund.  See actuarial valuation. 

Actuarial Valuation 
This is an assessment done by an actuary, usually every three years. The actuary 
will work out how much money needs to be put into a pension fund to make sure 
pensions can be paid in the future. 

Additional Voluntary Contribution 
(AVC) 
An option available to individuals to secure additional pensions benefits by making 
regular payments in addition to the 5.5%-12.5% of basic earnings payable. 

Administering Authority 
In this instance, the 'Administering Authority' is London Borough Hillingdon. An 
administering authority is responsible, amongst other things, for maintaining member 
records, dealing with member queries/requests, investment of the fund and paying 
your LGPS pension. 

Admitted Bodies 
Employers whose staff can become members of the Fund by virtue of an admission 
agreement made between the administering authority and the employer. 

Asset Allocation 
The apportionment of a fund’s assets between asset classes and/or world markets. 
The long-term strategic asset allocation of a fund will reflect the fund’s investment 
objectives. In the short term, the fund manager can aim to add value through tactical 
asset allocation decisions. 

Asset Liability Modelling 
Models the interaction and the allocation of assets to meet to meet present and 
future financial liabilities over time  

Benchmark 
A yardstick against which the investment policy or performance of a fund manager 
can be compared. Each Fund’s benchmark is customised, meaning that it is tailored 
to the Fund’s liability profile. 

163Page 98



Bond 
A debt investment with which the investor loans money to an entity (company or 
government) that borrows the funds for a defined period of time at a specified 
interest rate. 

Book cost 
The value of an asset as it appears on a balance sheet, equivalent to how much was 
paid for the asset (less liabilities due). Book cost often differs substantially from 
market value. 

Broker 

An individual or firm that charges a fee or commission for executing buy and sell 
orders submitted by an investor. 

CARE 
'Career Average Revalued Earnings'.  LGPS 2014 is a career average scheme, and 
is a method used for calculating pensions earned from April 2014. 

Commission 
A service charge assessed by an agent in return for arranging the purchase or sale 
of a security or real estate. The commission must be fair and reasonable, 
considering all the relevant factors of the transaction. (Underwriting commission) 

Corporate Bond 
A debt security issued by a corporation, as opposed to those issued by the 
government. 

Corporate Governance 
The system by which organisations are run, and the means by which they are 
responsible to their shareholders, employees and other stakeholders. 

Coupon 
The return earned on an investment.  E.g. £5 received from a £100 debenture is the 
coupon. 

Creditors 
Amounts owed by the pension fund. 

Custody 
Safekeeping of securities by a financial institution. The custodian keeps a record of 
the client’s investments and may also collect income; process tax reclaims and 
provide other services such as performance measurement. 

Debtors 
Amounts owed to the pension fund. 

Defined Benefit 
A type of pension plan in which an employer/sponsor promises a specified 
monthly benefit on retirement that is predetermined by a formula based on the 

164Page 99



employee's earnings history, tenure of service and age, rather than depending 
directly on individual investment returns. 

Derivative 
Used to describe a specialist financial instrument such as options or futures 
contracts. Financial instruments are agreements to buy or sell something, under 
terms laid out in a contract. 

Diversification 
A risk management technique that mixes a wide variety of investments within a 
portfolio. It is designed to minimize the impact of any one security on overall portfolio 
performance. 

Dividend 

Distribution of a portion of a company's earnings, decided by the board of directors, 
to a class of its shareholders. The amount of a dividend is quoted in the amount 
each share receives or in other words dividends per share. 

Dividend Yield 
An indication of the income generated by a share, calculated as Annual Dividend per 
Share/Price per Share 

Emerging Markets 
There are about 80 stock markets around the world of which 22 markets are 
generally considered to be mature. The rest are classified as emerging markets. 

Equity 
Stock or any other security representing an ownership interest. 

Ex-dividend 
Purchase of shares without entitlement to current dividends. This entitlement 
remains with the seller of the shares. 

Final Salary Scheme 
An employer pension scheme, the benefits of which are linked to length of service 
and the final salary of the member (also known as defined benefit). 

Fixed interest 
A loan with an interest rate that will remain at a predetermined rate for the entire 
term of the loan. See bond. 

FTSE All-Share 
An arithmetically weighted index of leading UK shares (by market capitalisation) 
listed on the London Stock Exchange (LSE). The FTSE 100 Index covers only the 
largest 100 companies. 

Funding Level 
A comparison of a scheme’s assets and liabilities. 

165Page 100



Futures Contract 
A contract to buy goods at a fixed price and on a particular date in the future. Both 
the buyer and seller must follow the contract by law. 

Gilts 
The familiar name given to sterling, marketable securities (or bonds) issued by the 
British Government. 

Hedge 
Making an investment to reduce the risk of adverse price movements in an asset. 
Normally, a hedge consists of taking an offsetting position in a related security, such 
as a futures contract. 

Index Linked 
A bond that pays a coupon that varies according to some underlying index, usually 
the Consumer Price Index. 

Liability Profile 
The future cash outflows for Scheme Member benefits as they mature. 

LGPS 
Local Government Pension Scheme 

LSE 
London Stock Exchange 

Mandate 
The agreement between a client and investment manager laying down how the 
portfolio is to be managed, including performance targets. 

Market Value 
A security's last reported sale price (if on an exchange) i.e. the price as determined 
dynamically by buyers and sellers in an open market. Also called market price. 

Option 
The name for a contract where somebody pays a sum of money for the right to buy 
or sell goods at a fixed price by a particular date in the future. However, the goods 
do not have to be bought or sold. 

Passive Management 
A style of fund management that aims to construct a portfolio to provide the same 
return as that of a chosen index.  

Pension Fund 
A fund established by an employer to facilitate and organise the investment of 
employees' retirement funds contributed by the employer and employees. The 
pension fund is meant to generate stable growth over the long term, and provide 
pensions for employees when they reach the end of their working years and 
commence retirement. 

166Page 101



Private Equity 
When equity capital is made available to companies or investors, but not quoted on a 
stock market. The funds raised through private equity can be used to develop new 
products and technologies, to expand working capital, to make acquisitions, or to 
strengthen a company's balance sheet. Also known as development capital. 

Property Unit Trusts 
Pooled investment vehicles that enable investors to hold a stake in a diversified 
portfolio of properties 

Quantitative Easing (QE) 
QE is monetary policy in which a central bank purchases government securities or 
other securities from the market in order to lower interest rates and increase the 
money supply 

Resolution Bodies 
Scheme employers with the power to decide if an employee or group of employees 
can join the scheme 

Return 
Synonymous with profit, be it income received, capital gain or income and capital 
gain in combination. Usually expressed as a percentage of the nominal value of the 
asset. 

Risk 
The likelihood of performance deviating significantly from the average. The wider the 
spread of investment in an investment sector or across investment sectors, i.e. the 
greater the diversification, the lower the risk. 

Scheme Employers 
Local authorities and other similar bodies whose staff automatically qualify to 
become members of the pension fund 

Security 
An investment instrument, other than an insurance policy or fixed annuity, issued by 
a corporation, government, or other organisation, which offers evidence of debt or 
equity 

Socially Responsible Investment (SRI) 
Investments or funds containing stock in companies whose activities are considered 
ethical. 

Specialist Manager 
A fund management arrangement whereby a number of different managers each 
concentrate on a different asset class. A specialist fund manager is concerned 
primarily with stock selection within the specialist asset class. Asset allocation 
decisions are made by the investment committee, their consultant or by a specialist 
tactical asset allocation manager (or combination of the three). 

167Page 102



Stock 
A type of security that signifies ownership in a corporation and represents a claim on 
part of the corporation's assets and earnings. Also known as shares or equity. 

Stock Selection 
The process of deciding which stocks to buy within an asset class. 

The Fund 
'The Fund' explicitly refers to London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund 

Tracking Error 
An unplanned divergence between the price behaviour of an underlying stock or 
portfolio and the price behaviour of a benchmark. Reflects how closely the make-up 
of a portfolio matches the make-up of the index that it is tracking. 

Transaction Costs 
Those costs associated with managing a portfolio, notably brokerage costs and 
taxes. 

Transfer Value 
The amount transferred to/from another pension fund should a member change 
employment. The amount transferred relates to the current value of past 
contributions. 

Transition 
To move from one set of investment managers to another 

Underwriting 
The process by which investment bankers raise investment capital from investors on 
behalf of corporations and governments that are issuing securities (both equity and 
debt) 

Unit Trust 
A pooled fund in which investors can buy and sell units on an ongoing basis 

Unlisted Security 
A security that is not traded on an exchange 

Unrealised Gains/ (losses) 
The increase/ (decrease) at year-end in the market value of investments held by the 
fund since the date of their purchase. 

Yield 
The rate of income generated from a stock in the form of dividends, or the effective 
rate of interest paid on a bond, calculated by the coupon rate divided by the bond's 
market price. Furthermore, for any investment, yield is the annual rate of return 
expressed as a percentage. 

168Page 103



London Borough of 

Hillingdon 

Pension Fund 

Governance Policy and Compliance 
Statement 

169

Appendix 1

Page 104



Stewardship Code 

Principle Response 
Principle 1 – 
Institutional investors 
should publicly disclose 
their policy on how they 
will discharge their 
stewardship 
responsibilities. 

The London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund takes its 
responsibilities as a shareholder seriously. It seeks to adhere to 
the Stewardship Code, and expects appointed asset managers to 
be signatories to code and publicly disclosed their policy via their 
Statements on how they will discharge their stewardship 
responsibilities. Stewardship is part of the responsibilities of share 
ownership, and therefore an integral part of the investment 
strategy.  

In practice, the fund’s policy is to apply the Code through its 
arrangements with its asset managers. To this end, a quarterly 
summary of fund managers' ESG activities detailing the meetings 
engagement meetings undertaken and issues raised at such 
meetings, AGM and EGMs attended and their voting statistics are 
provided to members as part of the Pensions Committee meeting 
reports. 

Due to the diversity of investments made on behalf of our fund by 
the managers engaged. Their role is quite pivotal in ESG issues as 
they have vast resources at their disposal to raise issues of 
concern to clients such as us with respective companies and 
feedback information from such engagements via quarterly 
performance reports, detailing their activities for the period. Most 
managers combine these meetings with their investment due 
diligence as part of a holistic approach to management of funds 
entrusted into their care. 

The process described above ensures invested companies are 
aware of the opinion of shareholders such as our fund regarding 
their stewardship of the companies and consider such opinion in 
their decision-making processes. Failure to heed such opinion has 
often been followed by the fund manager in question raising the 
issues at company AGMs and subsequently employing their vote 
at such meetings to reinforce their position or sometimes in 
extreme cases, divest from such companies.   

Principle 2 - Institutional 
investors should have a 
robust policy on 
managing conflicts of 
interest in relation to 
stewardship and this 
policy should be publicly 
disclosed. 

The fund encourages the asset managers it employs to have 
effective policies addressing potential conflicts of interest.  

In respect of conflicts of interest within the fund, pension 
committee members are required to make declarations of interest 
prior to committee meetings. These declarations are reported in 
agenda items readily available to the general public in the minutes 
of the quarterly meetings 

Further to the declarations of interest at pension committee 
meetings, members are duty bound to make written related party 
declarations annually, which form part of the disclosure notes to 
the fund accounts and notes. These declarations are in addition to 
member declarations for the main Council's accounts. 
Subsequently, any perceived conflict of interest is transparent to 

186

Appendix 2

Page 105



members of the public. 

Where conflict of interests arises during decision making process, 
involving member(s) of the Pension Committee or officers of the 
fund, such individuals may be recused from the particular decision 
making process to protect the integrity of the outcome. 

Principle 3 - Institutional 
investors should 
monitor their investee 
companies 

Day-to-day responsibility for managing our investments is 
delegated to our appointed asset managers, and the fund expects 
them to monitor companies, intervene where necessary, and 
report regularly on activities undertaken. Reports from our fund 
managers on voting are received and engagement activities 
reported to committee quarterly.  

Effectiveness of Fund managers' engagement activities is 
appraised through responses gleamed from their detailed quarterly 
reports and the engagement volumes monitored with a view to 
ascertain their commitment to stewardship of investments under 
their management. Voting patterns and volume of attended 
meetings are also good indications of their commitment and 
effectiveness.  

When contentious issues of national interests relating to any of the 
fund’s investments is prominent in the press or widely debated. 
The fund will generally contact the relevant manager(s) to ensure 
they are aware of our interest and opinions on the issue and 
provide us with their views and steps being taken to ensure the 
invested company take on board such views. 

Principle 4 - Institutional 
investors should 
establish clear 
guidelines on when and 
how they will escalate 
their activities as a 
method of protecting 
and enhancing 
shareholder value. 

As highlighted above, responsibility for day-to-day interaction with 
companies is delegated to the fund’s asset managers, including 
the escalation of engagement when necessary. Their guidelines 
for such activities are expected to be disclosed in their own 
statement of adherence to the Stewardship Code.  

On occasions, the fund may participate in escalation of poignant 
issues, principally through fund managers' engagements with 
parties of concern. Furthermore, fund managers engaged by the 
fund as part of their investment process have regular meetings 
with individual company boards and feedback such engagement 
results to us through their quarterly ESG reports.   

Our fund have in the past directed fund managers to divest from 
companies in a particular sector (Tobacco) based on our concern 
of the effect of their product on general population's health at a 
time when the Council was entrusted with Public health 
responsibilities locally. One of such managers, UBS now hold UK 
equities on our behalf excluding Tobacco stocks.  

Principle 5 - Institutional 
investors should be 
willing to act collectively 
with other investors 
where appropriate. 

The fund seeks to work collaboratively with other institutional 
shareholders in order to maximise the influence that it can have on 
individual companies. The fund seeks to achieve this through 
membership of London CIV, which takes direction from Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) over environmental, social 

187Page 106



and governance issues on behalf of its members, through voting 
alerts on such issues as recommended by LAPFF. These alerts 
are then referred to engaged fund managers in pursuance of 
important ESG engagement issues for implementation or opinion. 

Principle 6 - Institutional 
investors should have a 
clear policy on voting 
and disclosure of voting 
activity. 

In respect of shareholder voting, the fund seeks to exercise votes 
attached to its UK equity holdings, and to vote where practical in 
overseas markets.  

Responsibility for the exercise of voting rights is delegated to the 
fund’s appointed asset managers and this includes consideration 
of company explanations of compliance with the Corporate 
Governance Code.  

Regular reports are received from the asset managers on how 
votes have been cast, and controversial issues can be discussed 
at panel meetings. 

The fund does currently publish available summary voting data by 
manager as part of the quarterly report to Pension Committee. 

The fund has a stock lending arrangement with Northern Trust as 
part of its investment strategy. Up to 25% of value of shares/bonds 
held in segregated portfolios are permitted to be loaned out as part 
of the arrangement and secured on collateral value of minimum 
109% of the assets out on loan.  

Stock-lending commissions are remitted to the fund via the 
custodian. During the period, the stock is on loan, the voting rights 
of the loaned stock pass to the borrower. There are no liabilities 
associated with the loaned assets. 

The arrangement also allows the fund to recall any asset out on 
loan if required for shareholder engagement purposes without any 
punitive measures. 

Principle 7 - Institutional 
investors should report 
periodically on their 
stewardship and voting 
activities 

The fund reports annually on stewardship activity through a 
specific section on “Responsible Investing” in its annual report. 

A table detailing the statistical analysis of the fund’s managers 
voting patterns is published as part of the annual report. 

All queries and further information on this document may be directed to Sian Kunert – Head of Pensions, 
Treasury & Statutory Accounts by email: SKunert@hillingdon.gov.uk 

188Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



INVESTMENT STRATEGY and FUND MANAGER 
PERFORMANCE (Part I)

Committee Pensions Committee

Officer Reporting Babatunde Adekoya, Finance
David O'Hara, KPMG

Papers with this report Northern Trust Performance Report

HEADLINES

This item will be preceded with a few slides from Clare Scott, Independent adviser on 
investment governance within the LCIV pool.

The total size of the fund was £1,096m at 30 June 2019, an increase of £34m from 
£1,062m at the end of previous quarter. There was an overall investment return over 
the quarter of 3.27%, translating into 0.40% better than the benchmark. 

Part II includes an update on each Fund Manager and the detailed current market 
backdrop. The papers all form background reading to inform Committee and to aid 
discussion.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Pensions Committee, following consideration of the 
Part II papers:

1. Consider and discuss any issues raised in the training item
2. Discuss the Fund performance update and agree any required decisions 

in respect of mandates or Fund Managers;
3. Commit to invest 5% of the portfolio in the London CIV infrastructure 

sub fund
4. Delegate the implementation of any decisions to the Officer and Advisor 

- Investment Strategy Group.

Page 109

Agenda Item 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1. Fund Performance
Over the last quarter to 30 June 2019, the Fund returned 3.27%, outperforming the 
benchmark return of 2.87% by 40 basis points. The Fund value Increased over the 
quarter by £34m, to £1,096m. 

Period of measurement Fund Return
%

Benchmark
%

Arithmetic 
Excess  

Quarter 3.27 2.87 +0.40
1 Year 4.21 4.73 (0.51)
3 Year 8.13 8.05 +0.08
5 Year 7.81 7.71 +0.10
Since Inception (09/1995) 7.02 6.93 +0.09

During the quarter, distributions received from Alternative investments were $1.2m, 
€1.1m & £3.0m. The cash, along with existing cash balances in the custody account 
totalling £8.0m was utilised to top up investments in JP Morgan portfolio, due to low 
returns on cash holdings.

The biggest drag on performance in the quarter under review came mainly from the 
LCIV Equity income and UBS UK Equity portfolios with returns of 2.39% and 2.07% 
relative underperformance compared to their benchmarks. AEW, M&G Investments 
and Macquarie were the biggest contributors to performance in the quarter under 
review with relative outperformance of 10.48%, 11.46% and 6.29% above their 
respective benchmarks.

Relative performance over a one-year rolling period was 0.50% behind the benchmark 
with the largest detractors being UBS UK Equities and LCIV Absolute Return Fund; 
with returns of -5.76% & -2.25% less than their respective benchmarks, whilst 
Macquarie and M&G with 11.07% & 3.69% relative excess performances the largest 
contributors.

2. Asset Allocation
The current asset allocation, the key strategic tool for the Committee, is in the table 
below. The assets of the Fund are invested across 11 different Fund Managers in a 
range of passive and active mandates, including a mix of liquid and illiquid allocations 
to reflect the Fund's long-term horizon.

Page 110



Current Asset Allocation by Asset Class
 Benchmark
 

Market Value As 
at 30 June  2019

Actual Asset 
Allocation Allocation

 ASSET CLASS £'000 % %
UK Equities 128,857 11.76
Global Equities 377,119 34.42

44.0

UK Index Linked Gilts 131,639 12.01
Multi Asset Credit 93,248 8.51
Corporate Bonds (Global) 33,416 3.05

19.0

Property 130,128 11.88 12.0
DGF/Absolute Returns 69,559 6.35 0.0
Private Equity 16,465 1.50 2.0
Infrastructure 28,134 2.57 8.0
Private Credit 72,754 6.64 10.0
Long Lease Property 0 0 5.0
Cash & Cash Equivalents 14,376 1.31 0.0
Totals 1,095,695 100.0 100.0

Current Asset Allocation by Manager 
 
  

Market Value 
As at 30 June 
2019

Actual Asset 
Allocation

FUND MANAGER ASSET CLASS £'000 %
ADAMS STREET Private Equity 11,906 1.09
LGT Private Equity 4,518 0.41
AEW Property 60,224 5.50
JP MORGAN Multi Asset Credit 93,248 8.51
LCIV - EPOCH Global Equities 152,941 13.96
LCIV - RUFFER DGF/Absolute Returns 69,559 6.35
M&G Private Credit 7,978 0.73
MACQUARIE Infrastructure 28,134 2.57
PERMIRA Private Credit 64,776 5.91
LGIM Global Equities 224,178 20.46

UK Corporate Bonds 33,416 3.05
UK Index Linked Gilts 131,639 12.01

UBS EQUITIES UK Equities 128,857 11.76
 Property 22 0
 Private Equity 41 0
 Cash & Cash Equivalents 1,749 0.16
UBS PROPERTY Property 69,882 6.38
 Cash & Cash Equivalents 362 0.03
Non Custody Cash & Cash Equivalents 12,265 1.12
  1,095,695 100

Page 111



Note: Asset Market Valuation is at BID price, as per accounting requirements, which 
differs from the attached Northern Trust Performance report, which is measured at 
MID price. 

The fund has £4.6m awaiting drawdown on Private Credit and £50m awaiting 
drawdown for the for Long Lease Property which is expected to be drawn-down by the 
end of Q2 2020, these funds are currently held in passive corporate bonds and other 
overweight positions.

3. Market and Financial climate overview

UK Equity
UK shares performed well over the quarter, despite ongoing Brexit-related uncertainty 
and the resignation of Prime Minister Theresa May. Areas of the market perceived to 
offer superior and defensible earnings growth extended the run of outperformance 
they have experienced since the beginning of 2019. For example, the technology 
sector enjoyed another quarter of strong relative performance, as did a number of 
large consumer goods companies, which are perceived to have dependable growth 
prospects. Conversely, many of the market’s domestically-focused sectors 
underperformed amid renewed Brexit and political uncertainty.

Meanwhile, the negative impact of the original 31 March Article 50 deadline on the UK 
manufacturing sector became clearer. While GDP grew by 0.5% in Q1, in line with 
expectations, the Office for National Statistics (ONS) revealed that the economy 
shrank by 0.4% in April (by more than forecast) and primarily due to a sharp fall in car 
production related to Brexit uncertainty.

US 
US shares gained in Q2 and the S&P 500 set a new record high. Uncertainty 
surrounding the US’ trade stance caused a mid-quarter market wobble. However, 
investors were broadly cheered by continued dovishness from the Federal Reserve 
and indications of progress in trade tensions by the end of June. Comments from 
President Trump that his administration could impose tariffs on Mexican imports and 
extend the suite of goods that are taxed on import from China, caused a sharp market 
sell-off in May. In June, signs emerged of progress in talks with China, with Trump 
also “indefinitely suspending” the Mexican tariffs. Economic data was mixed. US gross 
domestic product (GDP), which measures the value of all the goods and services 
produced by an economy, grew 3.1% revised down from 3.2%, which was as 
expected. Employment data remained broadly encouraging despite slowing in June. 
The unemployment rate remained stable at a 49-year low of 3.6% while average hourly 
earnings climbed 3.1% from a year earlier, below expectation of a 3.2% gain.

Page 112



Eurozone
Eurozone equities advanced in Q2 with a sharp drop in May but gains in April and 
June. Top performing sectors included information technology (IT), consumer 
discretionary and industrials. Sentiment towards trade exposed areas of the market 
such as semiconductors and car makers ebbed and flowed over the quarter as trade 
tensions persisted. The lack of any further escalation in the trade wars in June helped 
the market to recover after May’s pull-back. The real estate sector fell after Berlin’s 
city government proposed a five-year freeze on residential property rents from 2020.

Q1 GDP growth for the eurozone was confirmed at 0.4% quarter-on-quarter. Annual
inflation for June was stable compared to May at 1.2%. European Central Bank
President Mario Draghi hinted that further monetary policy easing, such as new bond 
purchases, could be on the way if the eurozone inflation outlook fails to improve.
On the political front, Spain held general elections at the end of April. These saw the 
incumbent Socialist Party (PSOE) emerge as the largest party. Italy’s fiscal position 
was in focus after the European Commission (EC) cut its forecast for 2019 Italian GDP 
growth to 0.1% from 0.2%. This would mean the budget deficit would exceed the level 
previously agreed between Italy and the EC.

Japan
Japanese shares performed worse than the other main developed markets in the 
second quarter. The total return for the three months was -2.4%, primarily as a result 
of weakness in May. The yen strengthened against other major currencies, driven 
partly by its perceived safe-haven status at times of geopolitical risk, and partly as a 
result of changing interest rate expectations for the US.

The main development during the quarter was the continued escalation of trade 
issues, notably the announcement in May of sharp increases in US tariffs on imports 
from China. These higher levels would inevitably have a much greater impact on 
volumes, with repercussions throughout global supply chains. In addition, the US 
campaign against Huawei is already having an impact on Japanese electronic 
component suppliers. For most of the quarter, these negative factors exacerbated the 
reaction to a slowdown in corporate earnings growth, which was evident in the results 
for the final quarter of the fiscal year. Meanwhile, the direct bilateral trade talks 
between the US and Japan took a backseat and any substantive announcements 
seem to have been delayed until August, safely after Japan’s Upper House elections 
in July.

Emerging Markets
Emerging market shares recorded a slight gain in a volatile second quarter. US-China 
trade tensions were rekindled in May as talks unexpectedly broke down, and both 
sides implemented new tariffs. However, hopes for a resumption of talks post the G20 
summit in June, and rising expectations that the US Fed will cut interest rates, proved 
supportive later in the period. The MSCI Emerging Markets Index gained but 
underperformed the MSCI World.

Those markets most sensitive to changes in global liquidity performed well, in
particular Argentina where political developments also boosted sentiment. In advance 
of presidential elections in October, the leading candidates appeared to adopt a more 
centrist stance. South Africa, Indonesia and Turkey were among the best performers.

Page 113



Global Bonds
It was a positive quarter for financial markets with both riskier assets and government 
bonds making gains. Broadly, this reflected expectations that central banks would 
keep monetary policy loose, including the possibility of US rate cuts. At their meetings 
in mid-June, comments from the Fed and ECB confirmed the growing dovishness 
among policymakers, with both clearing the way for further policy measures if needed.

Government bond yields fell markedly as prices rose. The 10-year US Treasury yield 
was over 40 basis points (bps) lower over the period and the 10-year German Bund 
yield over 25bps lower at -0.33%. The UK 10-year yield underperformed, falling by 
about 17bps. The yield rose in April (i.e. bond prices fell) on the announcement of an 
extension to the Brexit deadline and resilient economic data.

Corporate bond markets delivered positive total returns and outperformed
government bonds. EM debt denominated in local currencies performed particularly 
well as the US dollar weakened in June. 

4. Strategy Update

At the Pensions Committee in January 2019 it was agreed that the strategic asset 
allocation of 10% managed by Ruffer via the London CIV should be replaced with a 
5% allocation to Infrastructure and 5% to bonds. At the meeting on 22 March the 
allocation to bonds was agreed to be moved to index linked gilts through the LGIM 
passive fund. The infrastructure element was deferred at the January and March 
meeting while the London CIV infrastructure offering was still to be finalised and 
accessible for investment, at which time outstanding items such as fees and FCA 
approval would be agreed to make a more informed decision to invest in the pool 
offering. A third of the Ruffer allocation (£34m) was invested with All Stock Index-
Linked Gilts with LGIM in June to bring the fund to its full allocation of IL gilts.  

The LCIV have now finalised the infrastructure sub fund and gained FCA approval so 
which was one of the outstanding items for the Hillingdon fund to commit. Attached in 
part II is a paper on the LCIV infrastructure sub fund picking up on outstanding issues 
with a recommendation to now commit to invest in this fund. 

5. LCIV update

Currently open on the London CIV are 
1 UK Equity sub fund
5 Global equity sub funds
1 Emerging Market Equity sub fund
4 Diversified Growth / Absolute Return funds
1 Multi Asset Credit fund
1 Global Bond Fund 

The LCIV have received FCA approval for the launch of their new Global Equity Core 
fund and the Infrastructure fund. 

Page 114



The next phase will look at launching Inflation plus and Equity Value fund. 

Following the appointment of Mike O’Donnell as Chief Executive in March, the LCIV 
appointed a permanent Chief Investment Officer, Mark Thompson, who started in 
September but who has since decided to resign for personal and family reasons as he 
could not fully commit to the pool. 

Hillingdon Fund Investment with the London CIV

The Hillingdon Pension Fund currently invests in Ruffer and Epoch on the LCIV 
platform and LGIM, which sits alongside the LCIV Platform accessing the economies 
of scale created via the LCIV. The Fund has total LCIV holdings of £612m at 30 June 
2019, accounting for almost 56% of total assets of the Pension Fund. With a further 
£50m planned for investment through the pool on approval of investment into the 
infrastructure fund. 

The London CIV have advised the fund that they have been able to secure further 
savings from the Global equities Income sub fund; as a result fees will reduce slightly 
from October 2019.

Voting and Engagement

Fund managers carry out proxy voting on the Pension Fund’s behalf. Below are a 
breakdown of voting statistics by UBS Asset Management, LGIM and London CIV 
(Ruffer and Epoch). 

 Fund Managers Voting Breakdown   
  
UBS Meetings Resolutions Votes With Against Abstention

Jun-19 6,355 72,268 59,313 12,955 0
  
 6,355 72,268 59,313 12,955 0

% 82.07 17.93 0.00
  

LCIV Meetings Resolutions Votes With Against Abstention
Jun-19  

LCIV - Ruffer 42 682 635 46 1
LCIV - Epoch 83 1,297 1,243 52 2
  
 125 1,979 1,878 98 3

% 94.90 4.95 0.15
  
LGIM Meetings Resolutions Votes With Against Abstention

Jun-19 2,508 33,307 27,517 5,658 132
  
 2,508 33,307 27,517 5,658 132

%   82.62 16.99 0.40

Page 115



The UBS figures relate to their Equity fund and not specific shares held by the 
Hillingdon fund where we are ex tobacco. 

The volume of meetings attended and resolutions voted on by all the fund managers 
shown above encapsulate their commitment to ESG issues and a demonstration of 
the alignment of their stewardship activities with their own investment beliefs, policies 
and guidelines. Through this approach, they seek to be active owners on behalf of 
their clients, by encouraging good governance and a high standard of corporate 
practices.

The voting breakdown above indicates both UBS and LGIM have voted against 
proposed management resolutions on 17% of voting opportunities and supported 
resolutions on about 82% of occasions. Both LCIV portfolios combined backed various 
management resolutions on 95% of voting opportunities and about 5% against the 
resolutions proposed by company managements.  Full voting reports are included 
within the part II papers for further information.

8,988

107,55488,708

18,711

135

Meetings Resolutions Votes With Against Abstention

Consolidated Voting Breakdown Q2 19

The chart above provides a consolidated overview of voting pattern by all fund managers shown in the 
table above.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The financial implications are contained within the body of the report

Page 116



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal implications in the report.

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



June 30, 2019

London Borough of Hillingdon
 

Investment Risk & Analytical Services

P
age 119



Table of Contents
Section 1. London Borough of HillingdonLondon Borough of Hillingdon

3

1.1. Client Commentary 3

1.2. Client Commentary (cntd) 4

1.3. Executive Summary 5

1.4. Investment Hierarchy 6

1.5. Investment Hierarchy(2) 7

1.6. Market Value Summary - Three Months 8

1.7. Historical Performance 9

1.8. Benchmark Composition 13

Section 2. AppendixAppendix

14

2.1. Disclaimer(s) 14

P
age 120



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

3  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services

Client Commentary
Total Scheme Commentary
Despite  a  weak  May,  April  and  June  were  very  positive  for  equity  markets  globally.
Continuing low interest rates and expectations for cuts supported returns in the plus months
while ongoing trade disputes and hostile rhetoric reduced confidence in the middle month of
quarter  two.  Emerging  market  performance  continues  to  be  harder  hit  by  these  trade
tensions  and  developed  markets  more  resilient.  From  the  last  quarter  of  2018  when
Telecoms  was  the  top  performer  it  bounced  down  to  be  the  weakest  over  both  short  and
long  term  Q1  and  now  is  the  strongest  again  over  both  periods.  Real  Estate  was  the
weakest performing UK sector over both the most recent quarter and the year. The FTSE All
Share  was  up  3.3% (GBP)  over  the  second  quarter  and  is  ahead  over  one  year  by  0.6%
(GBP).
 
The past year has brought about much uncertainty in the bond markets. 2018 saw the US
Federal reserve increase rates four times and there had been promise of more increases to
come in 2019. Investor and market panic which had been evident at the end of Q4 has since
been  followed  by  a  retreat  in  2019.  UK  Inflation  figures  showed  a  slowdown  to  1.9%  but
remain close to the 2% target set by the Bank. The overall themes remain largely the same
this quarter as the bank commented that future interest rates should be gradual and limited.
According  to  the  office  for  national  statistics,  pay  increased  by  +3.4%  in  the  3  months  to
February,  but  is  still  not  rising  as  much  as  it  was  prior  to  the  global  financial  crisis.  UK
Government  10 year  bond yields  ended the quarter  at  +0.83%. The FTSE All-Stock index
delivered a total  return of  +1.31% in Sterling terms over the quarter  whilst  the ML Sterling
Non-Gilts index returned 2.04% for the same period.
 
Brexit continued to dominate much of the news in the UK and it still remains unclear when or
if  Brexit  will  happen and on what terms it  will  happen. Prime Minister May will  be stepping
down from No 10 and the UK are due to leave the EU on October 31st. This uncertainty has
caused  a  sharp  slowdown  in  manufacturing  and  numbers  from  the  service  sector  are
evidence of this. In the UK, Q2 2019 saw Sterling weaken against the Dollar, Euro and Yen. 
The  UK  Manufacturing  PMI  dropped  to  the  lowest  level  since  early   2013.  This  drop  was
caused  by  a  slump  in  both  output  and  new  orders  in  June.  The  consumer  price  index
including  owner  occupiers’  housing  costs  rose  by  1.9%  in  the  year  to  May  2019.  Falling
airfares  and  car  prices  were  the  main  downward  contributors  offset  by  rising  prices  for
furniture and furnishings, games and toys and accommodation services.
 
Within  this  environment  the  London  Borough  of  Hillingdon  returned  +3.27%  which  was
ahead of the Total Plan benchmark of +2.87%. In monetary terms this is a gain in assets of
£34.7 million and the value of the combined scheme now stands at £1,096 million as at 30th

June 2019.
 
The  Scheme’s  one  year  return  of  +4.21%  is  0.52%  behind  the  benchmark  of  +4.73%
following four consecutive quarters of underperformance. While over the longer periods, with
ten  positive  quarters  over  the  last  3  years,  the  Scheme  has  narrowly  outperformed,
producing a return of 8.13% over three year versus 8.05%. Then the scheme continues to
outperform over  the  5  year  period  where  we observe  figures  of  7.81% per  annum (vs  the
benchmark  7.71%).  Then  since  inception  in  September  1995,  the  Fund  remains  ahead  of
target by 8 basis points with an annualised return of 7.02% against a target of 6.93%.

Manager Commentary
AEW UK
The AEW UK Property Fund posted a total  return of  11.14%, beating the IPD UK PPFI Al
Balanced Funds Index for the second time since September 2018.  Rolling one year returns
now sees gains, with the mandate returning   6.66% versus 3.44% for the IPD Index 
Theycontinue  to  be  ahead  over  the  three  year  period  returning  9.27%  against  the
benchmark  of  6.85%.  This  translates  as  a  2.43%  relative  outperformance.  With  positive
absolute returns in all  but two periods and only five quarters in the red on a relative basis,
growth ahead of benchmark is seen since the fund incepted. Since the funds inception date
of  July  2014,  the  fund  return  is  11.01%,  leading  to  an  outperformance  of  2.42%  when
compared to the IPD figure of 8.59%.
 
JP Morgan
 
In  the  latest  quarter  JP  Morgan  posted  an  increase  in  assets  of  +2.87%  leading  to  an
outperformance of +1.88% when compared to the 0.99% target for the 3 Month LIBOR + 3%
p.a.  Then with positive results  in only two of  the last  four  quarters,  the one year return of
+6.28% is in modest territory although is  ahead of  the 4.03% target  by 2.25%. Then over
three years they post returns above the benchmark with figures of 4.21% vs 3.73%. Since
the mandate funded their return of 3.92% is just ahead of the target return of 3.70% on an
annualised basis.
 
 
Legal & General 1
There was a reorganisation of assets in both Legal & General 1 and 2 portfolios towards the
end  of  2018.  Equity  assets  were  moved to  the  No 1account  and  fixed  income to  the  No2
account.  Over  the last  three months the Legal  & General  No.  1  mandate post  a  return of
+4.67%  in  line  with  the  custom  fixed  weight  blended  benchmark.  In  the  period  since
inception in October 2016, they return 7.05%, which is below the benchmark return of 7.14%.
 
Legal & General 2
The No 2 Legal & General mandate returned +1.84% against +1.93% for the second quarter
against  the custom fixed weight  blended benchmark consisting of  FTSE Index Linked 15+
years, FTSE Index Linked and iBoxx UK Non-Gilts. In the period since inception, they return
6.08% against 6.58% for the benchmark.
 
 

P
age 121



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

4  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services

Client Commentary (cntd)
Manager Commentary
London CIV Ruffer
The absolute return strategies employed by London CIV Ruffer translated into a 135 basis
point  outperformance  of  the  3-mth  Sterling  LIBOR  target.  The  investment  remains
underwater  over  the one year  time period.  Outperformance remains in  the longer  periods.
This is seen in a three year return of 2.69% versus 0.72%, then similarly for the five years
with  figures  of  4.23% against  0.71%,  culminating  in  since  inception  (May  2010)  figures  of
4.83%  versus  0.84%  per  annum,  which  translates  as  a  relative  return  of  3.99  %.  This
manager  shows one  of  the  largest  outperformance of  all  the  schemes managers  over  the
since inception period.
 
M&G Investments
M&G posted a gain in Q2 by producing a return of 12.83% against the 3 Month LIBOR +4%
p.a. target of 1.23%, demonstrating an outperformance of 11.60%. This is a turnaround from
the  underperformance  seen  in  quarter  one,  the  full  year  return  is  now  ahead  of  the
benchmark by 3.87%, coming from figures of 8.91% against 5.04%. Over the three and five
year  the  account  registers  figures  of  10.60% vs  4.72% and  9.48% vs  4.71% respectively;
since inception (May 2010) return falls slightly to 7.47% pa whilst the benchmark is 4.72%
pa.  Although the since inception Internal Rate of Return moves further ahead of target with
a figure of 8.46% opposed to the comparator of 4.60%.
 
Macquarie
Over the last three months, Macquarie produced a growth of 7.34%, against the 0.99% for
the  3  Month  LIBOR +3% p.a.  this  translates  as  an  outperformance  of  6.36%.  With  twelve
consecutive  quarters  of  positive  absolute  returns  and  eleven  positive  relative  returns,
outperformance is seen in all  longer periods. Over the rolling year a double digit  growth of
15.55%  beats  the  target  of  4.03%  by  11.51%,  similarly  the  three  year  result  of  14.27%
versus 3.72% exhibits positive relative return at 10.55%. The annualised return over 5 years
rises  to  18.00%,  and  remains  ahead  of  the  3.70%  seen  for  the  benchmark;  then  since
inception (September 2010) the 6.51% is ahead of the target of 3.72%. Although the since
inception Internal  Rate  of  Return  for  this  portfolio  jumps to  13.28%, which is  ahead of  the
benchmark figure of 3.69%.
 
UBS
During  Q2  the  UBS  UK  Equity  investments  returned  +1.12%,  behind  the  +3.26%  for  the
FTSE All Share. Looking into the attribution analysis this underperformance was largely due
to selection effects.  The most  significant  being the negative returns in Consumer Services
(-65bps)  and  weak  performance  in  Financials  (-57bps),  while  the  largest  positive  impact
comes from Consumer  Goods (+25 bps).  Allocation  decisions  had a  small  positive  impact
with the most significant being the underweighting in Consumer Goods (+56 bps) although
this  was  muted  by  overweighting  in  Telecommunications  (-14bps).  The  manager  remains
behind over the one year, stemming from figures of -5.23% vs +0.57% which translates as a
relative return of -5.76%. This is largely attributable to selection effects, the biggest impacts
come  from  both  Industrials  (-206bps)  and  Financials  (-150  bps).  The  longer  time  periods
show a positive picture, with three and five years ahead of the index, culminating in a since
inception (January 1989) return of 9.79% versus 8.63% on an annualised basis.
 

Manager Commentary
Premira Credit
The Premira Credit Fund saw a growth of 1.77% over the second quarter of 2019, this was
just ahead of the 3 Month LIBOR +4% p.a. target of 1.23%. The fund has outperformed in
three  of  last  four  quarter’s  and  are  still  ahead  of  target,  leading  to  an  outperformance  of
0.43%,  created  from  figures  of  5.46%  against  5.04%.  Then  since  the  start  of  December
2014 when the  fund incepted,  the  fund posts  a  return  of  8.32% against  the  benchmark  of
4.68%, leading to a relative position of 3.64%.
 
UBS Property
In continuation from the previous period, the latest quarter for the UBS Property posted an
underperformance of -0.17%, generated from a return of 0.43% against the IPD UK PPFI All
Balanced Funds index of 0.60%. Over the one year the manager is now behind the index,
with  a  full  year  return  of  +2.61% vs  +3.44%.  The previous  good run  of  results  particularly
during 2015 leads to high absolute returns staying ahead of the IPD target over the five year
periods with a return of 8.76% against 8.29%. Then since inception, in March 2006, the fund
return falls to 3.98% per annum which is line with the benchmark.
 
Private Equity
The  private  equity  assets  saw  a  7.71  rise  in  value  for  LGT.  Adam  Street  also  saw  an
increase  of  10.32%.  Over  the  longer  periods,  the  outlook  over  which  private  equity
investments  should  be  measured,  returns  remain  positive.  LGT  maintain  a  run  of  over  3
years of growth with figures of 15.06%, 18.32%  and 19.25% for the one, three and five year
periods respectively, while Adam Street posted 15.99%, 14.18% and 17.20% over the same
periods.  Adam St  are  behind  the  proxy  benchmark  of  MSCI  AC  World  +4% p.a.  over  the
three and five year period (which shows 18.13% and 17.37%). LGT are ahead over the five
year outperforming by 188bps. Then since their respective inceptions in January 2005 and
May 2004, Adam Street drops to 7.52% pa, while LGT sees a more modest dip to 11.71%.
 
Epoch
Over the second quarter the investment in Epoch’s income equity fund generated a return of
+3.93%.  Since  inception  (November  2017)  the  fund  has  observed  a  modest  rise  in  value
+4.78%  compared  to  the  MSCI  World  figure  of  +7.75%,  this  leads  to  a  relative  return  of
-2.97%.

P
age 122



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

5  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services

Executive Summary
LONDON BOROUGH OF HILLINGDON TOTAL FUND GROSS OF FEES

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

 Fund 3.27 8.54 4.21 8.13 7.81 7.02

 Index 2.87 8.68 4.73 8.05 7.71 6.93

Index: Total Plan Benchmark

RISK STATISTICS 1 Yr 3 Yrs 5 Yrs
Return 4.21 8.13 7.81
Index Return 4.73 8.05 7.71
Relative Excess Return -0.50 0.07 0.09
    
Standard Deviation 5.47 4.82 5.03
Index Standard Deviation 5.67 4.70 4.88
    
Tracking Error 0.90 1.00 1.09
Information Ratio -0.58 0.07 0.09
Sharpe Ratio 0.58 1.54 1.41
Index Sharpe Ratio 0.65 1.56 1.44
Sortino Ratio 0.88 2.99 2.65
Treynor Ratio 3.34 7.37 7.06
    
Jensen's Alpha -0.34 0.04 0.06
Relative Volatility (Beta) 0.95 1.01 1.01
R Squared 0.98 0.96 0.95

Index: Total Plan Benchmark. Risk Free Index: JP Morgan 3 month Cash (GBP)
Category: Total Fund Gross of Fees. Calculation Frequency: Monthly

LONDON BOROUGH OF HILLINGDON ROLLING QUARTERS TOTAL FUND GROSS OF FEES

Q3
'16

Q4
'16

Q1
'17

Q2
'17

Q3
'17

Q4
'17

Q1
'18

Q2
'18

Q3
'18

Q4
'18

Q1
'19

Q2
'19

 Fund 5.96 3.85 2.88 0.94 1.59 3.08 -2.60 4.08 1.08 -5.02 5.10 3.27

 Index 5.17 2.79 3.14 0.95 1.60 3.53 -2.34 4.16 1.45 -5.01 5.64 2.87

Index: Total Plan Benchmark

LONDON BOROUGH OF HILLINGDON ROLLING QUARTERS TOTAL FUND GROSS OF FEES

Q3
'16

Q4
'16

Q1
'17

Q2
'17

Q3
'17

Q4
'17

Q1
'18

Q2
'18

Q3
'18

Q4
'18

Q1
'19

Q2
'19

 3M R.Excess 0.76 1.02 -0.26 -0.01 -0.01 -0.44 -0.27 -0.08 -0.37 -0.01 -0.51 0.39

 3Y R.Excess 0.36 0.74 0.57 0.59 0.68 0.58 0.32 0.26 0.25 0.36 -0.05 0.07

Index: Total Plan Benchmark

P
age 123



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

6  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services Category: Total Fund Gross of Fees

Investment Hierarchy
Three

Months
Year

to Date
One
Year

Account/Group -% Rate of Return

Ending
Market Value

GBP
Ending
Weight Port Index

Relative 
Excess Port Index

Relative 
Excess Port Index

Relative 
Excess

London Borough of Hillingdon 1,095,695,467 100.00 3.27 2.87 0.39 8.54 8.68 -0.13 4.21 4.73 -0.50

Total Plan Benchmark            

AEW UK 60,224,183 5.50 11.14 0.60 10.48 3.07 0.90 2.15 6.66 3.44 3.11

LBH22 AEW Benchmark            

JP Morgan 93,248,404 8.51 2.87 0.99 1.86 7.44 2.04 5.29 6.28 4.03 2.16

LBH15 JPM LIBOR +3%pa            

Legal & General 1 224,177,669 20.46 4.67 4.67 -0.00 15.64 15.64 -0.00 6.42 6.48 -0.06

LBH26 L&G Benchmark            

Legal & General 2 165,055,167 15.06 1.84 1.93 -0.09 8.21 8.26 -0.05 6.99 7.83 -0.78

LBH27 L&G Benchmark            

M&G Investments 7,995,163 0.73 12.83 1.23 11.46 10.31 2.53 7.58 8.91 5.04 3.69

LBH10 3 Month LIBOR +4%pa            

Macquarie 28,133,870 2.57 7.34 0.99 6.29 7.78 2.04 5.62 15.55 4.03 11.07

LBH14 Macquarie LIBOR +3%pa            

Premira Credit 65,180,152 5.95 1.77 1.23 0.54 3.28 2.53 0.73 5.46 5.04 0.40

LBH24 Premira LIBOR +4%pa            

UBS 130,669,682 11.93 1.12 3.26 -2.07 9.71 12.97 -2.89 -5.23 0.57 -5.76

LBH04 UBS Benchmark            

UBS Property 70,243,405 6.41 0.43 0.60 -0.17 0.52 0.90 -0.38 2.61 3.44 -0.80

LBH06 UBS Property Benchmark            

Adam Street 11,905,933 1.09 10.32 7.12 2.99 3.00 18.66 -13.19 15.99 14.59 1.22

Adam Street PE Bmark            

LGT 4,519,191 0.41 7.71 7.12 0.55 7.04 18.66 -9.79 15.06 14.59 0.41

LGT PE Bmark            

Epoch Investment P Income 152,941,017 13.96 3.93 6.48 -2.39 12.28 17.06 -4.09 10.84 10.30 0.49

LBH11001 MSCI World ND            

London CIV Ruffer 69,564,560 6.35 1.59 0.25 1.34 4.79 0.55 4.22 -1.24 1.03 -2.25

LBH11003 Ruffer BM Libor            

P
age 124



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

7  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services Category: Total Fund Gross of Fees

Investment Hierarchy(2)
Three
Years

Five
Years

Inception
to Date

Account/Group -% Rate of Return Port Index
Relative 
Excess Port Index

Relative 
Excess Port Index

Relative 
Excess

Inception
Date

London Borough of Hillingdon 8.13 8.05 0.07 7.81 7.71 0.09 7.02 6.93 0.08 30/09/1995

Total Plan Benchmark           

AEW UK 9.27 6.85 2.27 11.01 8.59 2.22 11.01 8.59 2.22 30/06/2014

LBH22 AEW Benchmark           

JP Morgan 4.21 3.73 0.47 3.53 3.71 -0.18 3.92 3.70 0.21 08/11/2011

LBH15 JPM LIBOR +3%pa           

Legal & General 1 - - - - - - 7.05 7.14 -0.09 31/10/2016

LBH26 L&G Benchmark           

Legal & General 2 - - - - - - 6.08 6.58 -0.47 22/02/2017

LBH27 L&G Benchmark           

M&G Investments 10.60 4.72 5.62 9.48 4.71 4.56 7.47 4.72 2.62 31/05/2010

LBH10 3 Month LIBOR +4%pa           

Macquarie 14.27 3.72 10.17 18.00 3.70 13.79 6.51 3.72 2.70 30/09/2010

LBH14 Macquarie LIBOR +3%pa           

Premira Credit 8.14 4.72 3.27 - - - 8.32 4.68 3.47 30/11/2014

LBH24 Premira LIBOR +4%pa           

UBS 11.03 9.00 1.86 6.66 6.31 0.32 9.79 8.63 1.07 31/12/1988

LBH04 UBS Benchmark           

UBS Property 5.39 6.35 -0.90 8.76 8.29 0.44 3.98 3.98 0.00 31/03/2006

LBH06 UBS Property Benchmark           

Adam Street 14.18 18.13 -3.34 17.20 17.37 -0.14 7.52 - - 31/01/2005

Adam Street PE Bmark           

LGT 18.32 18.13 0.16 19.25 17.37 1.60 11.71 - - 31/05/2004

LGT PE Bmark           

Epoch Investment P Income - - - - - - 4.78 7.75 -2.76 08/11/2017

LBH11001 MSCI World ND           

London CIV Ruffer 2.69 0.72 1.95 4.23 0.71 3.49 4.83 0.84 3.95 28/05/2010

LBH11003 Ruffer BM Libor           

P
age 125



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

8  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services Category: Total Fund Gross of Fees • Currency: GBP

Market Value Summary - Three Months

Account/Group
31/03/2019

 Market Value
31/03/2019

 Weight Net Contribution* Income Fees Appreciation
30/06/2019

 Market Value
30/06/2019

 Weight Change in Weight
London Borough of Hillingdon 1,062,249,838 100.00 -1,318,432 6,669,859 20,269 28,094,202 1,095,695,467 100.00 0.00
AEW UK 54,186,487 5.10 0 1,530,470 0 4,507,226 60,224,183 5.50 0.40
JP Morgan 82,707,366 7.79 8,000,000 0 0 2,541,039 93,248,404 8.51 0.72
Legal & General 1 214,195,555 20.16 -17,966 0 17,966 10,000,080 224,177,669 20.46 0.30
Legal & General 2 128,804,757 12.13 34,103,037 0 2,304 2,147,372 165,055,167 15.06 2.94
M&G Investments 9,259,628 0.87 -2,110,676 681 0 845,530 7,995,163 0.73 -0.14
Macquarie 27,371,997 2.58 -1,203,634 313,707 0 1,651,800 28,133,870 2.57 -0.01
Premira Credit 64,440,344 6.07 -400,000 1,104,118 0 35,690 65,180,152 5.95 -0.12
UBS 131,174,064 12.35 -1,963,002 1,662,640 0 -204,021 130,669,682 11.93 -0.42
UBS Property 76,520,613 7.20 -6,610,257 732,487 0 -399,439 70,243,405 6.41 -0.79
Adam Street 11,462,175 1.08 -677,117 0 0 1,120,876 11,905,933 1.09 0.01
LGT 4,688,239 0.44 -520,797 32 0 351,717 4,519,191 0.41 -0.03
Cash & Other Assets 7,574,421 0.71 4,187,320 20,518 0 54,813 11,837,072 1.08 0.37
Epoch Investment P Income 147,156,298 13.85 0 1,306,627 0 4,478,092 152,941,017 13.96 0.11
London CIV Ruffer 102,707,895 9.67 -34,105,341 -1,422 0 963,428 69,564,560 6.35 -3.32
Cash & Other Assets 0 0.00 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

Min -3.32 2.94 Max

*Net Contributions include Cash Contributions/Distributions, Security Deliveries/Receipts, Fees/Fee Rebates, Inter Account transfers for Consolidations & Benefits Payments. 
Copied History or Backloaded Data may not display the correct Contributions/Withdrawals creating misrepresentation. 

P
age 126



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

9  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services

Historical Performance
EQUITY

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 3.34 13.47 -0.21 9.43 7.49 -

Index 4.91 14.89 5.85 11.73 9.86 -

Index: Total Equity Benchmark

UNITED KINGDOM

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 1.11 9.90 -4.96 9.72 6.44 7.10

Index 3.26 12.97 0.57 9.00 6.31 7.20

Index: FTSE All Share UK Equity

OVERSEAS EQUITIES

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 4.67 15.64 5.93 9.43 8.39 6.57

EMERGING MARKETS

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 3.72 11.92 8.04 11.06 8.64 -

Index 3.76 12.00 8.31 12.49 9.51 -

Index: LBH Emerging Markets

P
age 127



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

10  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services

Historical Performance
FIXED INCOME

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 2.62 7.09 6.24 4.12 5.16 -

Index 0.99 2.04 4.03 3.80 4.08 -

Index: LBH Fixed Income Benchmark

UK CORPORATE BONDS

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 1.89 6.11 6.01 4.18 5.63 -

Index 1.98 6.12 5.89 3.89 5.46 -

Index: LBH Non-Gilts Benchmark

GLOBAL CORPORATE BONDS

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 2.87 7.44 6.28 4.22 3.50 -

Index 0.99 2.04 4.03 3.73 3.71 -

Index: LIBOR GBP 3 Month +3% pa

INDEX LINKED GILTS

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 1.98 9.11 9.33 6.56 10.21 -

Index 1.89 8.96 9.18 6.07 9.37 -

Index: LBH Index Linked Benchmark

P
age 128



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

11  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services

Historical Performance
REAL ESTATES

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 5.03 1.78 4.51 7.36 9.49 8.43

Index 0.60 0.90 3.44 6.35 8.29 7.80

Index: IPD UK PPFI All Bal Funds Index

BALANCED FUNDS

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 3.24 9.40 5.87 4.59 - -

Index 3.86 9.88 6.58 - - -

Index: Balanced Fund Benchmark

PRIVATE EQUITY

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 9.57 4.16 15.75 15.62 17.79 -

Index 7.12 18.66 14.59 18.13 17.37 -

Index: MSCI ACWI +4% pa

PRIVATE CREDIT

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 2.79 3.81 5.52 9.52 8.74 -

Index 1.23 2.53 5.04 4.72 4.71 -

Index: LIBOR GBP 3 Month +4% pa

P
age 129



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

12  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services

Historical Performance
INFRASTRUCTURE

Three
Months

Year
to Date

One
Year

Three
Years

Five
Years

ITD

Category 7.36 7.80 15.60 14.56 18.23 -

Index 0.99 2.04 4.03 3.72 3.70 -

Index: LIBOR GBP 3 Month +3% pa

P
age 130



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

13  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services

P
age 131



N O R T H E R N   T R U S T London Borough of Hillingdon June 30, 2019

14  of  14  |  Investment Risk & Analytical Services

Disclaimer(s)

The Global Industry Classification Standard ("GICS") was developed by and is the exclusive 
property and a service mark of Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc.("MSCI") and Standard & 
Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.("S&P") and is licensed for use by The 
Northern Trust Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Neither MSCI, S&P, nor any other 
party involved in making or compiling the GICS or any GICS classifications makes any express or 
implied warranties or representations with respect to such standard or classification (or the results 
to be obtained by the use thereof), and all such parties hereby expressly disclaim all warranties of 
originality, accuracy, completeness, merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose with respect 
to any of such standard or classification. Without limiting any of the foregoing, in no event shall 
MSCI, S&P, any of their affiliates or any third party involved in making or compiling the GICS or any 
GICS classifications have any liability for any direct, indirect, special, punitive, consequential or any 
other damages (including lost profits) even if notified of the possibility of such damages. 

The Dow Jones Wilshire Indexes are calculated, distributed and marketed by Dow Jones & 
Company, Inc. pursuant to an agreement between Dow Jones and Wilshire and have been licensed 
for use. All content of the Dow Jones Wilshire Indexes © 2005 Dow Jones & Company, Inc. & 
Wilshire Associates Incorporated.

Standard and Poor's including its subsidiary corporations ("S&P") is a division of the McGraw-Hill 
Companies, Inc. Reproduction of S&P Index Alerts in any form is prohibited except with the prior 
written permission of S&P. Because of the possibility of human or mechanical error by S&P 
sources, S&P or others, S&P does not guarantee the accuracy, adequacy, completeness or 
availability of any information and is not responsible for any errors or omissions or for the results 
obtained from the use of such information. S&P gives not express or implied warranties, including, 
but not limited to, any warranties or merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose or use. In no 
event shall S&P be liable for any indirect, special or consequential damages in connection with 
subscriber's or others' use of S&P Index Alerts.

All MSCI equity characteristic results except for Dividend Yield, Price to Book Value, Price to Cash 
Earnings and Price Earnings Ratio were calculated by The Northern Trust Company.

FTSE ® is a trade mark of London Stock Exchange Plc and The Financial Times Limited and is 
used by FTSE under license. All rights in the FTSE Indices vest in FTSE and/or its licensors. 
Neither FTSE nor its licensors accept any liability for any errors or omissions in the FTSE Indices or 
underlying data.

The Merrill Lynch Indices are used with permission. Copyright 2007, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & 
Smith Incorporated. All rights reserved. The Merrill Lynch Indices may not be copied, used, or 
distributed without Merrill Lynch's prior written approval.

The Citi Index data is provided to you on an "AS IS" basis and you agree that use of the index data 
is at your sole risk. Citi Index makes no representations or warranties, express or implied, to you or 
any other person or entity, including without limitation any warranty of merchantability, originality, 
suitability or fitness for a particular purpose of the index data or any other matter and no warranty is 
given that the index data will conform to any description thereof or be free of omissions, errors, 
interruptions or defects. 4. In no event shall Citi Index be liable to you or any other person or entity 
for any direct, incidental, indirect, special or consequential damages (including, without limitation,

lost profits or revenues, loss of data, loss of use or claims of third parties), arising out of or in any 
manner in connection with your use of (or inability to use) the index data, whether or not you have 
been advised of, or otherwise might have anticipated the possibility of, such damages. Without 
limitation on the foregoing, you acknowledge that the index data may be incomplete or condensed, 
is for information purposes only and is not intended as, and shall not be construed to be, an offer or 
solicitation with respect to the purchase or sale of any security. All opinions and estimates provided 
constitute judgments as of their respective dates and are subject to change without notice. Such 
data, information, opinions and estimates are furnished as part of a general service, without regard 
to your particular circumstances, and Citi Index shall not be liable for any damages in connection 
therewith. Citi Index is not undertaking to manage money or act as a fiduciary with respect to your 
accounts or any of your managed or fiduciary accounts and you acknowledge and agree that the 
index data does not and shall not serve as the primary basis for any investment decisions made with 
respect to such accounts.

iShares® and BlackRock® are registered trademarks of BlackRock, Inc. and its affiliates 
("BlackRock") and are used under license. BlackRock has licensed certain trademarks and trade 
names of BlackRock to The Northern Trust Company. The Northern Trust Company's products and 
services are not sponsored, endorsed, sold, or promoted by BlackRock, and BlackRock makes no 
representations or warranties related to such products or services either to The Northern Trust 
Company or any other person or entity, including but not limited to the advisability of investing in the 
products of The Northern Trust Company. BlackRock has no obligation or liability in connection with 
the operation, marketing, trading or sale of the products or services from The Northern Trust 
Company.

Please note that this report has been prepared using best available data. This report may also 
contain information provided by third parties, derived by third parties or derived from third party data 
and/or data that may have been categorized or otherwise reported based upon client direction - 
Northern Trust assumes no responsibility for the accuracy, timeliness or completeness of any such 
information. If you have questions regarding third party data or direction as it relates to this report, 
please contact your Northern Trust relationship team.

INVESTMENT ADVICE NOTICE:  The data and analysis contained in this report is for informational 
purposes only.  In providing the information contained herein, The Northern Trust Company is not 
undertaking to provide “investment advice” or to give advice in a fiduciary capacity for purposes of 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.  Nothing in this report is  
intended as, or should be understood as, a recommendation to hire, retain, or terminate an 
investment manager or engage in any purchase or sale transaction with  such a manager or any 
fund that it manages.  The Northern Trust Company and/or its affiliates may have business 
relationships with one or more investment managers or funds for included in this report, and may 
receive compensation for providing custody, administration, banking, brokerage, foreign exchange 
or other services to such investment managers or funds. The Northern Trust Company and its 
affiliates shall have no responsibility for the consequences of investment decisions made in reliance 
on information contained in this report.

P
age 132



ADMINISTRATION REPORT

Committee Pensions Committee

Officer Reporting Sian Kunert, Finance
Seby Carvalho, Finance

Papers with this report KPI Report 
Draft Data Improvement Plan

HEADLINES

This report is for information and provides an update on the administration of the London 
Borough of Hillingdon Fund of the LGPS, both in relation to Surrey County Council (SCC) 
and internally at Hillingdon. 

Attached to the report is the latest KPI Report from SCC.

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is recommended that Pensions Committee note this report

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

Surrey Administration Update 

The fund continues to see a good uptake of members who have registered for the Member 
Self Service (MSS) module and the fund will continue to promote the advantages of 
registering for MSS. 

Sign up to my-pension-online is currently 17% uptake

Membership 
Category

Total membership 
numbers

Registered for 
online self service

Active 8,322 2,874
Deferred 11,758 1,212
Pensioners 6,809 499
Total 26,889 4,016
All figures as at 24 September 2019

Resources

Surrey have appointed a new Engagement & Education Lead from July. Her main focus will 
be on communications with all of our stakeholders, whether that be Funds, Employers & 
Members. The aim is to improve the knowledge of all stakeholders and ensure any legislative 
or process changes are highlighted, with appropriate instructions/actions. SCC have 
continued to expand the team to better support the contract. The Lead Pensions Manager 
has now been in place for 9 months, making changes to the delivery of the service and 
ensuring sufficient resources in place.

Page 133

Agenda Item 9



Key Performance Indicators from February to May 2019

From July, KPI’s have been calculated differently with legacy cases being separated from 
current work to show a truer reflection of SCC ability to carry out Hillingdon tasks and show 
current performance of cases arising. Legacy cases are monitored separately as part of the 
data improvement back log work and SCC will provide additional information to update 
performance.

The past quarter with separation of cases in existence before 01/07/2019 there has been a 
significant improvement in KPIs and improvement have also been made in clearing backlog 
cases and data issues.

In June 627 cases were completed, of which 373 (59%) were KPI cases. Of the KPI cases 20 
(5%) were competed outside of target, all of which were started prior to June. SCC received 
one complaint during the month in relation to a delay transferring benefits to a new provider.

As a result of the separation of back log case work the KPI’s have shown significant 
improvement. 1,177 cases were completed in July, or which 227 were KPI cases
There were only three cases completed outside of the KPI times, all of which have been 
completed within statutory timelines. SCC received three complaints in the month, one due to 
communication and two service delivery, of which one case information is outstanding from 
the employer. 

In August 621 cases were completed, of which 268 were KPI cases. Of the KPI cases two 
were completed outside of the KPI target times, but both within statutory deadlines. There 
was one complaint received in the month relating to poor communication through transfer 
process.

Data Improvement Plan and Data Score

The Pensions Regulator requires schemes to monitor data quality at least annually and put in 
place a data improvement plan where necessary. Even schemes with good data can 
experience quick deterioration if controls are not in place.

Public sector schemes are required to submit annually their quality of data score 
distinguishing between 

 common data – basic data items used to identify members, e.g. National Insurance 
number, address, name

 scheme-specific data – all the other data you need to run your scheme and calculate 
benefits, e.g. employment records

Data Score Results

The fund is in its second year of reporting on its data score and has seen a positive 
improvement in the score from 2018 to 2019 in particular on its Scheme Specific Data.  This 
is the result of the effort and investment in data cleanse work over recent months, which has 
been a collaborative effort between administration, Fund and employers. Detailed breakdown 
of the score is still outstanding, to understand where the fund needs to make more 

Page 134



comprehensive improvements in its data quality. Once the detailed report has been received 
the fund will update the data improvement plan with appropriate actions.

2018 2019 Movement
Common Data 79.0% 82.8% +3.8%
Scheme Specific Data 79.9% 93.2% +13.3%

The draft data improvement plan is attached for information and will be reviewed with input 
from SCC during the coming months to further document actions to improve the data quality 
gaps.

Annual Benefit Statements

The 2019 LGPS Annual Benefit Statements were uploaded to the members portal ‘My 
Pension Online’ by 31st August 2019 for active members to view.

The delivery of ABS this year for Active members has seen a success rate of 100% which is 
an excellent return, even more so when taking into consideration this has been achieved in 
parallel to the valuation work throughout the summer. There were 9 cases where the ABS 
was produced using 17/18 data due to outstanding queries with the relevant remployers, 
however the ABS’s in these cases were clearly annotated they were using out of date 
information. A further run of statements covering these 9 cases has been scheduled once the 
information is received.

The deferred numbers are much lower at just under 57%. This is because many records had 
inconclusive confirmation of the members last known address and there were issues with 
regards to the data quality on the other records. Surrey plan to rectify this by doing address 
tracing work. In addition to the above all councillor statements were successfully sent by the 
end of June 2019.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications in the report

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal implications arising from this report.  

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Hillingdon Pensions Administation - Key Performance
Indicators January 2019Activity Measure Impact Target Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Commentary

Scheme members Pensioners, Active & Deferred 22,865 22,953 23,194 23,169 23,118 23,034
New starters set up/welcome letters 51 33 33 176 50 27

ABS sent - Councillors Statutory deadline Due by
31 Aug

Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved
ABS sent - Active Statutory deadline Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved
ABS sent - Deferred Statutory deadline Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved

Volume Score Volume Score Volume Score Volume Score Volume Score Volume Score 

Death notification acknowledged,
recorded and documentation sent

5 working days M 100% 17 82% 16 75% 18 83% 14 93% 20 95% 25 96% 1 case late. Started 19/07/2019, completed
08/08/2019

Payment of death grant made 10 working days H 100% 4 100% 5 80% 10 100% 5 80% 3 100% 10 100%
Retirement notification acknowledged,
recorded and documentation sent

10 working days M 100%

21 95% 44 95% 35 97% 40 100% 61 97% 49 98%

1 case late. Started 29/07/2019, completed
23/08/2019

Payment of lump sum made 10 working days H 100% 33 97% 47 96% 30 87% 18 100% 28 100% 42 100%
Calculation of spouses benefits 10 working days M 100% 5 100% 1 100% 14 86% 11 91% 4 100% 7 100%

Transfers In - Quotes 20 working days L 100% 10 100% 3 100% 10 100% 9 100% 12 100% 21 100%
Transfers In - Payments 20 working days L 100% 0 N/A 0 N/A 10 100% 4 100% 1 100% 7 100%
Transfers Out - Quote 20 working days L 100% 10 70% 11 100% 15 73% 7 71% 18 100% 17 100%
Transfers Out - Payments 20 working days L 100% 10 100% 3 100% 12 100% 10 80% 26 100% 15 100%
Employer estimates provided 10 working days M 100% 7 100% 7 100% 3 100% 22 100% 11 100% 0 N/A
Employee projections provided 10 working days L 100% 9 100% 5 80% 8 88% 2 100% 2 100% 5 100%
Refunds 20 working days L 100% 5 100% 13 100% 13 100% 8 100% 9 100% 34 100%
Deferred benefit notifications 20 working days L 100% 51 75% 26 88% 38 95% 47 72% 32 100% 36 100%

Complaints received- Admin 1 0 0 1 3 1
Complaints received- Regulatory 0 0 0 0 0 0
Compliments received 0 0 0 0 0 0
Queries Handled by Helpdesk 606 511 503 458 556 (FPF = 93%)  662 (FPF = 89%)

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank



London Borough of Hillingdon
Local Government Pension Scheme

Data Improvement Plan

Live Version

Last Update 17/10/2019

Page 139



Background 

1.1 London Borough of Hillingdon is an employer within the London Borough of Hillingdon Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) and is also the Administering Authority for the scheme.

1.2 Data is used by the Pensions, Treasury and Accounts Team with the day to day administration of Hillingdon  LGPS 
scheme delegated to Surrey County Council (SCC) under a Section 101 agreement effective from 1 November 
2016.

1.3 Extracts of pension records and specific reports are shared appropriately between Employers (including Admitted 
and Scheduled bodies), the Hillingdon HR Team, SCC, the funds Actuary Hymans, and the Hillingdon Legal 
Advisor.

1.4 Pension data relating to individuals is shared with the relevant employee and/or their nominated representative as 
necessary, this includes the production and distribution of the Annual Benefit Statements.

1.5 The Pensions Regulator (tPR) regulate the governance and the administration of public sector pensions, the 
objectives of this plan are designed to comply with the current and future tPR standards and requirements.

2 Objectives

2.1     To identify where Hillingdon LGPS pensions data is located, make an assessment of its accuracy, identify any 
issues which impact on the ability to run the scheme effectively and put plans in place to correct data as required.

3  Desired Outcomes

3.1        To improve the data set to deliver:

3.1.1 Improved member service, for example reduced processing times for events such as transfers, the calculation of estimates 
and the completion of Admission Agreements.

3.1.2 Fewer assumptions having to be made with the valuation data.

3.1.3 Improved and verified data used within Annual Benefit Statements for current and deferred members.

3.1.4 Completion of administrative tasks, for example clearing any backlogs in a timely fashion.

3.1.5 Update documented procedures to reduce the risks of errors recurring.

3.1.6 Compliance to GDPR and other relevant data protection legislation and regulation.

3.1.7 Greater confidence that data is accurate when completing statutory returns

4 Scope and prioritisation.

4.1  The data groups in scope for assessment and potentially for improvement work are:

4.1.1 Active member records. 

4.1.2 Deferred member records.

4.1.3 Pensioners records. 

4.2  The data groups that will be given priority are:

4.2.1 Unprocessed leavers (i.e. cases where SCC already have the leavers form).

4.2.2   Unprocessed leavers (i.e. cases where SCC require more information and a leavers form from Hillingdon and or Admitted 
and Scheduled bodies).

4.2.3 Deferred members where the recalculation of benefits is necessary.
 
4.2.4 Workflow 
cases inherited 
from the 
previous 

Page 140



administration provider.

4.2.5 Active member’s records where data cleansing is assessed as being required.

4.2.6 Pensioners records that have been assessment as being impacted by Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) requirements.

4.2.7 Any record identified via the combined Common and Conditional report as required by the tPR.

5 Dependencies

5.1 The completion of the objectives is dependent upon:

5.1.1 The Hillingdon Pension team project managing the actions required to complete the priorities.

5.1.2 Data extracts being made available to the Hillingdon Pension team from SCC using the Altair Pensions Administration 
database.

5.1.3 All Employers (including Admitted and Scheduled bodies) responding positively to data queries sent to them in a timely 
fashion.

5.1.4 SCC verifying (as far as possible) and correcting pension records following the replies from the Employers.

5.1.5 Agreement with Heywoods being reached to supply the combined Common and Conditional report out of Altair.

6 Timeframes and timelines

6.1 It is intended that the current objectives will be completed by 30 October 2020, however this will be a continually 
evolving view of the Hillingdon data.

6.2 Officer to meet with SCC in October / November to progress a project plan for outstanding issues.

6.3 Aon as Governance Advisers to the Hillingdon Fund to review this plan November /December to identify gaps or 
areas of weakness for improvement.

6.4 The Pensions Board review this plan at its next meeting 27 November 2019.

6.5 The Pensions Committee to approve this plan at its next meeting on the 29 January 2020.

6.6 Timelines for the individual actions required to complete the objectives are attached as Appendix 1.  

7 Resourcing

7.1  The completion of the objectives is dependent upon adequate skilled resources being available from:

7.1.1 The Hillingdon Pension Team.

7.1.2 SCC. 

7.1.3 Admitted and Scheduled Bodies.

7.1.4 Actuary (Hymans)

8 Governance and reporting

8.1 This Data Improvement Plan has been proposed and written by the Hillingdon Pension Team with comments 
requested from the following stakeholders:

8.1.1 SCC.

8.1.2 Hillingdon 
Local Pensions 
Board. 

Page 141



8.1.3 Actuary (Hymans).  

8.2 This Data Improvement Plan will be approved by the Pensions Committee and reviewed and monitored regularly by the 
Pensions Board.

8.3 Progress with the individual actions will be monitored by the Hillingdon Pensions Team and SCC at their quarterly Liaison 
meetings.

8.3.1 The SCC team will be responsible for writing the minutes of the liaison meetings and allocating the subsequent actions.

8.3.2 Stakeholders allocated actions will be responsible for the delivery of the agreed action by the agreed target date.

8.4 Progress monitoring reports will be written by the Hillingdon Pension Team and presented to the Pensions Board quarterly 
and the Pensions Committee twice per year.

9 Fraud Controls to note

9.1 Mortality screening 
The Fund carries out monthly mortality screening for all pensioners and last carried out a mortality screen for deferred members in February 
2018. Further mortality screening for deferred members will be carried out as part of the address tracing service in 2019.

9.2 Overseas pensioner death certification
Overseas pensioner death certification is carried out every 3 years. SCCC will carry out the first certification under their contract in November 
2019.

9.3 NFI
The fund carries out an annual National Fraud Initiative review to identify potential fraud cases of benefits paid

Page 142



Appendix 1

Timelines for individual actions required to complete the objectives

No Action Area Activities to resolve Action Lead Support Planned 
completion 
date

% Complete 

1. Unprocessed leavers (i.e. cases 
where SCC already have the leavers 
form).

See project update in Appendix 
4

SCC Hillingdon

2. Unprocessed leavers (i.e. Orbis 
require more information and a 
leavers form from Employer HR).

See project update in Appendix 
4

Hillingdon
SCC

3. Recalculation of existing deferred 
benefits.

SCC Hillingdon

4. Workflow cases inherited from the 
previous provider.

SCC Hillingdon

5. 2019 Valuation critical errors Triennial Valuation project. Data 
cleanse to ensure all critical 
clear prior to update to Hymans. 
Data queries sent to employers 
for resolution prior to valuation 
submission and ABS production 
for March 19

SCC Hillingdon 31 July 
2019

Data as 
at Jan 
19

Data as 
at  April 
19

Data as 
at 16 Jul 
19

Data as 
at 26 Jul 
19

5a. Data Cleansing of active member’s 
records.

1,846 1581  1567 633

5b. Data Cleansing of deferred member’s 
records.

195 194 46 34

5c. Data Cleansing of pensioner 
member’s records.

1,367 764 384 342

5d. Data Cleansing of dependant records. 261 208 161 161

P
age 143



6. Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) 
Reconciliation

GMP reconciliation project 
initiated  June 2018. Project 
update see Appendix 4.

SCC & 
JLT

Hillingdon GMP 
populati
on  
26,263

Matched 
28/06/20
19
21,845

7. Heywood’s combined Common and 
Scheme Specific report

See Appendix 2 for more detail 
on scoring and prioritisation for 

improvement areas.

Data as 
at Nov 

2018

7a. Address tracing Project plan in place to carry 
out member tracing and 

mortality screening on 
approximately 2,275 deferred 

members. 

ITM SCC 31/12/201
9

7,496

7b. Member benefits - Transfer in 
details 1

1,913

7c. Member benefits - Tranches of 
Original deferred benefit

1,461

7d. Members Details – Salary 2,861

7e. CARE Data 2,064

7f. Contracted Out - NI Contributions / 
Earnings History

1,054

7g. Contracted Out - Pre 88 GMP 663

7h. Contracted Out - Post 88 GMP 1,132

P
age 144



Appendix 2

Summary of Common Data Results November 2018 

79.0% of member records do not have a single common data failure.

Data Area Pass 
rate

Cases with 
errors

Focus areas

NI number 95.5% 2,144 Amber
Name 100.0% 0 Green
Sex & DOB 100.0% 2 Green
Date Commenced and NRD 100.0% 1 Green
Status 100.0% 0 Green
Status & Invalid Data View 99.8% 121 Amber
Address 84.4% 7,496 Red
Status & Valid Data View 99.3% 352 Amber

Summary of Scheme Specific Data Results November 2018

79.9% of member records do not have a single scheme-specific data failure.

Data Area Pass 
rate

Cases with 
errors

Focus areas

Member Benefits 86.4%
Divorce details 100.0% 0 Green
Transfer in details 1 28.5% 1,913 Red
Transfer in details 2 84.6% 411 Amber
AVC details 99.7% 4 Amber
Total Original Deferred Benefit 96.5% 245 Amber
Tranches of Original deferred benefit 79.0% 1,461 Red
Total Gross Pension 99.8% 13 Amber
Tranches of Pension 91.9% 469 Amber
Total Gross Dependant Pension 99.4% 6 Amber
Tranches of Dependant Pension 86.4% 129 Amber
Member Details 96.9%
Date of Leaving 99.9% 18 Amber
Date joined scheme 100.0% 1 Green
Employer details 100.0% 1 Green
Salary 87.6% 2,861 Red
Contributions 92.0% 1,997 Amber
Leavers 99.8% 30 Amber
Service 99.8% 56 Amber
CARE Benefits 85.0%
CARE Data 85.0% 2,064 Red
CARE Revaluation 100% 0 Green
HMRC 97.1%
BCE 2 100.0% 1 Green
BCE 5 100.0% 2 Green
BCE 6 96.2% 122 Amber
BCE7 37.5% 5 Amber
BCE8 100.0% 0 Green
LTA Charge Paid 99.9% 4 Amber
AA Charge 93.3% 624 Amber
Contracted Out 91.0%
Date Contracted Out 97.2% 682 Amber
NI Contributions / Earnings History 82.8% 1,054 Red
Pre 88 GMP 80.2% 663 Red
Post 88 GMP 78.9% 1,132 Red

Note

Focus area of Red if % less than 90% and over 500 cases impacted.

Planned projects 

A project has been initiated in October 2019 to commence work in tracing approximately 2,275 deferred members. Appointment 
has been made to ITM to carry out the project with Planned completion date of 31/12/2019.

Page 145



Appendix 3

Status 2 Project details and progress

Backlog Status 2 Number at 
project outset

2439

Progress

Progress 
date

Cases Sent to 
JLT

Cases to be 
processed

Case sent for internal 
query Case queried passed to client

Cases 
Processed 

(Waiting to be 
checked)

Cases checked & 
Completed

07/06/2019 1352 768 n/a n/a 557 27

06/07/2019 1826 292 133 614 307 480

12/07/2019 1940 143 215 606 212 764

19/07/2019 2028 58 119 666 246 939

02/08/2019 2124 20 42 686 122 1254

09/08/2019 2124 1 50 692 35 1346

23/08/2019 2122 1 45 657 3 1250

30/08/2019 2122 0 78 591 2 1290

06/09/2019 2122 3 86 553 23 1318

13/09/2019 2122 4 88 547 22 1323

20/09/2019 2122 4 94 543 7 1329

Page 146



Appendix 4

GMP Project and progress update

GMP Rec 
Population

26,263

Executive Summary

1 Data Gathering commenced. We have 9 resource lined up to complete the gathering as far as possible within the timeframe we have left with HMRC, so will 
concentrate our efforts on the completion of the Membership data gathering that will have the most impact on the overall Fund liability.

2 Initial Query logs have been uploaded
3 HMRC turnaround times are currently 4 months.

Tasks Completed

1 All initial Phase 1 analysis completed
2 Bulk analysis has been completed
4 Data gathering continues and moves cases from one category to another although doesn’t affect totals

Next 
Steps 

1 Continue data gathering on all unresolved cases
2 Data gathering on GMP discrepancies
4 Client Referrals - decisions requiring Client guidance

Next Update

1 28/06/2019

2 All current client referral files have been returned
3 We are continuing to data gather, and are now closer to matching or querying with you remaining records
4 HMRC have returned many responses and we are currently working through them
5 Decisions made at the workshop will close off a number of cases going forward

Date Matched Not on NISPI Not on Admin NISPI Type 5&7's Multiple Service GMP Queries
20/09/2018 12,422 4,286 567 262 2,679  
05/10/2018 14,517 4,286 567 3 2,679  
31/10/2018 13,438 4,286 567 3 2,679 1,089
23/11/2018 16,646 4,286 567 3 2,679 1,089
10/12/2018 16,646 4,286 567 3 2,679 1,089
20/12/2018 16,646 4,286 567 3 2,679 975
10/01/2019 16,646 4,286 567 3 3,070 975
24/01/2019 16,646 4,286 1,141 3 3,070 975
08/02/2019 16,646 4,286 1,141 3 3,070 969
22/02/2019 16,888 4,286 1,141 4 3,070 969
08/03/2019 16,888 4,286 948 4 3,070 969
22/03/2019 16,888 4,286 949 4 2,162 969
05/04/2019 16,969 4,268 848 0 2,162 868
18/04/2019 17,818 3,485 848 0 2,179 828
03/05/2019 17,865 3,485 827 0 2,231 828
17/05/2019 19,664 1,919 500 37 449 842
31/05/2019 20,602 1,024 260 3 238 858
14/06/2019 21,001 1,013 260 3 235 932
28/06/2019 21,845 293 262 3 240 939
31/07/2019 22,310 278 58 3 4 956

Summary position 31/07/2019

Total Population 
26,263. To 
resolve 1,299.

Page 147



True Membership issues - NOA, NON, Multiple, NISPI Type 5/7 – 343 – 1.31% outstanding

True GMP Discrepancies – 956 - 3.64% outstanding

Page 148



Pension Fund Risk Register
Committee Pension Committee

Officer Reporting Sian Kunert, Finance

Papers with this report Pension Fund Risk Register

HEADLINES

The purpose of this report is to identify to the Pension Committee the main risk's to the 
Pension Fund and to enable them to monitor and review going forward (see Appendix). 
There are no risked rated as Red.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Pensions Committee:

1. Consider the Risk Register in terms of the approach, the specific risks 
identified and the measures being taken to mitigate those current risks.  

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

The specific risk matrix for the Pension Fund allows better classification of the risks 
than would be possible through the Council's standard risk matrix.  The significance of 
risks is measured by interaction of the likelihood of occurrence (likelihood) and by the 
potential damage that might be caused by an occurrence (impact). The risks are also 
RAG rated to identify level.

There are currently 11 risks being reported upon. Whilst there are many more risks 
which could be identified for the Fund, those identified are the most significant and 
those which are actively managed.

Each risk has been explained, along with details of the actions in place to mitigate that 
risk.  The progress comment column provides the latest update in respect of the impact 
of those mitigating actions. The Direction of Travel (DOT) has also been included.   

There have been no changes to the status of existing risks from those reported in July. 

One new risk has been added to the register in the quarter relating to the pension fund 
pool - LCIV. The risk is around the management of the Hillingdon Funds assets and 
ability to provide asset sub funds to meet the needs of the fund. Concern over staff 
turnover have raised this to the risk register as well as the withdrawal of a potential sub 
fund in the quarter. 

Page 149

Agenda Item 10



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The financial implications are contained within the body of the report

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The legal implications are mentioned within the report.

Page 150



 

1

Pension Fund Risk Register 2019/20

Description Actions in Place Progress Comment Risk Category /
Rating /
DOT

Lead
Officer  /
Cabinet
Member

PEN 01 - Fund assets fail to deliver
returns in line with the anticipated returns
underpinning valuation of liabilities over
the long-term

1. Anticipate long-term return on a relatively
prudent basis to reduce risk of failing to meet
return expectations. Funding Strategy outlines
key assumptions that must be achieved in
agreeing rates with employers for a signifncant
chance of successfully meeting the funding
target.
2. Analyse progress at three yearly valuations
for all employers.
3. Undertake Inter-valuation monitoring.

With the assistance of  Hymans Quarterly funding
report the position is kept under regular review and
Pension Committee is informed of the impact of
prevailing market conditions on the funding level

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Medium
Impact = Large
Rating = D2
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

PEN 02 - Inappropriate long-term
investment strategy

1. Set Pension Fund specific strategic asset
allocation benchmark after taking advice from
investment advisers, balancing risk and reward,
based on historical data.
2. Keep risk and expected reward from strategic
asset allocation under review.
3. Review asset allocation formally on an
annual basis.
4. Asset allocation reported quarterly to
committee
5. Officer and Advisers actively monitors this
risk.

A separate Officer and Advisor working group regularly
monitors the investment strategy and  develops
proposals for change / adjustment for Pension
Committee consideration.
The impact of each decision is carefully tracked
against the risk budget for the Fund to ensure that long-
term returns are being achieved and are kept in line
with liabilities.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Low
Impact = Large
Rating = E2
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

PEN 03 - Active investment manager
under-performance relative to benchmark

1. The structure includes active and passive
mandates and several managers are employed
to diversify the risk of underperformance by any
single manager.
2. Short term investment monitoring provides
alerts on significant changes to key personnel
or changes of process at the manager.
3. Regular monitoring measures performance in
absolute terms and relative to the manager’s
index benchmark, supplemented with an
analysis of absolute returns against those
underpinning the valuation.
4. Investment managers would be changed
following persistent or severe under-
performance.

The Fund is widely diversified, limiting the impact of
any single manager on the Fund.
Active monitoring of each manager is undertaken with
Advisors and Officers meeting managers on a
quarterly basis and communicating regularly.

The LCIV as pool is increasingly managing more
assets on the funds behalf as per regulation, however
transaparency and reporting is less controled by the
fund. Improvements in communciation from the pool
have been requested over performance transparency
of the managers to inform swift action.

Comments on whether mandates should be
maintained or reviewed are included quarterly and
where needed specific performance issues will be
discussed and reviewed.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Low
Impact = Small
Rating = E4
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

P
age 151



 

2

PEN 04 - Pay and price inflation
significantly more than anticipated
impacting the ability for employers to
afford contributions

1. The focus of the actuarial valuation process
is on real returns on assets, net of price and
pay increases. The actuarial basis examines
disparity between the inflation linking which
applies to benefits of Deferred and Pensioner
members as well as the escalation of
pensionable payroll costs which only applies to
active members, and on which employer and
employee contributions are based.
2. Inter-valuation monitoring gives early warning
and investment in index-linked bonds also helps
to mitigate this risk.
3. Employers pay for their own salary awards
and are reminded of the geared effect on
pension liabilities of any bias in pensionable pay
rises towards longer-serving employees.
4. Covenant's are in place with security of a
guarantee or bond for admission agreements.

The impact of pay and price inflation is monitored as
part of the Council's MTFF processes and any
potential impact on pension fund contributions is kept
under review and factored into the Council's overall
position.

The impact of pay inflation is diminishing since the
introduction of the CARE benefits in 2014 as there is
less linkage to final salary in future liabilities.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Low
Impact = Medium
Rating = E3
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

PEN 05 - Inflation significantly more than
anticipated

1. Inter-valuation monitoring gives early
warning.
2. Investment in index-linked bonds helps to
mitigate this risk.
3. The fund has increased its inflation linkage
by allocating 5% to Inflation linked long lease
property in 2018.
4. Contribution rate setting as part of the
triennial valuation process considers 5000
senarios in achieving a fully funded position

The impact of inflation is reviewed through all strategic
investment decision making.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Medium
Impact = Large
Rating = D2
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

PEN 06 - Pensioners living longer. 1. Mortality assumptions are set with some
allowance for future increases in life
expectancy. Sensitivity analysis in triennial
valuation helps employers understand the
impact of changes in life expectancy.
2. Club Vita monitoring provides fund specific
data for the valuation, enabling better
forecasting.

The Fund is part of Club Vita, a subsidiary of the Fund
Actuary, which monitors mortality data and feeds
directly into the valuation.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Low
Impact = Small
Rating = E4
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

PEN 07 - Poor Performance of Outsourced
Administrator leading to poor quality
information supplied to both members
and the Fund Actuary

1. Quarterly review meetings held
2. Weekly update calls with officers
3. Quarterly KPI reports are provided to track
and monitor performance
4. Critical errors cleared prior to transfer of
valutaion data to actuary
5. Data Improvement plan in place to impreove
the quality of mmber data

New cases are being dealt with and improvements in
processes within the contract. There are signs of
improvement in the quality of data inherited by SCC
from Capita.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Low
Impact = Large
Rating = E2
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

Description Actions in Place Progress Comment Risk Category /
Rating /
DOT

Lead
Officer  /
Cabinet
Member

P
age 152



 

3

PEN 08 - Failure to invest in appropriate
investment vehicles as a result of MiFID II
regulations in place from 3 January 2018

1. Applications have been made to sustain
“Professional Status” of the pension fund to
enable continuation of the existing investment
strategy.
2. All current application's have successfully
been resolved confirming professional status

This is a risk identified as a result of regulatory
changes and is continually assessed. The fund is
required to show an appropriate level of knowledge
and skills for investment decision markers.
Changes in circumstances including committee
membership or change in officers must be reported
and could effect the ongoing investment relationship.

Strategic risk
Likelihood =Very Low
Impact = Large
Rating = F2
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

PEN 09 - Cyber Security - Pension
schemes hold large amounts of personal
data and assets which can make them a
target for fraudsters and criminals

1. Council wide policies and processes in place
around:
acceptable use of devices, email and internet
use of passwords and other authentication
home and mobile working
data access, protection (including encryption),
use and transmission of data
2. Risk is on the Corporate risk register with risk
mitigation in place.
3.All member and transactional data flowing
from SCC and Hillingdon is sent via encryption
software
4.Data between the fund, SCC and Hymans is
distributed via upload to an encrypted portal
5. Systems at Hillingdon and SCC are protected
against
viruses and other system threats
6. SCC are accredited to ISO27001:2013 and
Cyber Essentials Plus accreditation. SCC are
also PSN compliant.

This risk has been recognised in response to
recommendations by the Pensions Regulator and work
carried out by Pensions Board

Certificates on SCC accreditation received

SCC have an incident response plan which is required
to develop mitigation of this risk. A copy will be sent to
the fund.

Data Mapping has been carrie dout to understand the
data transfers and risks in this area including potential
for treat through other employers.

As a result of work with the Pensions Board in gaining
assurance in this area the fund will create a policy to
ensure a sufficient action plan in place in teh case of a
breach within the fund.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Medium
Impact = Large
Rating = D2
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

Description Actions in Place Progress Comment Risk Category /
Rating /
DOT

Lead
Officer  /
Cabinet
Member

P
age 153



 

4

PEN 10 - Climate Change - Risk of
financial lose through Climate change
impacts

1. The fund have an ESG policy in place as part of
the ISS.
2. Active equities within fossil fuel sector have
been assessed in relation to the Transition
pathway analysis tool to identify those companies
transitioning to a lower carbon world.
3. Manger selections take into account ESG policy
4. Mangers are expected to be signed up to the
stewardship Code
5. Managers are expected to have signed up to
the UN Principles for Responsible Investment (UK
PRI)
6. ESG Issues are discussed with managers at
review meetings

The investment strategy will be updated with a
statement on climate change risk on next revision.

The fund biggest risk exposure to poorly managed
companies in respect of carbon emissions will be
through the passive allocation. Tilts on this allocation
will be reviewed and considered to reduce this risk.

Pensions Committee are currently in the process of
creating a stand alone RI policy which will support
principles and implimentation.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Low
Impact = Large
Rating = E2
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

PEN 11 - Portfolio liquidity - risk of failure
to liquidate assets or meet drawdown
calls

1. The fund has an active daily cash management
process in place to ensure there is sufficient cash
available to meet all beneficiary payments.
2. Cash management includes investing large
amounts of surplus cash to balance the
investment portfolio or hold in liquid asset classes
in anticipation of cash calls
3. Officers liaise with managers where
commitments have been made to keep track of
predicted drawdown timescales
4. The fund is significantly diversified in different
asset classes and asset managers to ensure if
there is a stop on any one holding then the
portfolio will continue to operate as normal.

There is a detailed cash management process in place
and have been developed over the past 2 years. This
is signed off daily to ensure liquidity. The fund
continues to invest in illiquid asset classes  to benefit
from illiquidity premium, however this is a relatively
small portion of the portfolio and there are other liquid
asset classes easily accessible. All trade times are
listed in the cash management policy.

The fund is still boarderline cashflow positive /
breakeven on member dealings and should remain so
in 2019/20 with increased contribution rate for the
majoriity of employers in year and increased active
members from autoenrolment in year.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Low
Impact = Medium
Rating = E3
(Static)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

PEN 12 - Failure of the pool in mangement
of funds / access to funds

1. Quarterly review meetings held with the pool
2.Regular reporting out of the pool informing the
fund of manager performance
3. Swift communications received from the pool
with staff turnover and concerns the fund may
need to be aware.
4. Independent adviser carried out a review of
governance for manager selction and manager
monitoring to add assurance and discussion
points with the pool
5. Active Shareholder representation at General
meeting and AGM.
6. Pool to attend Committee meetings where
required, to provide assurance over progress and
activity.

Concerns over staff turnover in senior posts and
withdrawal of an iminent fund have raised the level of
this risk to enter the register.

Work will need to be carried out with the pool to
address governace concerns arrising from
Independent Adviser review.

Keen interest in recuitment to vacant positions and
support given to those staff still in post while
recuitment takes place to ensure retention.

Strategic risk
Likelihood = Low
Impact = Medium
Rating = D2
(New)

Sian Kunert /
Cllr M
Goddard

Description Actions in Place Progress Comment Risk Category /
Rating /
DOT

Lead
Officer  /
Cabinet
Member

P
age 154



S
co

re

S
co

re

S
co

re

S
co

re

Attributes: Risk rating Risk rating Risk rating Risk rating

Greater than 90% This week

L
I
K
E
L
I
H
O
O
D

Very High (A) A4 6 A3 12 A2 18 A1 24

70% to 90% Next week /
this month High (B) B4 5 B3 10 B2 15 B1 20

50% to 70% This year Significant (C) C4 2 C3 4 C2 6 C1 8

30% to 50% Next year Medium (D) D4 1 D3 2 D2 3 D1 4

10% to 30% Next year to
five years Low (E) E4 0 E3 0 E2 0 E1 0

Less than 10% Next ten
years Very Low  (F) F4 0 F3 0 F2 0 F1 0

Small (4) Medium (3) Large (2) Very Large (1)

Attributes: IMPACT

THREATS:
Financial up to £500k Between £500k and

£10m
Between £10m and

£50m Over £50m

Reputation Minor complaint, no
media interest

One off local media
interest

Adverse national
media interest or
sustained local

interest

Ministerial
intervention, public

inquiry, remembered
for years

P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



WORK PROGRAMME 2019/2020                                                

Committee Pensions Committee

Officer Reporting Sian Kunert, Finance

Papers with report None

HEADLINES

This report is to enable the Pension Committee to review planned meeting dates and 
forward plans. 

RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Committee:

1. Confirms the dates for Pensions Committee meetings; and 
2. Makes suggestions for future agenda items, working practices and / or 

reviews. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Meeting Date Item
30 October 2019  Presentation and overview from LCIV

 Pension Fund Annual Report 2018/19
 Valuation update and Draft Funding 

Strategy Statement
 Investment update and manager review 
 Administration Report
 Risk Register
 ESG and Voting Engagement

29 January 2020  Training - Pension Fund Governance 
including SAB

 Investment update and manager review
 Investment Strategy Statement update
 Administration Report
 Annual report from Pensions Board to 

Pensions Committee
 Revised Administration Strategy
 Risk Register
 Responsible Investment Policy

Page 157

Agenda Item 11



25 March 2020  Training - Public sector procurement, 
specifically procurement within the 
LGPS

 Investment Strategy Statement update
 Valuation report and results and Final 

Funding Strategy Statement
 Administration Report
 Risk Register

28 July 2020  Training TBC
 Audit of Accounts and Annual Report 
 Investment update and manager review
 Administration Report
 Communication Policy Revised
 Risk Register
 Appointment of Actuarial Services 

Contract

TBC October 2020  Training TBC
 Pension Fund Annual Report 2019/20
 Investment update and manager review 
 Administration Report
 Risk Register
 ESG and Voting Engagement

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications in the report

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal implications in the report

Page 158



Document is Restricted

Page 159

Agenda Item 12STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 161

STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 179

STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 219

Agenda Item 13STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 223

STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 235

STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 261

STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 277

STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 299

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 329

STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 461

STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting dated 17 July 2019
	6 2019 Actuarial Valuation and Funding Strategy Statement
	7 Pension Fund Annual Report
	3a. Draft Annual Report 2019 ex-policies

	8 Investment Strategy and Fund Manager Performance Part I
	4a. NT Report 2q19.unlocked
	London Borough of Hillingdon
	Client Commentary
	Client Commentary (cntd)
	Executive Summary
	Investment Hierarchy
	Investment Hierarchy(2)
	Market Value Summary - Three Months
	Historical Performance
	Benchmark Composition

	Appendix
	Disclaimer(s)



	9 Administration Report
	5a. KPI Report March - August 2019
	5b. Draft Data Improvement Plan September 2019

	10 Risk Register Report
	6a. Pension Fund Risk Register
	6b. Pension Fund Risk Register

	11 Draft Work Programme
	12 2019 Actuarial Valuation and Funding Strategy Statement Part II
	8a. 2019 Valuation Initial Results
	8b. 2019 DRAFT Funding Strategy Statement

	13 Investment Strategy and Fund Manager Performance Part II
	9a. 2019 Q2 Investment Report
	9b. hillingdon-lciv-quarterly-investment-report-q2-2019-1699
	9c. LBHPF_LCIV Infrastucture Update
	9d.Impact_Report_Q2_19 - LGIM
	9e. UBS Q2 19 Voting & Engagement Report
	9f. Epoch_Proxy Voting_LCIV account
	9g. RARF Q2 2019 Voting Report




